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I ~ i n g  o f  h i s  ~ ~ u a l i t i e s  every  where ,  
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I:I s?:>earznce he is l i k e  J o s n f ,  i:i chr?ac+ ,e r  a n  e:igel,  
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God h a s  becn  vfl.7 l i b ~ l r a l  t o  him, 

In  bestol.vi_rg u ? o n  him t h e  f l o w e r s  o f  l:i.ionl?dge 

arc1 t h e  7erfurne of t s l e u t s .  









1 had never much ca red  ?or a s s o c l  a t l n g  w i t h  

c h i l d r e n  of my own age and a s  soon a s  I was seven  was 

al lowed t o  a t t e n d  mee t ings  a r e s lde t l  over  by :ny f a t h e r  

which l e d  him t o  r ega rd  me w i t h  s p e c i a l  a f f e c t i o n  and 

b r , ~ u g h t  me, a t  an e a r l y  age ,  i n t o  c o n t a c t  w i  t h  peop le  

who w e r e  w l  s e  and l ea rned .  Fond o r  rl d l n g  and shoo t l n g  

I went o u t  r l a i ly  on rrly donkey wi th  a  bow ane a r row and 

J u s t  b e f o r e  my e i g t h  b i r t h d a y  was p r e s e n t e d  by  my f a t h e r  

w i  t h  a  matchlock. I n  those  days  p e b b l e s  were used 

i n s t e a d  of b u l l e t s  and i n  a v s ry  s h o r t  t lme I became an 

e x p e r t  sho t .  

m e n  I was n in2  my f a t h e r  l e t  me s e l e c t  s pony 

fr3m some he had c s p t u r e d  i n  a  r a i d  on Ladakh and I 

chose one t h a t  I n a ~ e d  "Bacha-i-BadargalH a f t e r  Badarga l  

the  ho r se  my f a t h e r  rode.  Bu t a l a s ,  thou gh I t was a s  

b i g  a s  a Kashmlri pony, i t  was s o  l a z y  t h a t  l t would n o t  

t r o t ,  s o  I sought  counse l  from Ghulam Naqshband who 

recommended a  good b e a t i n g  each  morning, a p r e s c r l p t l o n  

t h a t  soon remedied m a t t e r s .  

T h i s  o ld  man was a  n a t i v e  o f  Badakshan. F ree  

t o  come and go a s  he p l e a s e d ,  he  had r e s i d e d  i n  Hunza 

f o r  many y e a r s  under  t he  pa t ronage  of  t he  r u l l n g  f a m i l y  

f o r  whorn he had a  g r e a t  a f f e c t i o n ;  o c c a s i o n a l l y  he would 

go on a  v i s i t  t o  h l s  own coun t ry  b u t  always he r e t u r n e d .  

An e x p e r t  i n  P e r s i a n  he devoted much time t o  t each ing  

me t h a t  language and b y  t he  time I was t e n  I could speak 



I t  f l u e n t l y .  

~t t h a t  t ime (1878) Colone l  ~i d d u l f  vi s j  ted 

G i l d  t, My f a t h e r  s e n t  Faei  1 aw Beko a s  emi s s a r i e s  

to  him and t h e y  r e t u r n e d  wl t h  a l e t t e r  from the  Colonel  

who wro te  t h a t  he was v e r y  e a g e r  to v l s l  t Hunza I n  sp i  t e  

of the gloomy p r o g n o s t l  c a t i o n s  o f  the  G i lg i  t l  s who p re -  

d i c t e d  d i s a s t e r  shou ld  such a v i s i t  b e  made. On r e c e i p t  

o f  t h i  s l e t t e r  my f a t h e r  s e n t  F a z a l  agal  n  t o  G i l g i  t w i  t h  

an  i n v i t a t l o n  f o r  Colonel  B i d d u l f ,  b u t  he ,  a f t e r  consu l -  

t a t i o n  w i t h  t h e  Local  S t a t e  O f l i c e r s ,  r e p l i e d  t h a t  f o r  

fear of  t r e a c h e r y  b e  c o u l d  no t  go u n l e s s  one o f  t h e  1i;iir9s 

s o n s  was s e n t  w i t h  tb-e i n v i t a t i o n .  My f a t h e r ,  therefore, 

s~immonsd me and askeC me i f  I were w i l l i n g  t o  go t o  

GI l g i  t w i t h  a l e t t e r  f o r  Colonel  l3i d d u l f ,  a propos l  t i  on 

t o  which I a t  once agreed .  

AS i t was summer I had t o  go by a u d o l a s  where 

the  ri v e r  was spanned below t h e  f o r t  b y  a r o 2 e  briclge 

o v e r  which I was c a r r i e d  b y  Abdul of Al iabad.  I w a s  met 

on t h e  f a r  bank b y  a  Havi ldar  and t e n  sepoys  of '  the 

Xashmir S t a t e  Fo rces  s e n t  *om t h e  small  g a r r l  son a t  

C h a l t ,  whi ch ,  wi t h o u t  the knowledge o f  S u l t a n o ,  Wazl r 

of  Chaprot  had been  s e c r e t l y  occupied two y e a r s  b e f o r e .  

H a l t l n g  t h e r e  f o r  the  n i g h t  I was g l  ven " r a s a d H  from the 

S t a t e  and proceeded t o  Nornal on the  f o l l o w i n g  day where 

t he  Lambardar, Say1 d  Nurtoza  Shah, and the  l o c a l  zemi ndar 

came o u t  t o  welcome me. AS the moon was f u l l  I l e f t  



Nomal t h a t  evening and s p e n t  t h e  n i @ t  a t  Chalbesh. O f f  

aga in  a t  daybreak,  I reached  the GI l g l  t rope b r l  dge a t  

about  b r e a k f a s t  t i  me and was rece ived  on tFe rar bank 

b y  a Subedar and twenty sepoys who conducted me to La la  

Ram Xishen, a t  t h a t  time Va7, l r - l -~f lazarat  I n  G i l g l t .  

Next morning I was taken f rom my camp a t  Kasim- 

bwgi Hat t o  s e e  Colonel Uiddulf  i n  the Agency Garden 

which was t h e n  b e i n g  l a i d  o u t .  Turf was be ing  b rough t  

from J u t i a l  and t r e e s  were b e i n g  p l a n t e d ,  w h i l e  the 

Sappers and k i n e r s  were bui  l d i  ng the  house,  the  veranda 

of wki ch is  s ti 11 s t a r d  1 ng. Colonel  Dl dclulf was ve ry  

p l e a s a n t  t o  me a d  while  I was t h e r e  a gramaphone was 

played which was a f  termards  p re sen ted  t o  Hajah Alldad of 

Gi lgl  t whose fami ly  may have I t  s t l l l .  

La la  Ram K i  shen I nvi t ed  me t o  hl s house the 

f o l l o w i n g  morning and t h e r e  I met General  Foshyara ,  

Sa rda r  Sarnad Khan and 'vTazir Ghularn Pa ider .  The General  

had grown v e r y  o l e  so  had Sardar  Samad Khan whom they 

u s e d  t o  c a l l  "Sandes. a 

Shazada Bassan,  son o f  the  h ? i r  of Badaks'ban, 

was i n  t i i l g i  t then  havl ng f l e d  t h e r e  v i  a Yasin owl ng to 

t h e  tyranny o f  lrir Alam. 771 t h  him were Wazir Moh'd 

Karim, I s h a q  Ab'tali and Moh'd biunlr son  o f  Vloh'd Zamir. 

The i r  camp was i n  the  Uakshi Bagh and t h e y  a l l  had 

K h a t l i  p o n l e s  w i t h  them, one of which - a grey - they 

p r e s e n t e d  t o  Colonel d i d d u l f  who a f t e rwards  gave I t  t o  



me. w i  t h  Colonel  B i  ddul f  s permi s s i  on I vl s i  t ed  the 

Shazada d a i l y  and was e n t e r t a i n e d  by him. A s  our 

f a m i l l  e s  were connected he was v e r y  p o l i  t e  t o  me and 

seemed qu i t e  hap ?y i n  GI l g l  t a s  he had wi t h  h im n lne  

ponies ,  a  number of  Khargahs and a f a i r l y  l a r g e  f o r t u n e .  

Af te r  a  month s p e n t  t h u s  i n  Gi lg i  t I t a o k  l eave  

of Colonel d i d d u l f  who p r e s e n t e d  me w i t h  a sword, a 

s i l v e r  mug and the  grey  Kha t l i  pony; Vak i l s  Fazal and 

Zurparas  t and the twenty men tha t were wl t h  me were 

given p r e s e n t s  acco rd ing  t o  t h e i r  r a n k  and,  f o r  my 

f a t h e r ,  a  l ook i  11g g l a s s  a d  a  P e r s i  an Dl c t i  onary - 
Ghayasul loghat  - the f l r s t  book o r  i t ' s  kind i n  Hunza, 

were e n t r u s t e d  t o  my c a r e .  Pron! K a s b ~ l r  S t a t e  I rece ived  
-zt 

a  cash p r e s e n t  of f i v e  hundred C h i l k i e s  ( a b o u t  Rs.250/-), 

some Xhinrbab p i e c e s  snd shawls ,  the whole va lue  amounting 

to is. 1000/- , and my f o l l o w e r s  were a1 so g iven  p r e s e n t s .  

I then r e t u r n e d  s a f e l y  home - the  f i r s t  son  of  a E i r  o f  

Hunza eve r  t o  e n t e r  G i l g i t .  

I t o l d  my f a t h e r  tha t ,  on s a y i n g  Goodbye, Colonel  

b i d d u l f  haa expressed a  wish t o  v l s i  t h im and s e e  Hunza 

t o  whjch I had r e p l l e d  t h a t  t h e  ch i e f  o b j e c t  o f  my v i s i t  

t o  ~ i l g i  t was t o  i n v l t e  him. I a l s o  expla ined  t h a t  

uzar  Yhan o f  i raglr  anc! a1 1 the Gi lg i  t i  s Pad warned him 

a g a i n s t  i t ,  t e l l i n g  him t P a t  ~ l s f o r t u n e  would ove r t ake  

him !f he went and how, when Colonel  Uiddul f  haC asked 

me I f  I would be w i l l i n g  t o  t ake  the responsibility ard 

be  a  hostage f o r  him, I had imrnedlately s a l d  "yes."  



Two y e a r s  l a t e r ,  when the  Sappers  a d  Kinera  had 

widened t h e  road a t  Barurnchar, Colonel  B lddu l f  pa id  

Hunza a  v i s i t .  He t r a v e l l e d  by dudo la s  o v e r  the  ~ o u n t -  

a i n s  to  hayun, thence t o  ljinni where S a f d a r  A l l ,  my 

e l d e s t  b r o t h e r  had gone t o  r e c e i v e  him, and from t h e r e  

to  Hassanabad where I and my f a t h e r  met him. A f t e r  

v i s i t i n g  1 3 a l t i t  and p r e s e n t l n g  my f a t h e r  wi th  a  p l s t o l  

he had b r ~ u g h t  n i  t h  him, Colonel  B i  ddulf  r e t u r n e d  t o  

G i l g i t .  on h i s  a r r i v a l  i n  Hunza a s a l u t e  of e i g h t  guns 

was f i r e d  from t h e  cannon t h a t  Is a t  p r e s e n t  i n  t h e  

garden of t h e  Agency House G i  l g l  t. 

The manufacture of  t h i s  gun caused a  g r o a t  d e a l  

of t r o u b l e .  Adina, a  n a t i v e  of  B~tdakshan,  w a s  gun maker 

t o  t h e  Af'ghan Government i n  the  time of ilmir Sher Ali of 
p 2 . .  

Kabul, an& hh%i A 1  of t ihulkin ,  L;ir Alimardan aml F a t t e h  

Ali Shah were s e n t  to dadakshan t o  t r y  and pursuade him to 

cone i n t o  Hunza. They succeaded I n  b r i n g i n g  him and h i s  

f a m i l y ,  who were lodgeti i n  the  Shumal Bagh, where S.15. 

Ghazan Khan now h a s  h i s  h3use. I m e d l  a t e l y  on a r r i v a l  he 

s e t  t o  work and made a  c l a y  c a s t  and whi le  he was making 

i t  the  U i r  c o l l e c t e d  one copper p o t  from eadh h o l d i n g  and 

c o n t r i b u t e d  two t h i r d s  of  h i  s own cop2er  u t e n s i l s  d 1 of 

which were r e l t e d  down and goured I n t o  t h e  mould. B u t ,  

a l a s ,  t he  c a s t  was too b i  g f o r  t h e  amount 3f metal  provid-  

ed  and i t  was a l s o  found t h a t  the  Hunza c l a y  was o f  a 

d i f f e r e n t  q u a l i t y  from tha t  of Badakshan and the  gun was 



n o t  c a s t  c l e a n .  A l l  Gauhar ,  w i t h  two I r o n s r n l t h s ,  was 

a c c o r d i n g l y  s e n t  t o  u a d a k s h a n  whence he r e  t u r n e d  w i  t h  

a  puny l o a d  o f  f ladakshani  c l a y  and a n o t h e r  gun maker ,  

J a g r e z  b y  name, who was an e x p e r t  i n  making c a s t s  and 

wark ing  m o l t e n  m e t a l .  The o r 1  g i n a l  gun was me1 t s d  down, 

more co2per ,  from k e t t l e s ,  c u p s ,  e t c : ,  c o l l e c t e d  *om 

c;hu,jal to 1 ayun ,  was added and the  wbole poured  i n t o  t h e  

c a s t  ~f l radakshani  c l a y ,  , f o r t y  men working d a i  l y  on  t h e  

p r o c e s s .  A f t e r  two d a y s  the  rnmld was 9 r o k e n  ard the gun 

was round to b e  one and a  . h a l f  ' b a l i  s h t '  (Hand s p a n )  s h o r t .  

The gun rnaker was, however ,  undi srnay2d ~ n i !  pa t cbed  *e 

l e n g t h  found ahor  t ,  whi c h  pa t z h  c a n  s t i  11 De s e e n .  F o r  a  

wseK t h e  gun was b o r e d  anc? p o l i s h e d  l n s i  d e  whi l e  Adina 

and 3 a g r e z  c a s t  a  small  k o h i s t a n i  gun. 130th g n s  were 

p u t  i n  c h a r g e  ~f LIoh'd Tura  . j eg  and t h e  s e c r e t  9f t h e i r  

m a n u r a c t u r e  :izl>t rrom I;aglr .  

A$ 3ungdass  the Kohi s t a n i  gun was fS re(!. f o r  the 

f i r s t  t ime anc! i n c o n t i n e n t l y  exg lnded .  I ' o r t u n a t s l y  no  

on2 w a s  h u r t  ; t l tho~:gh tbe p i  s c e s  r l e w  hi  %@-I anC far ane 

a  number 9 men ane h o ~ s e s  were p r e s e n t .  

Adina and ;>agrez arlr! W e i r  f m i l l e s  w?re .:lven 

r e w a r d s  to t h e  v a l u e  :I ? a t h s ~ u s a n d .  r u p e s s  ; ~ n f ?  allown,d t o  

r? t u r n  hone. 

kt t h a t  t i  me - soon a f t e r  the  3ri t i  sh had e v a c u a t -  

"U f a b u l  - A m I r  Abdur Aahman, who was l e a l i n g  a v e r y  

p r 2 c a r l o u s  e x i s t a n c s  a t  Kokanc! i n  l i u s s i a n  t e r r i t o r y ,  came 







4 LC, ,, , 
o v e r  t o  m d a k s h a n  snC ssked n a b a  Jan, Governor o r  t h a t  

c o u n t r y  and iJommanc!er i n  Chi ef  of S h e r  A l l  S h a h ' s  army, 

t o  h e l p  him a g a i n s t  Yul t a n  IvAurad I!han, r u l s r  o f  i!adghan./ 
7:. I. , ,, ., 

Some 3f h i s  c o u n c e l l o r s  advise(! 3aba  J a n  t o  k i l l  hlrn 

o u t r i g h t ,  t e l l i n g  hirr: t h a t  dl d  h e  n o t  do so Abdur 3 a h a n  

would l a y  c l a i m  t o  t h e  t h r o n e  a t  Kabul and a f t e r w a r d s  

annex dadakshan ,  b u t ,  p a r a  y owi ng t o  the  l r r e  l a  t l  onshl  p 
k h  

arid p a r t l y  o u t  o f  f r i e n d s h i p ,  3 a b a  Jan  a g r e e d  t o  he12 

hjm and accorngani ed b y  Abdur liahman ,marched hl s m y  on 

nadghan which, w l t h  t h e  h e l p  of  f o r c e s  from Kabul t P a t  

j o i n e d  i n  wi t h  him, succeerleil l a  overthrowflrlg Sult;!n Kurad 

Abdur RaPxran, ho:vever, n o u r l s k e d  a  s e c r e t  grudge 
ua '1. 

a g a i n s t  daba  J m  because  the l a t t e r  had n i  ck-naned him 

" s h e e p N  and had shown hlm s c a n t  c o u r t e s y  a t  the Badakshan 

D u r b a r s ;  s o  one nl&- t he took hirn p r i s o n e r  w h i l e  he was 

d r u n k  and appol  ntec! Y i r  Blam i n  h i s  p l a c e .  I m p l a c a b l e ,  

b r u t a l ,  u n j u s t  t h e  l a t t e r  soon w m u g h t  havoc i n  t h e  s t a t e  

and f o r c e d  many rnen to f l e e .  Soon a f t e r  h i s  a c c e s s l o n  h e  

wrote  to my f a t h e r  a s k i n g  him to r e t u r n  h i  s b r o  th.er 

b i r  Hassan,  whom I had met  i n  G i l g i  t ,  b u t  b y  t h e n  he had 

gone t o  Kashmlr to b e  t r e a t e d  f o r  e p i l e y s y  from which 

d i s e a s e  he d i e d  a n d  hi s embalmed body was a f t e r w a d s  s e n t  

b a c k  t o  a a d a k s h a n  v i a  Hunza. 

Very f r l  e n d l y  r e l a  t l  ons  t h e n  ex1 s t e d  between 

t h a t  c o u n t r y  an! :-lunza ane a l l  these happen ings  were 

r e l a t e d  t o  my f a t h e r  I n  f r o n t  o f  me b y  A11 Gauhar - a Hunza 



k .: L ' ~  

man - who was a yarrnanerlt V a k i l  a t  t h e  Cour t  of Baba Jan. 

I n  the  year  l E 8 O  Pehlwan,  i i u l e r  o f  Yas in ,  made 

o v e r t u r e s  t~ my ?a. ther a s k i n g  him i f  he would p r o v i d e  a 

w l f e  f o r  h i s  son Shah Abdur 3tihman Khan, the p r e s e n t  

Governor of  Yasin. ' m i l e  messages  were s t i l l  p a s s i n g  

through Humayan Beg of I!unza an6 Kehrban of' Yasi n  a.nd 

be ro re  ths b e t r o t h a l  had t aken  p l a c e ,  Pehlwan dec jded  t o  

march a g a i n s t  G i l g i  t i a n d  a s k e d  my f a t h e r ' s  h e l p  I n  t h e  

e n t ( ? r p r i s e .  A detachment commanded by Humayan Beg was 

acco rd ing ly  s e n t  to h i s  ass1 s t a n c e  b u t ,  a l though  he  was 

success?u l  a t  w k u c h  an& S i n g a l ,  Koh'd Akbar Ykan was a b l e  

t o  hold S h e r k i l l a  a g a i n s t  him and h i s  army wa.s e v e n t u a l l y  

de fea t ed  a t  t i l l g i t .  S h o r t l y  a f te rwar f i s  he h ~ a r d  t h a t  

Arnanul t!ulk, the IJehtar of Chi t r a l ,  had occupied Yas in  jn 



h i s  absence and he was f o r c e d  t o  t a k e  r e f u g e  i n  3 a r e 1 ,  

whi l e  I:umayan Beg had t o  r e  t i  r e  t o  Hunza over  t k e  

s h i l i n g i  P a s s .  

From Dare1 h e  made o m u n s u c c e s s f u l  a t t e m p t  to  

g e t  back  Yasln  and was e v e n t u a l l y  murdered t h e r e  by E l r  

Kamam, h i s  f a r a l l y ,  compri s l  ng Shah Abdur Hahman Khan, 
m 

h!uzhghlstl  (Uoh'd Bahi~n ~ h a n ) ,  a d  Uehta r  ( S u l t a n  

r o h y i d d i n  ~ h a n ) ,  b e i n g  s e n t  back  t o  Yasj n  where they weee 

gi ven t h e  h o l d i n g  known a s  'Boshno t. ' 
A s  soon a s  Mehtar Amanul Uulk had sub juga t ed  

Yasin and IJas tu j  he d i  vl ded the  P r o v i n c e  between h i s  two 

e l d e r  s o n s  ~ i z a r n u l  Vulk a r d  ATzalul 1,lulk; the  fo rmer  was 

g iven  from Shandur up to t h e  f a r t h e r  b o r d e r  of Yas in ,  t he  

l a t t e r  L -a s tu j  and Yarkhun up t o  and i n c l u d i n g  Baranas .  

Af'ter Peh lwan ' s  d e a t h  my f a  t h e r  abandoned t h e  

i dea  o f  making a  ma r r i age  i n  h i s  f ami ly  and s e n t  V a k i l s  

t o  C h i t r a l  t o  see  i f  a n  a l l i a n c e  w i t h  the  fami ly  of 

Amanul rylulk cou ld  b e  a r ranged .  I t  was e v e n t u a l l y  decided 

t h a t  my b r o t h e r  Sa l im Khan should rrarry a s i s t e r  o f  S h u j a u l  

i u l k  and w i th  t h i s  o b j e c t  i n  view I was s e n t  t o  Chi t r a l ,  

a t  t h e  age  of' t h i r t e e n ,  w i t h  Wazir Rumayan Beg. 

We t r a v e l l e d  a c r o s s  t h e  C h i l i n g i  P a s s  t o  Imi t 

i n  Ishkoman, thence  t o  Darkot  and over  t h e  Thui t o  

Ghazan where Af'zalul Xulk, the  Governor o f  K a s t u j ,  had 

s e n t  t o  meet  u s  Wazir i  makhan Quaz i  Sarwar ,  a ref 'ugee 



who mar r i ed  Hakin Abdull a  Khan9 daughte r .  From t h e r e  we 

proceeded to Uas tu j  where the  Governor e n t e r t a i n e d  us f o r  

t k r e e  o r  f o u r  d a y s  a f t e r  which we s e t  o u t  f o r  Chi t r a l .  ~t 

each  s t a g e  of t h e  way officials vied  w i t h  each o t h e r  I n  

t h e  e n t e r t a i m e n t s  they gave o u r  p a r t y  and a t  Dlnan,  Wazirul  

Uulk g r e e t e d  u s  and conducted us w l  t h  much ceremony u n t l l  

w e  met the btehtar who had r i d d e n  o u t  two m i l e s  ona p r e t e x t  

o f  s e e i n g  a  garden he had t h e r e .  

Amanul Uulk had f i v e  s o n s  by h i s  Hoyal w l f e  a d  

innumerable o f f s p r i n g  fl-on h i s  many concubines .  H i s  sons  

were named Afza lu l  Eulk ,  N i  zamul Eu lk ,  ShuJau l  Kulk ( t h e n  

a mere c h i l d ) ,  Wazirul  Xulk ard Uehramul Xulk. N i  zamul 

b u l k  had come from  asi in to s e e  h i s  fa . ther  and took p a r t  

i n  the po lo  t h a t  was p layed  on ou r  a r r i v a l .  a u r i n g  the  

game h i s  pony came down b u t  he was n o t  h u r t  and con t inued  

p l a y i n g .  H e  was a  very j o v i a l  p e r s o n  and fond of  d r i n k  and 

always r e g a l e d  me w i  t h  amusing s t o r i  e s  when I v i s i  t ed  him 

i n  h i s  garden nea r  the  Uazar.  During my s t a y  i n  Chi t r a l  

the  Nehtar was very  cou r t eous  to  me, gave me a  s e a t  on 

h i s  tbrone and had Kauser Bag prepared  f o r  my r e c e p t i o n .  

A s  p r e s e n t s  from my r a t h e r  I gave him t h r e e  .i. 

bi  g Yamboos ( a s i l v e r  Chinese co in  o f  a  va lue  of  Rs. 120/- 

to F:.150/-J, t h r e e  ha l f  Yamboos, two r o l l s  of Tawar 

(Chinese  s i l k  b r o c a d e ) ,  t ' r o o s i '  match locks ,  two china 

cups and t h r e e  o r  fou r  r u g s .  While I was t h e r e  I heard 

a g r e a t  nurnber o f  a u t h e n t i c  s t o r i e s .  Abdulla J a n ,  a Vaki l  

from Afghanis tan,  t o l e  me t h a t    dam Khor was on the s i d e  , 



Ay/w*. 
of  Sula inan  Shah whose wife was s4-s.t~ to Shah Ghaaanfar 

Khan of liunza, h i s  wife being Sulaiman Shah's  sl s t e r .  

Sulaiman Shah had two sons ,  Asmat Shah 2 . d  Lehta r ,  the 

l a t t , e r  o f  whom was murdered i n  the presence of E:ir &man 

a f t e r  Uastuj  was conquered. 

m a n u l  Mulk and Adam were F a l f  b r o t h e r s  

and when Adam Xhor was Grown Pr ince ,  a f t e r  he had 

conquered lLastuj he boasted t h a t  he was n o t  l i k e  Katooras. 

Abdulla Jan s a i d  t h a t  then and the re  he w u l d  have l i k e d  

to  k i l l  him b u t  thi nklng i t  over he contented himself 
btm cockc 4 

w i t h  saying "You are a  BSfd of the Autumn t l  me. The M 

who i s  fill of g r a i n  has a  r i g h t  to  s i n g  a song. * 

(Note. I do n o t  q u i t e  see what a l l  t h i s  Is about 

nor is the re  any clue as  to whom tke people conceFned a r e ) .  

U t e r  two months the marri age s e r v i c e  of my 

b r o t h e r  a d  the si s t e r  of Shujaul  X u l k  was r e a d  and I 

took my depar tu re ,  much p leased  wi t h  t h e  r e c e p t i o n  t h a t  

had been accorded to  me. /C Among other  p r e s e n t s  Amanul Eulk 

gave me a  f a l c o n  and a f a l c o n e r  and s e n t  Hazar Beg, son of 

uiwan Beg , a s  Chi t r a l  Vaki 1 In  Hunza. 

On the way back I met Colonel Lockhart  a t  Mastuj, 

accompanied b y  Colonel Hobertson and some Pathan  Guards, 

and he e v e  me a  l e t t e r  to  my f a t h e r  a sMng me to t e l l  him 

t h a t  PSI hoped t o  be a b l e  to v i s i  t Hunza a f t e r  he r e  turned 

from C h i t r a l .  From there  1 went by Z i  abeg and Topkhana 

to  Yarkhun b u t  a s  i t  was summer and a l l  the s t reams were 

i n  spa t a  I had o f t e n  to f o r d  them on horseback and on some 



occas l  ons even t o  s w i m .  Thence v i a  the h o t - s p r ~ n g  a t  

B a r o g h l l  t o  Shuwarsho where a l a r g e  l a k e  f e e d s  t h e  Gllgl  t 

and C h i t r a l  R i v e r s  and where the Darkhot  g l a c i e r  h a s  i t ' s  

head;  from Shuwarsho t o  Shwing, ove r  t h e  Khoraburth P a s s  

to Lup Jup a rd  the  I r s h a d  P a s s  tie I r s h a d  where I s  the 

tomb of daba  Gundl . 
Four d a y s  l a t e r  my f a t h e r  met u s  a t  Al t l t  w i t h  

Say id  T a h i r ,  Agent o f  kbdur Rahim, who had + I t h  him two 

t a i  ghoons ( h i g h  grade f a l c o n s ) .  

In 1865 - 86 Colonel Lockhar t  w i  shed t o  t r a v e l  

th rough  Hunza t o  WakhiJraa and a r r i v e d  i n  C l l g i t  w i th  t h i s  

ob, ject  i n  view. He and the  l ~ z l r - l - B a z a r a t  s e n t  Ghular? 

Haider  w i t h  some mot iba r s  t o  my f a t h e r  a sk ing  him t o  send 

one o f  h i s  sons  i n t o  G i l g l t  t o  e n s u r e  the s a f e t y  o f  

c o l o n e l  Lockhar t ' s  p a r t y .  Uy f a t h e r  wanted Safdar  A l i  to 

go b u t  h e  r e f u s e e  a s  dl d ~ i o h ' d  r iarid Xhan s o  I was f i n a l y  

s e l e c t e d  and agreed to go on condi ti on t h a t  one Mo t l b a r  

from each c l a n  should accompany me. I t  was soon a f t e r  t h e  



d e a t h  of :'Jazir I s a d u l l a  B e g  and before  a  new Wazlr had 

been ap)o ln ted .  A f t e r  some opposl t i o n  b y  L'oh'd T a r 8  B e g  

I go t  my way anC s e t  o u t  wi th  Ghulan Haider f o r  G i l g i t ,  
L" 

Vazlrzada lioh'd Raza 13eg Koh'd Zamir, Z a r g u r a s t  and 

f i f t e e n  o t h e r  1LotIbars accomjanying me. 

Colonel  I o c k h a r t  was awa i t i ng  our a r r i v a l  a t  

Xornal ard he p r e s e n t e d  me wi th  a  Choga, a mare and Re 50C/- 

a d  p l a c e d  a t  my d i s p o s a l  the rooms Colonel B iddu l f  had 

occupied - 1 t b s n  went on  to  G i l g l t  where I rernalned u n t i l  

Colonel Lockhar t  had reached t h e  Wakhan bo rde r  and had 

s e n t  a  l e t t e r  to t h e  Gilgl  t a u t h o r i t i e s  s a y i n g  t h a t  I and 

my p a r t y  might re turn .  a ahadur  Khan, Raja of A s t o e  and 

Bakshi  P o o l r a J  - a  g r e a t  f r i e n d  of my f a t h e r ' s  - a l s o  

s t a y e d  wi th  me i n  t i i l g i t .  The Maharaja of Xashmir gave me 

B. 500/- 

Golonel 1,ockhart  reached Hunza v  la '=:ad 

asked my f a t h e r  i f  t h e r e  was a n y t h i n g  he c o u l d  do f o r  

him. Uy f a t h e r  r e p l i e d  t h a t  he was very  d e s i r o u s  o f  

having Chagrot  r e s t o r e d  to  Hunza. He p o i n t e d  ou t  t h a t  i t  

had o r i g i n a l l y  belonged t o  t h e  country  b u t  t h a t  o f  l a t e  

y e a r s  the S t a t e  t r oops  had a ided  iuagir t~ w r e s t  t from 

him and ,  a t  t h e  moment i t  was uneer t h e  Mir o f  Nag i r ' s  

sway. Golonel Lockhar t  promised t o  do  * a t  he could about  

i t  and i n  r e t u r n  my f a the r  t o l d  him t h a t  he would w i l l i n g l y  

b u i l d  and  n a i n t a i n  a r o a d  through the coun t ry  and would 



a1 so  give him a l l  the help he requ i red  to g e t  t o  t h e  

Yakhan bo rde r  . 
While I was i n  G i l g i t  Wazir Ghulam Halder t o l d  

me t h a t  someone i n  Hunea had asked him f o r  a  supp ly  of 

poison  - a r e q u e s t  he had re fused  - and on my r e t u r n  to 

B a l t i t  I mentioned thl s to my f a t h e r  ard t o l d  hlm t h a t  I 

thought t h a t  Safdar  A11 w a s  responsible. He, however, 

scoffed  a t  t h e  not i  on t h a t  dea th  could come t o  him from 

one of hi s own sons ard accused me of jealousy.  

A t  thi s t i  me the t ens ion  between the  two p a r t i e s  

was becoming more and more acute  and t h e r e  I s  l i t t l e  doubt  

t h a t  Safdar A l i  helped by  Tara Beg was p l o t t i n g  my F a t h e r ' s  

dea th .  

To make m a t t e r s  d e a r  i t  i s  necessary  t o  @ back 

a 11 t t l e  i n t o  the relationship between .the t w o  p r o t a g o n i s t s .  

'men Waei r Asadulla  Beg d ied  he l e f t  behind him two sons; 

the e l d e r  Tara Beg, was a  f 'riend of Safdar  A l i  , the younger 

Humayun kleg of Salam Khan. In normal circumstances the 

Wazirship would have f a l l e n  to  the e l d e r ,  b u t  he was a  

g r e a t  i n t r i g u e r  and because of th i  s my f a t h e r  was i n c l i n e d  

t o  favour  t!!e younger b r o t h e r  who had the  f u r  t h e r  c l  aim 

t h a t  the k i r  had married one of h i s  aunts  by whom he had 

had two chl l d r e n ,  Sakhawat Shah and Rmir JahanCar Shah. 

Uoth my b r o t h e r s  suspected t h a t  whoever succeeded a s  Vas i r  

would have a  very g r e a t  say i n  who was t o  be my f a t h e r ' s  

success or a d  each was bac kj ng hi s own r? an a s  hard a s  he 

could. 







uur i  ng the  fo  l lowi  ng summer Khuda Dad, milk-  

f a t h e r  of Shu jau l  Mulk, came from Chi t ra l  t o  a s k  Salam 

Khan to r e t u r n  wi th  him and b r i n g  h i s  wife  back  to Hunza. 

To t h i  s p r o p o s a l  Safdar  A11 demurred a s  i  t was suggested to  

him t h a t  i f  Salam Khan could o b t a i n  men and money f r m  

Chl t r a l ,  he m u l d  then be  i n  a  p o s i t i o n  t o  c l a i m  the  Y i r l  

f a r  h imse l f ,  and ,  t o  h i s  warped mind, t h e  f a c t  t h a t  my 

f a t h e r  favoured Humayan Beg a s  Wazir indi  ca t ed  t h ~  t he 

would welcome Yalam Khan a s  hi s successor .  A c t u a l l y  my 

f a t h e r  had in tended  making Salam Khan M l r  o f  S a r i k u l  a s  

the l a t e  hl i r ,  hi s u n c l e ,  had r e c e n t l y  d i ed .  

H i s  o b j e c t i o n s  were, however, o v e r - r u l s d  a d  

Salam Khan wi th  numayan d e g ,  Ichuda  Dare and a  marr iage  

p r o c e s s i o n  of  a  hundred men l e f t  f a r  Chi t r a l .  

I was 111  a t  t h e  t ime  and conf ined  i n  t h e  Mahal 

where my f a t h e r  o f t e n  vl s i t e d  me. One w a r m  day, a f t e r  

s i  t t i n g  w i t h  me f o r  some t ime,  he went ~ u t  f o r  a  s t r o l l  i n  

the Shuma 1 Bag where 'l'ara Beg and some of h i s  msn were 

l y i n g  c m c e a l e d .  A s  soon a s  he appeared they s h o t  him down 

Hearing the  no i se  o f  the f i r i n g  1 thought a t  f i r s t  t h a t  a  

son  had been bo rn  to some i n f l u e n t i a l  man i n  t h e  v i l l a g e ,  

b u t  the  sound of ru sh ing  of f e e t  and t h e  shout ing  soon 

convinced me of what k d  r e a l l y  t aken  p l a c e  ard s e i z i n g  

a gun I rushed  out o f  my sickroom, c a l l i n g  to me door- 

keeper t o  c lo se  the door. Ilut my weaknes.: was so g r e a t  

t h a t  I f e l l  unconscious  on the t h re sho ld  where I was found 

by Safdar  ~ l i  an? imprisoned f o r  tw months. 



People  r a p i d l y  c o l l e c t e d  and removed t h e  corpse ,  

which was s t i l l  l y i n g  i n  t h e  Shumal Bagh, a d  gave i t  a  

p u b l i c  b u r i a l ,  a f t a n  which they  i n t e n d e d  to  p u t  S a f d a r  A l i  

t o  d e a t h ;  b u t  he d e c l a r e d  a  r ~ r n l s s i o n  of twelve t a x e s ,  t h a t  

had h i t h e r t o  been a  s o r e  burden  on t h e  p e o p l e ,  qnd b y  

t M  s means escaped the  f a t e  i n  s t o r e  f o r  him ant  secured 

the coun t ry  f o r  h imse l f .  

His n e x t  p r o b l m  was to r e n d e r  harmless  Salam 

Khan who, w i th  Humayun d e g ,  a  hundred men and p o t e n t i a l  

a s s i s t a n c e  from t h e  Leh ta r  o f  Chi t r a l ,  was a  s e r i o u s  

menace t o  h i s  new found s e c u r  i ty .  'l'he marr i age  process1  on 

had,  b y  now a r r i v e d  a t  Hecht  whi ther  he s e n t  two Sowars 

wi th  a  mesk age t o  Salam Khan t e l l i n g  him t h a t  Hunza was 

be ing  a t t a c k e d  by the S t a t e  Fo rces  and urgl  ng him t o  r e -  

t u r n  w i t h  h i s  men as Pas t  a s  poss  i b l e .  A s  he has t ened  

back  he was surrounded by  a p a r t y  of t h r e e  hunCred men, 

bound a d  brough t  be fo re  Safdar  Al i  a t  G u l ~ i t .  The 

o r i g i n a l  p l a n  had been t h a t  S a f d a r  A l i  should  murder a l l  

h i s  b r o t h e r s  w h i l s t  Tara Beg k i l l e d  h i s .  d u t ,  the  l a t t e r ,  

weakened when i t  came to  t h e  p o i n t  ard r e f u s e d  to c o m i t  

t h i s  h o r r i b l e  crime sending  ilumayun Beg t o  Chi t r a l ,  where- 

upon ny bro the r  s e n t  Sakhawat Shah to  Ganich Jahandar  Shah 

t o  Ghulkfn, and ban ished  Salam Khan to  Shimshal. 

I was d e t a i n e d  f o r  t m  months 2 n d  was then  sumon-  

ed b e f o r e  Safdar  A l i  who looked upon me wi th  ange r  and 

h a t r e d .  He conducted me on f o o t  t o  my f a t h e r  ' s  tomb where 

Lhe made me swear,  and my fo l lowing  wl t h  me, t h a t  t h e r e  



would b e  no  i n t r i g u e  a g a i n s t  him. m e n  t M  s was o v e r  he 

p r e s e n t e d  me w i t h  a  choga,  t h a t  Co lone l  L o c k h a r t  had 

g i v e n  him, a  k h a t l l  pony a r d  a  r i f l e  and a c c o u t r e m e n t s ;  

and rrom t h a t  day  on loo  ked upon me :d t h  1 n c r e a s l  ng 

favour .  

Salam Khan's s i s t e r ,  who was h o l ~ s e d  w i t h  

ohermaghzi ~ ' a l g h o o n ,  sDn of  Yumha I iurad,  was a n o t h e r  

o b j e c t  of s u s p i c i  on t o  S a f d a r  Ali and p e o p l e  soon  began 

t o  s p r e a d  rur lours  t h a t  :a1 ghoon was p r e p a r i n g  a p l o t  f o r  

h i  s over  t,Wo w. l!e tPe reupon  had Tai ghoon, Nematul la  and 

r l is i  ab k i l l e d ,  Sakhawat Shah and J a h a n c t ~ r  Shah r o l l e d  

down a p r e c i p i c e  be law Ghulkin ,  t h e i r  mother  p u t  to 

C e a t h  and a r r a n g e e  ?or the  murder of Salam Khan i n  

Shimshal .  

I o h ' d  T ~ r a  Ueg, h a v i n g  o b t a i n e d  tbe cove ted 

g o s t  ~ f '  ' 7 a z i r  b e c m e  v e r y  i n s ~ l o , n t  and o v e r b e a r i n g  to -  

l.varc?s ny b r o t h e r  and re f ' u sed  t o  acce;)t  h i s  orc!ers. He 

even v,rc:nt s o  r a r  a s  t o  G O  o v e r  t o  I l ag i r  aril o f r e r  t o  

!~l i rCer  L;af,!ar Ali and me and g i v e  the t h r o n e  t o  13eza 

Khan ( L i r  of  : :agir)  i f  h e  would c o n s e n t  t o  h i s  r e t a i n i n g  

the p o s t  o r  7aqir i f  he b e c w e  j i r ;  b u t  l ~ i c k i l y  l3eza 

l i3a .n '~  was S a X a r  A l i ' s  s i  s t e r  anc! s h e  warned him 

of' t h i s  p l o t  a g a i ? s t  h i s  l i f e .  I advise t l  S a f d a r  A l i  t o  

have no h e s i t a t i o n  i n  e x e c u t i n g  'I'ara Beg,  b u t ,  i n  s p l  t e  

o f  t l l e  o r g y  of b loodshed  i n  ivFi ch ht had s o  r e c e n t l y  



i ndu lged ,  h e  r e f u s e d  t o  d o  t h i s .  One consequence of 

tihe g r , ~ w i n g  an imos i ty  be tween him and hi  s '.'?azir was t h a t  

h i  s trust i n  r:e and a f f e c t i o n  f o r  n z  became g r e a t e r  a s  

time went on. 

A t  abou t  t h i s  time (1888) Colonel  Durand 

accompanied. by L i e u t e n a n t  lianners-Sc!i t h  and Tiajor 3 o b e r t -  

son came t o  c;ilgi t w i th  a vlew t o  forming an Agency t h e r e ,  

ancl t r a v e l l e d .  v i a  1:irgir to Hunza. I and 1 :n f iS  Khen 

were s e n t  t o  welcome them a t  t h e  Ganesh Rope b r i d g e ,  

whi ch was I n  s o  bad a s t a t e  o f  r e p a i r  a t  t h a t  t l  me t h a t  

iiafiff Xhnn r a f  used to c r o s s  i t and a l lowed me t o  meet  

the  g a r t y  a lone.  

.\re s ? e n t  t h a t  n i g h t  a t  Ganesh and on t h e  

r o l l  owi ng r ~ o r n i n g  proceeded t o  i j a l  ti t * e r e  we were 

rEceived with a s a l u t e  from guns and r i f l e s  and where 

t e n t s  had been p i  t ched  f o r  t h e  p a r t y  on t h e  P o l o  ground. 

, -a ja  Akbar ~ h a n  of Puni a1 accompanied them. 

A t  the t h i r d  rneeti ng between Colonel  Dura.nd 

an& Safciar ~ l j  , wN ch was a t t e n d e d  b y  Li eutenan t l 'anners-  

Smi t h ,  t-a) o r  liober t son,  L:a,j o r  Hassan Shah and  a b!unshi 

on t h e i r  s l d e  and 'L'ars 13eg and I on o u r s ,  n e g o t i a t i o n s  

were opened, and Colonel Durand e x p l a i n e d  t h a t ,  f a r  from 

wishing t o  conquer the  c o u n t r y .  a l l  t h a t  the  . B r i t 1  sh 

clovernment wanted was a road k e p t  up and f r e e  pas sage  f o r  

tihe h:ai 1 bags  t o  k'%ashgar; i  n r e  t u r n  f o r  th i  s handsome 

subs idy  and good rewards  would b e  y a i d .  Safdar  Ali 

countered by a s k i n g  tha t s l n ~ i l a r  t r e a t m e n t  should  be 



accorded t o  t h e  Mehtar of Chi t r a l .  Colonel  Durand 

answered t h a t  he could n o t  commi t h imse l f  t o  t h l  s but ,  
,'Gl 

prom1 sed on h i s  r e  t u r n  t o  GI l g l  t he would p u t  t he  case  

up t o  the  Government as s t r o n g l y  a s  he could. 

The Colonel then s t r e s s e d  the  p o i n t  t h a t  on 

no account  should he have d e a l i n g s  w l  t h  the  Russ ians  snC 

t h a t  he should  do e v a r y t h i n g  I n  h i s  power to  p r e v e n t  

any Hussian from e n t e r i n g  h i s  t e r r i  t o r y ;  t o  which Sa fda r  

gli  p o i n t s d  o u t  t h a t  he had a J a g i r  i n  Yarkand, t h a t  

f r i e n d l y  r e l a t i o n s  had e x i s t e d  f o r  a l o n g  time w i t h  the  

Chinese ,  t h a t  annual  p r e s e n t s  were exchanged and t h a t  

equa l  r i g h t s  e x i s t e d  between China and Hunea i n  Hashkam 

Colonel  Durand expla ined  t h a t  t h e r e  was no o b j e c t i ~ n  t o  

h i s  hav i2gfPiendly  r e l a t i o n s  wi th  the  Chinese.  He f i n i s h -  

ed by t e l l i n g  Safdar  A11 t h a t  Cap ta in  Younghusband 

in tended  coming t o  G i l g i t  i n  f i v e  month's time from 

Ladakh over  the  Shlmshal ,  and asked h i m  t o  h e l p  hlm as  

much a s  p o s s i b l e  on h i s  Journey  through Hunea. 

Af te r  t h e  conference  Colonel  1)uranC s e n t  

Safdar  A l i  a  K h i l a t ;  a l s o  one to Tara Beg, much t o  the 

J!Jir's annoyance. k'or each Gushpur' he despatched a choga 

and a hundred r u p e e s ,  b u t  t he se  never reached  t h e i r  

in tended  r e c i p i e n t s  a s  Safdar  A l l  gave them a l l  t o  two 

of h i s  l l o t i b a r s .  A s  he g r e a t l y  covetsd a t s n t  he 

asked f o r  one and Colonel  Uurand to ld  him t h a t  he would 



send him one from G i l g i  t ;  he was s o  Importunate,  however, 

t h a t  rjolonel Durand e v e n t u a l l y  gave hjm one of those he 

had with hlm, b u t  he was very much annoyed a t  h i s  i l l -  

mannered i n s i  s t ance  an2 refuse(! to  say boodbye t o  the 

Mir when he l e f t  on the fo l lowing  morning. 

Soon a f t e r  S u l t a n  Reg of Wlmi t had been s e n t  

t o  Shimshal t o  meet Captain Younghusband a message came 

f r ~ m  him a t  Puryang say ing  t h a t  a t  Raskam he had been 

annoyed by a Iiusslan,Colonel Granchuski and now droposetl 

e n t e r i n g  Hunza by Aphrung and Tagdarnclash. A l e t t e r  t o  

t h i s  e f f e c t  came a l s o  f r o m  Colonel Durand. Sa fda r  Ali 

was a t  Gulmi t when the news a r r i v e d  and arrsngeO f o r  me 

and Warllir Tara Beg t o  go to  Gircha t o  r e c e i v e  the o f f i c e r  

and malte what arrangements we could f o r  h i s  comrort;  

b u t  a t  t h e  same time he s e n t  a l5ttsr t o  Colonel Durand 

s t a t i n g  tAht he could n o t  supply any cool i  ss u n l e s s  they 

were p a i d  a t  a r a t e  of th ree  rupees  a day and asked him 

t o  send sorne from Gilgi  t. I met Captaln Younghusband, 

who had with him ten  Gurkhas and one Hamzana Ladakhi, 

a t  Gircha,  where I had c o l l e c t e d  s u f f i c i e n t  c o o l i e s  t o  

c a r r y  the cons iderabls  amount of kl t he had w i  t h  him; 

b u t  ' luring the n i g h t  Tara Beg hoplng t o  sha re  the  wages, 

t o l d  the  c o o l i e s  t h a t  they were n o t  t o  take up any load 

u n t i l  they had been prorrll sed t h r e e  rupees  each a day 

w l  t h  the r e s u l t  t h a t  on the  ro l lowing morning they  showed 







every d i s p o s i t i o n  t o  r e f u s e  t o  staPt. With g r e a t  

d i f f i c u l t y  I pursuaded them t o  go as f a r  a s  Khalber 

where they  were t o  be r e l i e v e d  b y  c o o l i s  t h a t  had been 

brought  from Culmit and Gulkin. Here a g a i n  t he  same 

t r a u b l e  broke o u t ,  much t o  Cap t a l n  Younghusband's annoyance 

s o  I b e a t  s i x  of t he  c o o l i s  wi th  a b i g  s t l c k  and demand- 

ed a n  e x p l a n a t i o n  from Tara  Beg. I t o l d  him t h a t  I f  I t  

was h i s  Idea  t h a t  the  o f f i c e r  would go back he was q u i t e  

w i l l i n g  t o  do so ;  b u t  I p o i n t e d  o u t  t h a t  the  Mlr had 

made a prom1 s e  t o  Colonel  Durand t h a t  every  ass1 s t a n c e  

should b e  given t o  him; t h a t  u n l e s s  t h i s  was done no 

s u b s ~ d i e s  would b e  gran ted  and t h a t  I should c o n s i d e r  

him r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  t h e  s t a t e  of a f f a i r s .  Tara Beg, who 

had n o t  enough courage to  admit h i s  compl i c i t y ,  r e p l i e d  

t h a t  I t  was a l l  t h e  f a u l t  of the  cool1 s. Af t e r  t h i s  t h e r e  

was no more t r o u b l e  and we go t  t o  Passu and Gulml t ,  where 

arrangements had been made f o r  h i s  r e c e p t i o n  on the  Polo  

gro und . 
I t  was a r ranged  t h a t  t h s  meet ing between Captain  

~ounghusband  and the  W r  should take p l a c e  du+lng the  

f o l l a w i n g  day I n  the  F o r t ,  which is a l a r g e  one,  where 

i n  honour of  h i  s arr l  v a l ,  the  people  had be en summoned 

t o  f I r e  s a l u  tss w i  t h  matchlocks and the  f o u r  small  guns 

( Sher Bachas)  t h a t  were t he re .  I was deputed t o  show 

him the  way a s  I was the  on ly  one t h a t  unders tood Turki , 



which h i s  Ladakhi s e r v a n t  spoke, and could t r a n s l a t e  i t  
/ 

i n t o  Burushuski. He wished h i s  e s c o r t  t o  f i r e  a s a l u t e  

i n  honour of the  M i r  b u t  Tara Beg and h i s  o t h e r  adv i se r s  

s e n t  a  message asking  him no t  t o  a s  tney f e a r e d  t h a t  

t r eachery  might be intended. Captain Younghusband pointed 

o u t  to  me t h a t  he c ~ u l d  no t  p o s s i b l y  take  on the  whole o r  

Hunea wi th  t e n  Gurkhas and asked me t o  take the  r e s p o n s ~ b i l -  

i t y ;  he a l s o  reques ted  me to t e l l  the N i r  t h a t  t h e r e  

should be no f i r i n g  when he was i n  h i s  t e n t  a s  he thought 

t h a t  h i s  own e s c o r t  might th ink  something was amiss an& 

t h a t  t h i s  might l e a d  t o  t rouble .  P i .na l ly  I agreed to  be 

r e spons ib le  f o r  each s i d e  and w a s  ab le  t o  s e t t l e  th ings  

t o  the sa t1 . s fac t ion  o f  b o t h  p a r t 1 . e ~  . 
Captal n Younghusband had asked f o r  a  h o r s e  t o  

be s e n t  f o r  him to r i d e  upon and t h e  M L r  wanted t o  send 

him an ord inary  pack pnny, b u t  I arranged f o r  the 

despatch of a  good horse and conducted him and h l s  e s c o r t  

dl i n  f u l l  d r e s s ,  to  where the Mlr was awai t ing  him. 

me e s c o r t  ha1 ted twenty yards from the Mlr's t e n t  and 

the l o c a l s  began t o  f i r e  t h e i r  s a l u t e ,  b u t  n e i t h e r  

Safdar  A l i  nor the IVazir emerged. I l e f t  him, t h e r e f o r e ,  

a t  a  d i s t a n c e  and went and remonst ra ted  wf t h  the Mir and 

was even tua l ly  a b l e  t o  pursuade him t o  come o u t  of the  

t e n t  and receive him. Captain Younghusband dl smounted 

and shook hands wi th Safdar A l i  and the  Wazir and was 

l e d  i n t o  the t e n t  where a  f r i e n d l y  conversa t ion  took 



p l a c e ,  whlle h i s  e s c o r t  o u t s i d e  f i r e d  a  s a l u t e .  The M i r  

asked him if he had had afny d i f f i c u l t y  on the  road and 

he r e p l l e d  t h a t  he had s u f f e r e d  g r e a t  Inconvenience ane 

many t roub les  t h a t  had been s u c c e s s f u l l y  overcome by 

Mohod Nazim Khan; he a l s o  added t h a t  the  Wazlr boo had 

been of g r e a t  a s s i s t a n c e  t o  him anC thanked Safdar A l l  

f o r  a l l  the t rouble  he had taken. He then went on to  

say,  i n  r ep ly  t o  a  ques t ion  from the btir, t h a t  J a l s a  was 

s h o r t l y  going t o  be held i n  Gi lg i  t and now t h a t  he had 

a r r i v e d  s a f e l y  the subsidies and rewards promised by 

Colonel Durand would be yald to  the persons whom he s e n t  

to  r e p r e s e n t  him. 

Cap+,ain Younghusband s tayed t h r e e  days i n  Gulmi t 

and the n i g h t  before he l e f t  there  was such a  high wind 

t h a t  a l l  the t e n t s  were blown down and had to  be r e -  

pl  tched. 

To accompany Captain Younghusband t o  Gi l g i  t ,  

I ,  Khai ru l la ,  son of Tara Beg and Vakll Daulat  8 1 1  were 

chosen and a s  we represented  Safdar A l i  the Hunza Bane 

came wi th  u s .  On r e c e i ~ t  of Safdar  Alios l e t t e r  Colonel 

Durand had s e n t  f o r t y  c o o l i e s  from G i l g i t  with Mukhtar, 

b ro the r  of W z l r  Shah Mirza, so there  was no d i f r l  cul ty  

on t h a t  account. Captain YounghusSand had a  very poor 

yony w i  t h  him, so I i n s i s t e d  on h i s  r i d i n g  my Khatli , 
which he l i k e d  very much, while I bes t rode  h i s  scraggy 

t a t .  The road was vsry bad i n  those days and we had to  

fonl the r i v e r  th ree  times before  reaching  AhmaCabad, 



and when we d i d  g e t  t h e r e  me found t h a t  t h e r e  was no 

wood; so I had the  roof of a  water  m i l l  p u l l e d  down 

and used t h a t  f o r  firewood and obta ined  s u p p l i e s  fram the 

v i l l a g e .  Having r e s t e d  there  f o r  a  few hours  we 

pushed on again  and reached Bal t i  t a t  e leven a t  n igh t .  

There arrangements had been made on a  l a v i s h  s c a l e  and 

Cap t a i n  Younghusband Wds accomoCatetl i n  the  same p lace  

t h a t  Colonel Durand had s tayed I n  d u r i n g  h i s  v i s i t ;  he 
~ E M A ~  .. . 

a l s o  met Z w m t  Shah who had been s e n t  by Uzar Khan frorn 

Nagir t o  r e c e i v e  hlm. On the  fo l lowing  day we reached 

~ h u l m i t ,  t r a v e l l i n g  by sumayar, thence to Nomal and 

a r r i v e d  i n  Gi lg i  t on the t h i r d  day. 

1 ha& an in te rv iew w i  t h  Colonel Durand dur ing  

the  day a f t e r  our a r r i v a l  a d  Capta in  Younghusband t o l d  

him t h a t  1 was a  very a c t i v e  f e l l o w  and had been the  

g r e a t e s t  h e l p  to him on the  way: Kha i ru l l a ,  son of tne  

Wazir, was a l s o  p r e s e n t  b u t ,  a s  he d i d  n o t  know the  

language, he was unable t o  understarid what had been s a i d .  

while I was the re  a  p e t i t i o n  cans I n  from Nagir ob:ecting 

t o  the appointment of Moh'd Xhan of Astor to t h e  Wazlr- 

sh ip  of G i l g i  t - he had been appointed t o  r e p l a c e  Ghulam 

Haider who had been banlshed t o  Kashrnir - on the  grounds 

t h a t  , a s  he had no landed p roper ty  i n  G i l g i t ,  he was 

n o t  so e n t l t l e d  t o  the p o s t  as were some Nag i r i s ;  t o  

t h i s  Colonel Durand ,replied t h a t  i f  landed p r o p e r t y  

were the c r l  t e r l  on of appointment i n  G i  1 gl t ,  he,  a s  an 



Englishman, had b e t t e r  go too. 

A month a f t e r  o u r  a r r i v a l ,  t h e  f i r s t  J a l s a  was 

he ld  I n  the  b i g  h a l l  I n  the Agency Carden. Uaar Khan, 
I 
1- 

accompanl ed  by Shah Murad and Gushpur Gaurl Khan, was 

r e p r e s e n t i n g  the  Mir of Nagir and a s  t h e r e  had been 

some ti1 spu te  be  tweon u s  concern ing  our precedence d u r l n g  

the  Uurbar, we were bo th  ? l aced  on c h a l r s  In  F ron t  of  

~ o l o n e l  Uurand. The Wazlr-I-Wazarat (Ganpat RaJ)  and a l l  

S t a t e  O f f i c e r s  were p r e s e n t  and t h e  B r , l t l s h  f l a g  was 

flown. The speech ,  whl ch was f l r s t  r ead  l n  Bng l i sh  by  

c o l o n e l  Durand then t r a n s l a t e d  i n t o  Urdu and P e r s l  an b y  

M. Abdul Hakim and I n t o  Shlna by l,V. Rosi Khan ( f a t h e r  o r  

W. Moh'd Khan), was t o  t h e  e f f e c t  t h a t ,  a s  Gl lg l  t con- 

s i s t e d  of many p e t t y  1 1  t t l e  s t a t e s ,  always a t  war wl t h  

each o t h e r ,  t h e  Hrl t i s h  Government had dec l aed  to hold 

the  count ry  an& t h a t ,  so l o n g  a s  B r  I  t l  s h  Hule oontlnued 

111 I n d i a ,  B r l t l s h  Cont ro l  In the  G i l g i t  Agency would n o t  

cease ;  t h a t  the  Maharaja o r  Kashlrtl r would. always have a 

say In the  a f f a i r s  ot t h e  Wazarat and t h a t  i n  f u t u r e  a 

P o l l  tl c a l  O f f i c e r  would be  appointed.  

A de tachnlent of  a  hundred men was then s t a t l o n -  

ed a t  J u t i a l  who d i d  t h e l r  rrlusketry t r a l n l n g  a t  Soniko t  

and gave u s  dernonstr.at1ons of s p o r t s  and f l  r l n g  such a s  

we had never  seen b e f o r e .  

Soon a f t e r  thi  s Durbar Ca3 t a l n  Younghusband 

l e f t  f o r  I n d i a ,  having gjven n:e a  c e r t l f l c a t e ,  and Colonel 



Durand gave u s  l e  ave to  re  t u r n  to our homes. The annual 

payment of Safdar  Ali was f i x e d  a t  R ~ . ~ o c o / -  and of 

Wazir Moh'd Tara Beg a t  R'.30C/- ; I was gi ven R.500/- 

wi th  Icimicb~b e t c . ,  a s  K h i l a t  and two s n l d e r  rl f l e s .  

Before l e a v i n g  I spoke p r i v a t e l y  to Colonel 1)urand and 

t o l d  him t h a t  I would e l  tker  come i n  myself or send 

someone e l s e  I n  t o  t e l l  him what was going on In Hunza 

i f  m e r e  was any l n t r l  gue s t a r t e d  by Safda r  A l l  o r  l a z l r  

wi th  the Russlans.  

I n  1890 Colonel Gramchuskl, a Russ ian  o f f i c e r ,  

accompanied by twelve Cossacks under a E a v l l d a r  c a l l e d  

Kadeno, wished to  pay a  v i s i t  to Hunza. When I was ',old 

of t h i s  by Safdar A l l  I advlsec? him n o t  t o  a l l o w  I t a.nd t o  

have t h e  Husslans turned back from l u r k u s h i ,  p o i n t i n g  o u t  

*a t  we had j u s t  promised the B r i t i  sh  Government t h a t  we 

would have no t r u c k  with i iuss ia  and had r e  cel ved, i n  con- 

sequence, subS1d.i e s  of cons ide rab le  value.  Vaz i r  Tara B e g ,  

however, was a l l  i n  favour of l e t t i n g  them come, th ink ing  

t h a t  i t  woulC enhance our p r e s t i g e  m i  t h  the Governr~ent 

and on my s t r e s s i n g  my p o i n t  of view s a r c a s t i c a l l y  r e -  

marked t o  a Yotibar ca l l ed  Khurranl Shah t h a t  i t was b u t  

n a t u r a l  t h a t  I ,  havl ng r e  cei ved r e  wards from Colonel 

Ourand should be  t r u e  t o  h i s  s a l t .  

However, Safdar  811 deci dec? tha t  FB d ~ o u l e  

be allowed to oome and, a s  1 had re fused  t o  go, s e n t  

~ 0 h ' d  ~ a f i s  and Noor Hayat, son of b!irza Hassan o f  Gulmi t 



as f a r  a s  Misgar to meet him. The road was then  so bad 

t h a t  he was forced t o  come by the Baskuchi road whi ch 

runs  above Attabad and by the time he reached A l t i t  h i s  

p o n l e s  were s o  lame t h a t  t h e y  could s c a r c e l y  hobble.  

While we were w a i t i n g  f o r  h i s  a r r i v a l ,  S a f d a r  

A l l  c a l l e d  a  Counci 1 of S t a t e  and, remarking t h a t  I was 

acquanl ted w i t h  b o t h  Governments, asked me whi ch o f  them 

I thought  i t  b e s t  to c o n c l l i a t e .  I p o i n t e d  ou t  t o  him 

t h a t  Huss la  and China were t o o  f a r  away to do u s  any 

good a s  their .  n e a r e s t  p o s t s  i n  Alai  and l l a rgha lan  were 

ve ry  much f a r t h e r  from our border t h a n  was Cl lgi  t where 

a r i  t i s h  t roops  were s t a t 1  one8; t h a t  the Brl t i s h  Govern- 

ment had s a i d  mey woulC he lp  u s  and had glven s u b s i d i e s  

t o  us.  d u t  the oounci l  a f t e r  l l s t e n l n g  t o  me would n o t  

a c c e p t  rry p o l n t  of v l  ew and cont l  nued to pursue the 

p o l i c y  t h a t  was to l e a d  them u l t l m a t e l y  to d i s a s t e r .  

The day after h i s  a r r i v a l  in  B a l t i t  Colonel 

Gramckuski p a i d  a  v i s i  t t o  the  Mir. He was t a l l  , grace-  

f u l l y  b u i l t  and ve ry  good looking  ard could speak Turki 

wel l  a l t hough  a s  he was unacquainted d t h  P e r s i a n ,  Cul 

)lohod Gi lml t i  and I a c t e d  a s  i n t e r p r e  ters. 

The Waeir ' s  s o n  an8 Moh'd Nafi s Khan were s e n t  

t o  conduct  him t o  the Y i r  d o  walked forward a couple 

o f  paces  t o  r e c e i v e  him on h i s  a r r i v a l ,  whl l e  me l o c a l  

peop le ,  who had been ordered  to a s senb le ,  f i r e d  s a l u t e s  

i n  h i s  honour to which h i s  cossacks  r e p l i e d  b y  f i r i n g  



two vo l l eys .  The Mir m d e  formal enqu l r i  e s  about  h i s  

h e a l t h  and expressed the hope t h a t  he had had no 

t r o u b l e  on the way, to  which he r e p l i e d  t h a t ,  al though 

he had had no s e r i o u s  t r o u b l e ,  he could n o t  he lp  r e -  

marking t h a t  t h e  road  was i n  a very bad condi ti on, 

On t h e  fo l lowing  day I r e t u r n e e  the v is i t  on 

beha l f  of the M i r  wi th  whom he l a t e r  on had an informal 

conver.sati on, He sa id  t h a t  he had come from t h e  Czar of 

Russia  a s  i t  was rumoured t h a t  *ere was a  danger  of 

Hunza con~lng under the sway of the  B r i  t i  sh t o  p reven t  

which happening, they must be  f r i e n d l y  towards Russ ia  

who intended coming to K l z i l  Robat,  having a  M i l i t a r y  

P o s t  a t  8 0 z a i  Gunbaz and pushing forward another  p o s t  

t o  occupy 8al ti t. Ha s a i d  t h a t  i n  the e v e n t  o f  t h i  s 

l a s t  hapyening, th ree  hundred r i f l e s  and t w o  guns waul& 

be  s e n t  there  anC a Russian off1 cer  would accompany them 

and be  a b l e  t o  t r a i n  the men of Hunza i n  a l l  t h e  l a t e s t  

developments of warfare,  He i n s i s t e d  t h a t  no o v e r t  a c t  

of h o s t i l i t y  should be shown to the  B r i t i s h  Government 

unt i  1 these p lans  had mature d a f t e r  whi ch, he s a i d ,  the re  

would be  no chance of the  B r i  t l s h  c a s t i n g  cove t ious  looks  

a t  the  Mir's t e r r i t o r y .  

The Mir 's  r ep ly  was to the e f f e c t  t h a t  he was 

f r e e  to make f r i e n d s h i p s  when and where he m u l d ,  He 

s a i d  t h a t  Hunza was on f r i e n d l y  terms with the B r i t i s h  

and w i t h  the Maharaja of Kashmlr; t h a t ,  r e l a t i o n s  of 



of  suborClna t lon  a s  well  as e q u a l i t y  ex1 s t e d  between him 

and China; t h a t  the  MaharaJa of Kashrcir had f o u r  t imes 

t r i e d  t o  conquer Hunza b u t ,  hav ing  f a i  l e d ,  was now making 

peace w i t h  tl-ern and t h a t  as China had never  t r l e C  to send 

people  In to  hi  s caunt ry  t o  r u l e  i t  he d id  not  see  why 

anyone should.  I t r a n s l a t e d  t h i  s speech l n t o  Turk1 f o r  

the Russian.  

A f t e r  a  week, du r ing  e - 1  ch a d i s p l a y  o f  musketry 

was arranged by the  N i r  between Karlmabad and Ghamasdass, 

the  Xusslan took h i s  depa r tu re  g i v i n g  the Mir a s  a  p r e s e n t  

sorce s i l k  and Bana t  c l o t h ,  a  pony and two breech  l o a d i n g  

ri f l e s ;  to tt?e Wazir a  r l  f l e  anC a  pony whl ch was i n  such 

poor  condi t i  on t.ha t i t  d l  ed s h o r t 1  y zf t e r  hi  s depa r tu re .  

I accompanlee h l m  to  A l t l  t where I p l i e d  him w l  t h  wine 

t h a t  I might g e t  t o  l e a r n  what he r e a l l y  thought ,  2nd h e  

t o l d  me t h a t  he considered a l l  like r e s t  of them f o o l s  and 

t h a t  I was t h e  only one mi t h  any rpal I n t e l 1 1  gence. He 

s a i d  t h a t  a  Mill W r y  P o s t  was b e i n g  established a t  Bozai 

Gunbaz and t h a t  I f  the Y i r  e l d  n o t  go back on h i s  promises 

the  fir1 t i s h  would never d a r e  overrun h i  s t e r r i  tory. I 

r e t o r t e e  t h a t  the  Bri  t i  sh were a  g e  a t  r a t i o n  and i f  they 

r e a l l y  in tended t o  talie over Hunza, they would do  1  t and 

nobody could s t o p  them; t h a t  t h e  Naha raJaes  a rny  had 

c e r t a i n l y  t r i e d  and f ~ i l e d  b u t  t h a t  was no c r i t e r i o n  t h a t  

the  same t h i n g  would happen i f  t h e  B r i t i s h  a t t acked .  He 

then t o l d  me t h a t  i f  t h e  wussians  succeeded I n  e s t a b l i s h -  



i n g  a p o s t  a t  a o z a i  Gunbaz before  Hunza was conquerec? 

b y  the ~ r i  t i  s h ,  there  was 11 t t l e  doubt b u t  t h a t  Hunza 

would, I n  tlme, become Russian terr.1 to ry .  He wanted 

me t o  accompany him t o  a o z a l  Gunbaz so t h a t  he m i g h t  

send back by me the r i f l e s  anC o t h e r  mil l  t a r y  equlpnent 

he had prorpi sed ,  b u t  I re fused  to go and s o ,  kavl ng 

given me a Russj  an p i s t o l ,  one chappan of Yaoof ( s i l k  

~f good q u a l i t y )  and t e n  @ i n e s e  c o i n s ,  be s e t  off  

a lone on the  fo l lowing  rnornlng. 

Beyore h i s  d e ~ a r t u r e  the  Yir and Vazi r  s e n t  

him some swords a d  country matchlocks and he mas s o  

pleased with these  l o c a l  weapons W a t  the Kir  pronj  sed 

t o  send him some more l a t e r  through the Agents t h e t  

he even tua l ly  hoped t o  despatch. 

Thi s quest l  on of send ing Agents t o  the Huss ian 

cour t  was debated a t  cons iderable  l e n g t h  b u t  a f t e r  

th ree  months the Uir deciCeC to send Gul Mok'd a d  

T u l l a  w i t h  p r e s e n t s  consl s t i n g  of muntzay s h i s l c ? ~ ,  

swords and matchlocks. A s  these  Agents woulC have t o  

y ass  through Kashgar a  l e t t e r  was w r i t t e n  to t h e  

i)ao t a l  saying tha t HI s HI ghne ss , The Agha Khan had 

asked f o r  two r l r s t  c l a s s  hawks and r e q u e s t i n g  t h a t  

the men might be permi t t e d  t o  go to  Kokand t o  o b t a i n  

them. This l e t t e r  was shown t o  Mr. Macartney, the 

f i r s t  I j r i t i s h  Consul * e r e ,  vrho allowed the men to e n t e r  

d u s s i  an terr ' l  tory.  When, however, he f'ounC ou t  t h a t  







the  Russ ian  o f f i c e r  t h e r e  had gfven them a p r e s e n t  of' 

s i x  r i f l e s  t o  t ake  back  to t h e  Mir, he Informed the 

Chinese a u t h o r i  t i e s  who had them a r r e s t e d  a t  t h e  

F r o n t i e r  and t h e  r i f l e s  con f i s ca t ed .  They were then 

allowed to = t u r n  to  Hunza w i t h  the o t h e r  p r e s e n t s .  

A l l  t h i  s inforna ti on I s e n t  v e r b a l l y  to  

Colonel  Durand through Kushwakt t h e  f a t h e r  of  Ra j a  

Shahdidul  Ajam. 

CHAPTEB IV. 

A t  t h i s  t ime the Kashrnir S t a t e  Fo rces  had a 

m a l l  g a r r i s o n  a t  Chaprot ,  a f o r t  a t  Nomal h e l d  bjr two 

hundred men and a s m a l l  p o s t  o f  a s e c t i o n  a c r o s s  the  

r i v e r  a t  hatan,dass. I t  was dec ieed  t h a t  Hunza and Nagir 

shoulC combice a g a i n s t  them and t r y  and d r i v e  them 

b a c k  to  ~ i l g i  t. 

A s  S a f d a r  A l i  and Uzar Fhan we1.e re la  t e e  

W-ere was l i t t l e  d i f f i c u l t y  i n  g e t t i n g  an arrlly b g e t h e r  

and ,  a f t e r  Chaprot  had been taken ,  a  f o r c e  of  some th ree  



thousand men commanded by me and ',Vazl r Tara  Reg f o r  

Hunza and S i  kandar Khan and Gauri ITam f o r  Nagix*, was 

asseurbled a t  Chal t %here a male g o a t  was s a c r i f i c e d ,  

a f t e r  t h e  c u s  ton! o f  the  c o u n t r y ,  and dances  !I\ i t h  t ke  

r e s p e c  t i  ve f l a g s  of t h e  t r ibespien were per ' fornsd.  Then 

the  horde moved on t o  Gwich where a  h a l t  was r .ade,  

though uzar Khan s t i l l  remained a t  Ohal t .  

Nuch t o  my r e g r e t ,  f o r  i t  seemed improbable 

t h a t  any nlan could be  s e n t  from Gi lg l  t by J u t i a l ,  I 

and S i  kandar l(han were o rde red  to t ake  f o u r  hundred men 

a c r o s s  the  r i v e r  and occupy ES,atumdass wh i l e  'flazir Tara 

Beg and Uoh'd N a f i s  marched a g z l n s t  Norlal where they 

succeeded i n  capturing b:aj o r  Mirza Jan .  He, however, 

promised them t h a t  if t hey  w m l d  r e l e a s e  him he would 

e n t e r  the  f o r t  and open t h e  g a t e s  t o  them and they,  

f o o l i s h l y  b e l i e v i n g  hirn, a l lowed him t o  e scape  and 

e n t e r  t h e  f o r t  whose g a r r i s o n  be warned o f  t h e  impend- 

i n g  a t t a c k .  

The Hunza-Nagir f o r c e s  as:;en;bled i n  a  garden  

nea r  HaJa Kamal Khan's house  and s t a r t e d  t h e  a t t a c k  on 

N o ~ a l  i n  a l i n e  ex t end ing  from t h e  r i v e r  up t o  t he  

v i l l a g e  Kuhl while  I ,  on the  oppos i t e  s i d q  of t h e  r i v e r ,  

cap tured  a l l  the  r3alt i  c o o l i e s  t h a t  were c o l l e c t e d  t h e r e  

t r i e d  to give h e l p  by  r i f l e  f i r e  f rom ~y p o s i t i o n .  

Unforturlately a s  a l l  the  r i f l e s  wi th  my f m c e  were count ry  

matchlocks  the b u l l e t s  f e l l  s h o r t .  



The first o b j e c t i v e  was the smal l e r  f o r t  ani 

before  i t  could be reached the ga r r i son ,  l ed  by UaJor 

Makhan Singh, s a l l i e d  o u t  and f e l l  upon the a t t a c k i n g  

forces .  They, however, were well armed f o r  f i  gh t ing  a t  

so  c lose  a  range and, a t  the f i r s t  vo l l ey ,  k i l l e d  the  

blajor and i n f l i c t e d  a  g r e a t  many c a s u a l t i e s .  Seeing t h a t  

t h e i r  l e a d e r  had f a l l e n  the remaicing men f l e d  a rd ,  en te r -  

i n g  the  b i g  f o r t ,  were a b l e  t o  shu t  the doors jn t h e  face 

of  the pursuing  foe. Meanwhile, Pehlwan of , m i s -  

t ak ing  the  primary o b J e c t i v e ,  sca led  the  wall  of the 

b i g  f o r t  wi t h  a  f l a g  i n  h i s  hand and f e l l ,  single-handed, 

upon the ga r r i son  wi th in  k i l l i n g  three of them before he 

was hjrnself overpowered. 

I n  spi t e  of the success t h a t  had a t tended the 

f i g h t  the Hunza-Nagir f o r c e s  did not  make another  a t t a c k  

and r e  t i r e d  to  Chal t where, the heredi  t a r y  enmity be tween 

Hunza and Nagir was making i t s e l f  f e l t .  Actual t r w b l e ,  

was however, ave r t ed  and the Hunza army re turned  to i ts  

own t e r r i  tory.  

Although, i n  t h i s  case ,  SafOar 811 had been 

the  aggressor ,  i t  seemed t o  him to be an a d ~ l r a b l e  

opportuni ty to  send t o  t h e  Chinese o f f i c i a l s  a  p e t i t i o n  

r e p r e s e n t i n g  t h a t  the Maharaja was con t inua l ly  harass ing  

him and begging t o  be suppl i  ed w i  t h  arms andammuni t i o n  

t o  r e p e l  the cons tan t  aggress ion  of the S t a t e  Forces. 

Uarwesh ~ l i  was, accordingly despatched to  Kashgar and 



r e  turned wi th  a  Chinese o f f i c e r  c a l l e d  Jangdar in  who had 

beon s e n t  to v e r i f y  t h l s  r e p o r t ,  I went a s  f a r  a s  

Attabad t:, r e c e i v e  him, accompani ed by the  Tjpazir's son, 

and he asked me, a s  soon a s  we had met, \&ether  i t  was 

t r u e  t h a t  the  Lahara ja  was always a t t a c k i n g  our f o r c e s  

and t r y i n g  t o  overrun our  t e r r i  tory .  I r e p l i e d  t h a t  I t  

was Wue, t h a t  a  b a t t l e  had r e c e n t l y  taken  p l a c e  of 

which Safdar  811 would give him a  f u l l  account ane con- 

ducted him t o  a a l t 5  t where arrangements had been made 

f o r  hi  s recep t ion  on the polo  ground. 

He saw the M i r  on the fo l lowing  day and asked 

him f r a n k l y  what the r e l a t i o n s  were between him and the 

Maharaja and received the r e p l y ,  t h a t  a s  the  S t a t e  Forces 

had r e c e n t l y  been d r iven  o u t  of Chaprot 1 t was very 

probable t h a t  an a t t a c k  would s h o r t l y  be ciellvered on 

Hunza and t h a t  owing t o  the  r e c e n t  o p e r a t i o n s  there  was 

a  gro,at shortage of arnmuni t i  on in Hunza a1  though there  

were enough r i f l e s .  

He showed Jangdarin tb.2 r i f l e s  t h a t  Colonel 

Durand had given him and suggested t h a t ,  perhaps ,  I t 

might be b e t t e r  i f  I were t o  r e t u r n  t o  Kashgar w i  th him 

and ger s o n a l l y  make appl l  cat1 on to  the Daotai and Chi t a l  

f o r  what was so  s o r e l y  needed. 

The Chinese o f f i c e r  - the f i r s t  one t h a t  had 

ever  en tered  Hunza t e r r i  t o ry  - agreed to  t h l s  and a f t e r  

SIX days I s e t  out with Nazar A l l  who had f r e q u e n t l y  

v i s i  ted Kashgar on Hunza bus iness  and was well  acquainted 



with  t h e  road. 

We reached Yangi Shahr t r a v e l l i n g  v i a  Tang1 

Tar where the m b a n  was ve ry  kind t o  u s  and gave u s  food . 
I n  those days  t h e r e  was no Anban s t a t t o n e d  a t  Tashkurgan, 

the  Chl nese i n t e r e s t s  t he re  b e i n g  r e p r e s e n t e d  by Tulabai  

Beg and Yakub Beg a t  Tung and b y  Karim Beg. I had w i t h  

me the twelve B a l t i s  t h a t  I had cap tured  a t  ldatamdass du r ing  

the a t t a c k  on Noma1 and had had l n s t r u c t l o n s  from S a f d a r  

A11 t h a t  I was t o  s e l l  them a t  Yarkand t o  Shamsher Akhun 

who was a  f r i e n d  of h i s .  Th i s  I d i d  and r e c e t v e d  h o r s e s ,  

e t c . ,  i n  exchange. Soon a f t e r  we e n t e r e d  the  o l d  c i t y  1 

of Kashgar and were r e c e i v e d  t h e r e ,  w i  t h  g r e a t  pomp and 

ceremony, b y  the  Uaotal .  

He Informed m s  I n  our i n t e r v i e w  t h a t  J angda r ln  

had a l r e a d y  t o l d  him t h a t  I t  was we who had c r e a t e d  the 

r e c e n t  t r o u b l e  wi t h  the Xashmir au thor1  t i e s  and asked me 

I f  they had eve r  Invaded Hunza b e f o r e .  I r e p l i e d  t h a t  

i n  the  timsaf Shah Ghaaanfar Khan t h e  d t a t e  Fo rces  'had 

t r i e d  to  a t t a c k  Hunza, b u t  t h a t  they had been defea ted  

and a l l  b u t  one man k j l l e d ;  t h a t  s m n  a f t e r  my f a t h e r ' s  

acces s ion  Jawaliar Singh and Sardar  Samad Khan had mmbin- 

d wi t h  Nagir i n  an  a t t empt  to e n t e r  the a u n t r y ,  b u t  

t h a t  they had been b e a t e n  a t  Ganesh while the  Nagir  

f o r c e s ,  t h a t  had t r i e d  t o  g e t  round on the  h e i g h t s  

beh ind  a a l  t i  t ,  had been r o u t e d  on the  A l t i t  Range; t h a t  

f o r  t h e  t h i r d  time an  a t t a c k  had been made by t h e  M a h a r a ~ e ' s  



f o r c e s  which had been h e l d  up by combined Hunza-Magir 

a c t i o n  a t  N i l t .  He t h e n  enclulred how i t  was t h a t  the British 

had come to Hunza and I t o l d  him t h a t  In my f a t h e r  ' s  

time Colonels  Bilidulf and Lockhar t had come as  t r a v e l l e r s .  

He c losed  t h e  in te rv iew wi th  t h e  advice t h a t  I must go 

t o  xangi Shahr where the Chi t a i  , by whom a l l  arrange-  

ments f o r  Edill tary s t o r e s  were made, had h i s  head- 

q u a r t e r s ,  saying t h a t  the  g ran t i  ng of the  Mires r e q u e s t  

l a y  with him alone. He d i d ,  however, t e l l  me t h a t  he 

would send a  recommendation to  him a n d t h a t  he hoged 

t h a t  I would g e t  what 1 wanted. 

I then v i s i t e d  the  Ch i t a i  and s t a y e d  i n  h i s  

f o r t ,  ~ a n g d a r i n  accomyanying roe. I was conCucted i n t o  

h i s  presence wi th  g r e a t  f o r m a l i t y  and made him my 

f a t h e r ' s  request .  He d i d  not b e l i e v e  me a t  f i r s t  a& 

i t  was n o t  u n t i l  Jangdarin had tss t i f i e d  to  t h e  c o r r e c t -  

ness  of my s t o r y  t h a t  he gave me two boxes of mmuni t i o n  

and two magazine r i f l e s  t h a t  t i r e d  twelve rounCs a t  a 

time. They were n o t  very good, however, a s  a t  t h a t  time 

the Chinese had no B r i  t i  s h  rrlade r i f l e s .  He then asked 

me If we had any cannon b u t  was unable t o  provide any 

cannon b a l l s  a s  1 could n o t  t e l l  him the e x a c t  b o r e  

a l t h m g h  he proml sed t h a t  he would send some if  we l e t  

him know what s i z e  was requi red .  He asked me where we 

had got them from and I t o l d  him t h a t  one o f  them had 

been c a s t  i n  Hunza and t h a t  the other  had been captured 



from Tashkurgan f o r t  when we had conquered t h a t  p l a c e  

and S a r i k o l  i n  t he  time of A l l f  Beg and Khush 9 e g  . He 

then gave me p r e s e n t s  f o r  myself and some f o r  the  Mir. 

Af te r  b i d d i n g  him f a r e w e l l  we proceeded v i a  

yarkand on our r e t u n  journey to Hunza b u t  had n o t  g o t  

very f a r  on our wdy when T l l a  came I n  wi t h  the  news t h a t  

a s  s l a v e r y  was f o r b i d d e n ,  the  B a l t i  c o o l i e s  had been 

r e l e a s e d  b y  the  Amban's o r d e r ,  and t h a t  Shansher  Akhun 

had been  awarded the  punishment of f i v e  hundred l a s h e s  

and had b e e n  c a s t  i n t o  j a i l .  I immedi a t e l y  r e t r a c e d  my 

s t e p s  and went t o  I n t e r v i e w  Kupaq Amban, t he  chief  of a l l  

the  Ambans, who was f e a r e d  throughout  the count rys ide  

f o r  h i s  f i e r y  temper and the  r e a d i n e s s  he showed t o  b e a t  

anyone and everyone i f  occas ion  o f r e red .  

u u r i n g  t h e  i n t e r v i e w  I p o i n t e d  o u t  t o  him t h a t  

Safdar  A l l  was q u i t e  unaware t h a t  s l a v e r y  had been f o r -  

b idden  and would be  very much annoyed when he heard of 

the t r e a t m e n t  t h a t  had been meted o u t  t o  h i s  f r i e n d  

Shamsher Akhun whom I sugp;ested should a t  once be s e t  

f r e e .  T h i s  s u g g e s t i o n  apoeared t o  annoy t h e  Amban who 

became very r e d  i n  t h e  f a c e  andshowed c l e a r  si gns of an  

approaching o u t b u r s t  of temper, b u t  I simulaterl an  equa l  

f u r y  and he soon calmed down again.  F i n a l l y  he s a i d  t h a t  

as he was r e s p o n s j b l e  ?or s e t t i n g  the  s l a v e s  f r e e  he 

would pay the  c o s t  of them and  I asked him to  have them 

b r ~ u g h t  b e f o r e  me s o  t h a t  I could s e e  t h a t  eve ry t ing  was 



conducted f ai r l y .  

I then r e t u r n e d  to  my res idence  o u t s i d e  which 

a l a r g e  mob of about  f o u r  hundred Kashmlris,  r e s i d e n t s  of 

yarkand, who had heared about  the s l a v e r y ,  had assembled 

wi th  s t o n e s  and s t i c k s  i n  t h e i r  hands. Be were only ten 

men b u t  each of my f o l l o w e r s  p rov ided  himself wi t h  a  

t h i c k  stl ck and I ,  w l  t h  a  sword i n  one hand and a  breach- 

loading  r i f ' l e  In the  o t h e r ,  shoved myself through the 

door t o  the  crowd which a s  soon a s  t h e y  saw t h a t  I was 

prepared  t o  dea l  w l  th them i f  theya t t acked ,  took to their  

h e e l s  and rushed t o  Amban w i  t h  the news t h a t  the  MIr of 

Huneags b r o t h e r  had mme o u t  to  k i l l  them. The M a n  

and h i s  s o l d i e r s  came h u r r i e d l y  t o  r emons t ra te  m i  t h  me 

and aga in  I showed them t h a t  1 was prepared  t o  f i g h t  i f  

necessary ,  s o  he contented himself wi th  t e l l i n g  me t h a t  

such a  show of arms was undes i rab le  i n  Chinese t e r r i t o r y  

and promised t h a t  he would s e t  Shamsher Akhun f r e e ,  which 

he d id  the next  day. Shansher Akhun p r e s e n t e d  me w l  t h  a  

pony and some money and r e  t a lned  me a s  h i s  gues t  f o r  thred 

days  dur ing  which time he e n t s r t a i n e d  me wi th  t h e  most 

sumptuous hosp 1 t a l l  ty. 

Leaving Yarkand f o r  the second time we r e  ached 

Chamasil v i a  Tung where the r i v e r  was so high t h a t  bo th  

men and animals  had t o  c r o s s  i t  on r a f t s ,  du r ing  which 

c ross ing  A l l  a r  f e l l  I n t o  the water and was washed away 



be fo re  we cou ld  do any th ing  t o  s a v e  him. A t  Mustak the  

water  was very  deep a l s o ,  b u t  we were ab l e  to  g e t  

ac ros s  I t  s a f e l y  and were met by Abdul Hassan, t h e  f a t h e r  

of K a r i m  Beg who, though a 11 t t l e  deranged men ta l ly ,  

r eae ived  u s  w l  t h  eve ry  show of r e s p e c t .  From t h e r e  by 
0 

Kandr- and Omrl -Yurch  t o  D a f d a r  then to  P a l k  f'rom 

which .p lace  T ~ l l a  B a i  Beg, l!dlrmai,and Kech Mohod (Kachan 

Mohod) made arrangements  f o r  ou r  c o o l i e s  a s  Tar a s  t he  

Ylntaka by which p a s s  we r e - e n t e r e d  Hunza t e r r i t o r y .  On 

r each ing  B a l t l t  I t o l d  S a f d a r  A l l  a l l  t h a t  had passed 

and p l a c e d  b e f o r e  him the  p r e s e n t s  I had been gi ven,whl ch 

p l e a s e d  him v e r y  much. 

S a f d a r  A l l  had a r ranged  to give one of  h i s  

d a u g h t e r s  i n  marr iage  t o  Uzar Khan of Naglr  and so s e n t  

me a g a i n  t3 Kashgar dur j  ng t h e  f o l l o w l n g  y e a r ,  t o  see  If 

I c m l d  a r r a n g e  f o r  the  Daotai,  to send  a  marr iage p r e s e n t  

an& a l s o  to  g e t  some c l o t h  and rnater I a ' s  t h a t  he wanted 

i n  t h i s  connect i  on. This time I d i d  n o t  @ b y  Yarkand 

a s  I was t r a v e l 1  l n g  w i t h  Nazir  A l l  who was go ing  by  the 

q u i c k e s t  r o u t e  wi.th the p r e s e n t f  go ld  t h a t  was s e n t  

annua l ly  b y  the  btir to the Chlnese ,  and which 1 had 

promised t o  s ee  s a f e l y  t o  i t ' s  d e s t i n a t i o n .  

I t s  r e s e p t i o n  b y  t h e  Chinese au thor i  t i e s  was 

a v e r y  impress ive  ceremony. A durba r  was assembled 

which c o n s i s t e d  of the Uaotai  and sl x t y  o t h e r  Chinese 



o f f i c i a l s ,  who s a t  on h i s  ri g h t  and l e f t ,  each  decorate^ 

wi t h  peacock f e a t h e r s  according t o  h i s  r ank .  Vhlle I 

was s t i l l  some way o f f  a  s h o u t  was m i  set1 t h a t  t h e  Ichan 

of KanJut had brought  fifteen bags  of g o l d ,  a  p l a t e  wds 

brought  to  me and the gold was p laced  upon t h i s  and 

covered w i  th a s i l k  handkerchief .  Then I reached about 

twenty paces from the Uurbar a l l  those y r e s e n t  r o s e  t o  

t h e i r  f e e t  making s t r ange  motions wi th  t h e i r  hands,  

a lmost  a s  though they were worshipping the g l d ,  w h l l s t  

a  s a l u t e  of twelve guns was f i r e d .  A weighing s c a l e  was 

a l l  rp,ady and a s  soon a s  the gold had been weighed out 

ten  s o l d i e r s  took i t  up and layed I t  uyon the  D a o t a i ' s  

f e e t .  He then asked m how the Mir was and whether the 

s t a t e  of t h e  crops was good e t c . ,  e t c .  Before I l e f t  

the Ourbar he asked me the  r eason  f o r  my vi si t and I 

t o l d  him qui t e  f r a n k l y  t h a t  i t  was t~ a s k  f o r  'pandar '  

( t h e  marriage c o n t r i b u t i o n  t h a t  f r i e n d s  and r e l a  ti ons 

make ) a s  a  marriage had been  arranged betwe en one of 

Safdar  A l i ' s  daugh t s r s  with the r u l i n g  f a m i l y  of  Nagir. 

During my s t a y  I showed a l e t t e r  from Safdar  

All in  which he s t a t e d  t h a t  i n  the p rev ious  year  d e n  

Colonel tiramchuski was on h i s  way back from Hunza he 

had k i l l e d  t h r e e  tame Yaks. I was r e f e r r e d  to t h e  

, Hussian Consul to  whom I was t aken  by a  Chinese off l  c i a l .  

lie received me very g rac ious ly  and admi t t ed  t h a t  the 

f a c t s  were t r u e  saying  t h a t  the p a r t y  had had to k i l l  







these  Yaks a s  i t  was f a c e d  wi th  s t a r v a t l  on, b u t  i t had 

thought that they belonged t o  S a r i  k u l i s .  He was qul t e  

w i l l i n g  t o  pay any p r i c e  t h a t  I suggested and when I 

mentioned f i f t y  r u p e e s  each he immediately gave me the  

money. 

He asked me to dl ne with  him t h a t  n i g h t  a & ,  

a f t e r  ge tti ng perm1 s s l  on from my Chi nese h o s t s ,  I pre  s en t -  

ed myself a t  h i s  house. We d i n e d  i n  t he  European s t y l e  

and h i s  wife was t h e r e  wi t h  hlm. A t  f i r s t  the conver-  

s a t i o n  was d e s u l t o r y  b u t  g radua l ly  he became more and 

more i n q u i s i  t i v e  about Hunza and t o  h i s  q u e s t i o n s  I 

re t u rned  r e p l i e s  some t i  me s di s c r e e  t and s h o r t ,  some t i  mes 

voluminous and c a r r i  ed a lmos t  to  the  p o i n t  o f  exaggera t ion .  

He sa id  t h a t  he hoped a  r e p r e s e n t a t i v e  from t h e  Czar 

would soon b e  s e n t  t o  Hunea and t h a t  me would t h e n  a l low 

him a l s o  to pay us a  v i s i t  a d  i n  any case r e f r z i n  from 

murdering any 3 u s s i a n  t r a v e l l e r  who wanted to pas s  t h a t  

way. To t h i s  I asked who murdered t r a v e l l e r s  and why ? 

He begged me t o  w r i t e  him a  l e t t e r  on my r e t u r n  to 

Hunza; 1 informed him t h a t  1 was unable t o  w r i t e  b u t  

t h a t  1 would mention the  m a t t e r  to S a f d a r  A l i  t h ~ u g h  

1 could n o t  p ron i  s e  t h a t  he would do so. Fina  i l y  he 

asked me whether  dashkam belonged to u s  or to the  Shinese  

axle 1 t o l d  him t h a t  i t  had come I n t o  our  p o s s e s s i o n  two 

y f ? a r s  a g o  b e f o r e  which i t  had belonge(1 to  Chine, which 



L 
l e d  lspe to t e l l  me t h a t  t h e  Chinese  aCmini s t r a t i  on mas 

s o  r o t t e n  t h L a t  he could. t a k e  a l l  Kashgar ia  w i  UI t h e  

l e g a t 1  on s e r v a n t s  were he s o  I n c l i n e d .  

A f t e r  f i v e  h o u r s  I took  lea.ve of him and was 

p r e s e n t e d  w i t h  many p r e s e n t s  i r i c lud ing  a  s t i c k  e a t  had 

a  k n i f e  and o t h e r  implerllents I n  the  h a n d l e ,  a chappan 

( o v e r c o a t )  o f  b t a w t  and a  hundred c a r t r i d g e s  f o r  the 

r i f l e  arki ch Safdar  A l i  had m n f i  s c a t e d  from Al i f  Beg 

of S a r i k u l  a d  w i t h  whl ch on ny r e t u r n  j ourney I s h o t  

tvm Ovis P o l l  v ~ i  t h  two shots .  

1 t o l d  the  Uaotal  a l l  t ha thad  b e e n  s a i d  dur ing  

d i n c e r  and he t o l &  s e  t h a t  t h e  Husslan Corlsl~l  was a  

g r e a t  mi schief-monger though I no t i  ceb U:a t he was held 

I n  c o n s i d e r a b l e  awe and c o n s u l t e d  by the Chinese  when 

anyth l ng went wrong. 

Af t e r  two weeks s g e n t  ve ry  p l e a s a n t l y  i n  

Hashgar I r e  turneC to Hunza v i a  Ti  z n i f ,  where I met 

M r .  Uacartney and. Captain  Younghusband wbo had come U2 

t h e r e  t o  s t a r t  the  Bri  t i  s h  Consula te  and were on  the  l r  

bay to  Aktash and V ~ g h a b .  1 had vd t h  me s i l l ;  worth 

a b o u t  f i v e  hundrefi r u p e e s  a s  a  p r e s e n t  from We l lao ta i  

f o r  the b l r ,  a Kalvaki pony and some o t h e r  t h i n g s  t h a t  

I had purcl?asect a t  Safdar  A l l ' s  r e q u e s t .  

In t h e  summer of t h a t  y e a r  the marr i  age b e  tween 

Uzar  ha& son and S a f d a r  A l i  * s  daughte r  t o o k  p l a c e  and, 

a l though  I t  appsared on t h e  s u r f z c e  t h a t  f r i e n d s h i p  

existec! between the  t w o  count r . i es ,  t h e r e  w a s  l l t t l e  doubt  



b u t  t h a t  t h e  o l d  enmity  was on ly  l y i n g  dormant and was 

ready to b r e a k  o u t  on the s l i g h t e s t  p rovoca t ion .  I n  

order t o  h e l p  thi rigs Wazir T a r a  Reg had been made m i l k -  

f a t h e r  to b o t h  s iCeS  b u t  i t  soon became obvious  - i n  

f a c t  i n fo rma t ion  to th j  s e f f e c t  was s e n t  by S a f d a r  A l i ' s  

s i s t e r  T t h a t  he was p l a y i n g  a  cbuble game i n  the hope 

of making what he cou ld  o u t  of t h e  sl t u a t l  on. While 

p r e t end ing  t o  b e  l o y a l  t o  my f a t h e r  he  was of ' fe r lng  t he  

throne of Hunza t o  Uzar Khan; whi le  p r e t e n d i n g  t o  the  

people t h a t  he was t h e i r  f r i e n d ,  he f u l l y  in tended  

r e d v i n g  t h e  t a x e s  t h a t  my f a t h e r  had abo l i shed  a s  soon 

a s  he had enough power t o  do i t .  He was c o n t i n u a l l y  

p reach ing  h a t r e d  of t h e  n r i  t i s h  t o  b o t h  s i d e s  t e l l i n g  

bo th  the  U i r s  t h a t  i f  t h e y  d i d  n o t  p r e v e n t  i t  Hunza and 

Nagir would b e  occupied 

S a f d a r  Ali asked me what  I thought  ought t o  b e  

done abou t  i t  and on c o n s i d e r a t i o n ,  I r e p l l e d  t h a t  I f  a l l  

the t h i n g s  h e  had t o l d  me about  Tara Beg were t r u e  he 

should undoub t eC ly  b e  p u t  to dea th .  Th i s ,  however, the 

Mlr r e f u s e e  t o  co m d  s o  t h i  ngs  went from bad  t o  worse. 

I t  was a t  t h i s  time - i n  1891 - t h a t  Colonel  

Durand r e t u r n e d  t o  ~ l l g l  t. He wished t o  sene a l e t t e r  

t o  Kashgar. and , when Safdar  A l i  ref 'usee to  l e t  i t  go 

through,  he r e a l l  sad what  had happeneO and i m v e d i i t e l ~  

P reya red  a n  expedi tl on a g a i n s t  Runza. 

A t  t h i s  t ime I was a t  I r shad  wl t h  a  srral l-  fo rce  



of t h r e e  hundred men s t a t i o n e d  t h e n  to  p r e v e n t  the 

Yeh ta r  of Uhi t r a l  frorrl e n t e r i n g  t h e  c o u n t r y .  1,Vhile 

I r ece ived  u r g e n t  o r d e r s  from S a f d a r  A11 to 

re t u r n  t o  ~ a l  t i  t immediately.  I t r a v e l l e d  n i g h t  and day 

and a r r i v e d  i n  t v ~ e n t y  f o u r  hours .  S a f d a r  Ali had been a t  

Khanabad b u t  h i s  f o r c e s  had b e e n  d e f e a t e d  t h e r e  an3 he 

had re  tu rned  t o  Hunza. He wanted rre t o  go o v e r  i n t o  Chjna 

and r a i s e  an army t o  h e l p  him, b u t  I t o l d  him t h a t  China 

was too f a r  away and t k a t  even i f  t h e y  were v i  11 ing  to 

come t o  h i s  a i d  i t  woulC be  l o n g  b e f o r e  t h e y  could do 

anyth ing  to h e l p  him. He then  asked me to go t o  

L i e u t e n a n t  Manners-Smith and sue  f o r  peace  so according-  

l y  o f f  1 went towards N i l  t where t h e  f o r c e s  t h e n  were, 

b u t  b e r o r e  I r eached  W:ere 1 hea rd  t h a t  t h e  p l a c e  had 

f a l l e n .  I rcet Tara  Beg and Naear Khan r e t u r n i n g  and they 

t o l d  me t h a t  i t  was t h e n  too l a t e  t o  t r e a t  w i t h  the enemy 

md t h a t  f l i g h t  was a l l  t h a t  was l e f t  to  them. 

m-en I r e tu rned  t o  a a l t i t  I found  tha t  Sa fda r  

Al l  and Uzar Khan had a l r e a d y  s t a r t e d  on t h e i r  f l i g h t .  

1 had p r e v i o u s l y  t o l d  them *-at I thought  t h i s  was f o d i s h  

and had advlsed  them t o  a w a i t  the c o m l ~ g  o f  t h e  B r i t i s h  

and e x p l a i n  t o  them t h a t  Tara S e g  had been a t  the b o t t o n  

02' a l l  the  t r o u b l e ,  b u t  they would n o t  heed my adv ice .  

The consequence was t h a t  t h e  whole c o u n t r y  was i n  a  veI-Y 

u n s e t t l e d  s t a t e  and c o n s t e r n a t i o n  was r i f e  among the  

Mot ibars  and o t h e r  geop le  of impor tance.  I d i d  my b e s t  to  



p a c i f y  them b u t  d thou t success  and abou t fou r  hundred 

men from Hunm and Naglr  l e f t  t he i r  coun t ry  and f l e d  

towards Kashgar and, as SafCar All , had *aken my fami ly  

with him i n  h i s  h u r r i e d  d e p a r t u r e ,  1, p e r r o r c e ,  had t o  

go too. 

1 caught  up wi th  Safdar  A l i  a t  ChuJJ ad Bai  and 

found t h a t  Uzar Khan was there too. A 1 1  the Motlbars  o f  

s a r i k u l  had c o l l e c t e d  t h e r e  - T l l l a  Khan, Yakub Khan, 

Muhabat Shah 9 Say1 d Shah Ta l lb  and Asman Beg Kirghi s of 

Taghdambash - b u t  no one had taken any s t e p s  t o  f u r n i s h  

the  r e f u g e e s  w i t h  s u p p l i e s .  1 ) i r e c t l y  I a r r i v e d  t h e r e  I 

ordered t h a t  t h r e e  Khargahs should  be p i t ched  an l  some 

p r o v i s i o n s  produced a f t e r  vhich a  g r e a t  d e a l  more r e s p e c t  

and c o u r t e s y  was shown to our p a r t y .  

On the f o l l o w i n g  day w e  reached DafCar - a 

m a l l  p l a c e  lnhab i t ed  o c c a s l o n a l l  y by  Nomads - where 

f o u r  sheep  were p r e s e n t e d  to me and from here  S a f d a r  A l l  

went on a day ahead. Yrom Dafdar we went t o  J u r  goo 1 and 

thence t o  Tughnan Shahr where Sa yld Shah Ta l ib  f ed  a l l  

f o u r  hundrea r e f u g e e s .  

From the re  we marched to  S a r i k u l  where the 

l o c a l s  a t  f i rs t  r e f u s e d  to a l l o w  us to occupy the f o r t  

a s  t hey  f e a r e d  the  Chinese a u t h o r i t i e s  might o b j e c t ;  

on my t e l l i n g  them, however, t h a t  I was w i l l l n g  to take 

a l l  r e s p o n s i b i l l  t y  and t o  pay any f i n e  t h a t  si&-t be 

imposed they  withdrew t h e i r  o b j e c t i o n s  1 and Safdar 



A l l  took up our  abode t h e r e ,  on the under s t a n d i n g  t h a t  

i f  the  tihinese should send men Were we m u l d  evacuate 

I t  f o r  them. 

A t  t h a t  ti me Karim Beg mas a t  Tung b u t  Yakub 

Shah and T u l l a  Bai vreIhe v r i  t h  u s  a t  S a r i k u l .  

O u r  numbers were noted down and s e n t  to .the 

man Daotai  a t  Kashgar and, a s  the re  were too many of us 

t o  be  supported by  t h e  l i m i t e d  r e s o u r c e s  of t h e  m u n t r y ,  

vazi r Tara Beg and twenty of  h i s  men went t o  T i z n i f ,  a 

hundred men were s e n t  t o  Chosman and a n o t h e r  hundred to 

Tughnan and Kazghan. I t k n  summonec! a1 1 the  l o c a l  head- 

men md suggested t o  them t h a t  unt i  1 news came from the 

Chinese a u t h o r i  ti e s  we should be given the  same food as 

they had i n  t h e i r  houses. To t h i s  they demurred b u t ,  

p a r t l y  by Cajo lery ,  p a r t l y  by s imula ted  wrath a d  chief ly  

because 1 po in ted  out  to them t h a t  i f  any of t h e  refugees 

were t o  d i e  of s t a r v a t i o n  they would b e  h e l a  r e spons ib le  

b y  the Chl nese,  they consented an& divi ded the p a r t y  up 

between the ne i  ghbouring v i l l a g e s  where they were f e d ,  the 

s a l e  of t h e i r  weapons p rov id ing  money t o  pay f o r  what 

they consumed. For ty  sheep be longingto  Sa fda r  ~ l i ,  t h a t  

were graz ing  near by,  were d r i  ven i n  and t h e y  were 

s laughtered  f o r  him and h i s  fo l lowers .  

After a  week we heard t h a t  Jangdar in  w i t h  a 

hundred s o l d i  e r s  would soon be a r r i v i n g  an& , a s  we had 

promised t o  leave  the f o r t  i f  I t  was wanted b y  the Chinese, 



we made arrangements f o r  accommodation a t  Tughnan Shahr, 

sent  our f a m i l i e s  the re  and ourse lves  went t o  meet 

~ a n g d a r i n  a t  Taarama a s  Safdar  A l i  f eared  t h a t  the  

~ e r i k u l i  s m l  g h t  give him a wrong impre ssl on of u s  I f  they 

spoke to  him f irst .  

The Chinese o f f i c e r  recognised me a t  once and 

asked me what bad happened. 1 gave him a s h o r t  account 

t b n  and a f t e rwards ,  i n  s e c l u s i o n  of h i s  Khirgah, told 

him the whole s to ry .  

He s a i d  t h a t  the  S a r l k u l i s  had lnformecl him 

t h a t  t h e  J j r l t i s h  had a t tacked Hunza unprovoked ard had 

dr iven tk people o u t  of t h e  country. I was able  t o  t e l l  him 

t h a t  the  r e v e r s e  was tM case a s  the 14ir had promised t o  

keep a road  open f o r  Engl i sh  Mails  going to  Kashgar and 

to r e f u s e  passage t o  any ;WssIans who m i g h t  wlsh to visit 

the oountry: owing, however, t o  the  Uachinations of Taz i r  

Tara Beg and Uzar Khan of Nad r ,  i n  whose schemes he was 

b u t  a t o o l ,  he had nade a s e c r e t  agreement wi t h  Russia  and 

had r e f u s e d  to a l l o w  the ma1 1 to go throu gh, wi t h  the con- 

sequence t h a t  the B r i t i s h  had a t tacked h i s  country,  con- 

quered i t  and t h a t  now he was a suppl icant  a t  the throne 

of t h e  E m ~ e r o r  af China. 

He asked me what t h e  t o t a l  number of r e f igees  was 

and 1 t o ld  him t h a t ,  inc luding  worzlen a d  ch i ld ren ,  i t  was 

f i v e  hundred s o u l s  from Hunza and about three hundred from 

Nagir and t& t, thanks to  the generosi t Y  of the SarikU1 



M o t t i b a r s ,  food  had been  produced f o r  them a l l  f o r  the  

sake of  the good name of t h e  Emperor of China. Thl s 

p l e a s e d  him ve ry  much. 

He the  n  summoned t h e  Sar i  ku l l  s and  a  sked them 

where h i  s men were g o l n g  t o  b e  accommoc?ated an& was i n -  

formsd t h a t  the  f o r t  had b e e n  commandeered b y  me on a r r i v a l  

b u t  that on h e a r i n g  of t h e  p r o x i m i t y  of t he  Chinese t roops ,  

i t  had been  evacuaterl  and o t h e r  s h e l t e r  had b e e n  found  Tor us, 

?hi s a l s o  p l e a s e d  him. 

The Jangda r ln  t o l d  u s  t h a t  he b r o u g h t  s u p p l i e s  

w l  t h  him from Kashgar b u t ,  t h a t ,  he r e g r e t t e d  t h a t  t h e  

wheat was n o t  ground. He t h e n  went on t o  t a l k  about  Hunza 

af f a i r s  and s a l  d  t h a t  everyone knew t h a t  the  peop le  of  Hunza 

t a r e  f 'ools b u t  he though$ t h a t  I ,  hav tng  more sense  t han  

r?as t 3f them, might  have p reven ted  them from commi t t i  ng the  in-  

e f f a b l e  b lunde r  of making an open b r e a c h  w i t h  t h e  Bri  t l s h  

Government. I rep11 ed t h a t  I di d w h a t  I cou ld  and con- 

dernned w a r s  a g a l n s t  Bmperors b u t  murrours had a r i s e n  t h a t  

I had taken br lbes , f rom b o t h  s i d e s  and a f t e r  t h a t  I could 

say no no re .  He asked me I f  t h e  Ki r  wanted a war a g a i n s t  

the B r l  t i s h  and 1 r e p l i s d  t h a t  I could  n o t  answer t h a t  f o r  

him; he a l s o  wondered why 1 had n o t  w r i t t e n  t o  him through 

the Mirls munshi to whl  ch I r o p l l e d  t h a t  the Nunshl could 

w r i t e  a t  the  M i r l s  d i c t a t i o n  a lone .  

The follow1 ng day we star t ed  o f f  f o r  Tashkurghan 

where a l l  the  r e f u g e e s  had been  asserribled i n  a  f i e l d  t o  meet 

w h s  Chinese Off lc .? r .  Among them ware Uzar Wan of Naglr. 



anC Tara Beg, the  l a t e  Vaz i r  of H u n ~ a .  F i f t y  Chinese 

s o l d i e r s  marched In f r o n t  of' u s ,  f i f t y  beh ind  anC a t  

the extrsrne r e a r  came t h e  Sarl ku l l  Mot t ibars .  ~t h i s  

r e q u e s t  I in t roduce t i  t h e  n o t a b l e s  mong  the r e f u g e e s  to 

~ a n g d a r l n  b u t  he took I l t t l e  n o t i c e  of them i n  s p i t e  of 

the f a c t  t h a t  t hey  a l l  had t h e l r  bands  p l a y i n g  and f l a g s  

waving i n  h i s  honour and, a s  soon a s  t h e  f o r t  was reachec! 

he asked me t o  send them all away sayin:; t h a t  he w:)uld 

see  them on the  f o l l o w i n g  d a y  when r a t l o n s  were to be 

d i s  t r i b u t e t l  m o n g  them. 

Wazir Tara Beg had been bid to  r e  t u rn  to TI  znl f 

b u t  he remained o u t s l e e  the f ~ r t  a f t e r  the o the r  people  

had d i s p e r s e d  and was f i n a l l y  s e n t  f o r  b y  J angda - in ,  who 

was s e a t e d  w i t h  t h r e e  crr f o u r  o ther  Chlnsse o f f i c i a l s  

and an i n t e r p r e t s r .  

On b e i n g  i n t e r r o g a t s d  a s  t o  why he had 

r e l i n g u i  shed Hunna t e r r l  t o ry  to the B r i  t i  s h  anc! f l e d  i n -  

t o  Chine,  h e  r e p l i e d  t h a t  the Sri t i  sh  had conquered the  

country  a s  t h e y  Pad been refuse(!  the ri g h t  of way through 

I t ;  t h a t  W.e r ' . ight o r  way had been re fused  on ly  because 

the Mir considered t h a t  the Grea t  Emperor of China would 

no t  l i k e  i t; b u t  China har? s e n t  them no he lp  a l t hou t jh  

J angda r in  had vjsitc,c? Hunzn b e r o r a  and had exgressec! a  

d e s i r e  t h a t  ths  j3rl t i  s h  s h > u l d  no t  en ter  IIunza t e r r i  tory .  

The re fo re ,  he  concluded,  the yeogle  of Hunza had cone a s  

r e f u 5 e s s  f i r  the p r o t e c t i o n  of the Khabn.  Jangdarln 
2 



then asked what p r e s s u r e  had been brought  to bear  on 

t h e  people and what s t e p s  they  had taken to  defend 

thernselves ana was arlsweracl by Tara Beg t t l a t  tue Br i t i sh  

had attacitecl in overwneltning numbers and,  a l tnough the 

Hunaa people  had wraught havoc among tnem, tney  hau been 

outnumbered and forced  to f l y .  

Janguar in  r e p l i e d  t h a t  he was t e l l i n g  l i e s  and 

was a rogue ,  and t h a t  anyway i f  he nad n o t  been such a 

coward he would hava chosen to  d i e  on t h e  b a t t l e f i e l d  

r a t h e r  than  to r u n  away, adding t h a t  i t  was due  to  him 

a l o n e  t h a t  t h e  B r i t i s h  were now i n  p o s s e s s i o n  of' Hunza. 

I t o l d  Tara Beg t h a t  he m u s t  remember t h a t  h e  was now 

t a l k i n g  before  a r e p r e s e n t a t i v e  o f  a g r e a t  power ana that 

l y i n g  words such a s  tnose  t h a t  he had been accustomed to 

u s e  i n  Hunza would n o t  h e l p  h i m  now. 

We were then d ismissed  b u t  I was immediately 

r e c a l l e d  a s  K a r i m  Beg had a r r i v e d  from 'lung. I was 

g i v e n  a sheep, e i g h t  s e e r s  of r i c e  ana twenty s e e r s  of 

f l o u r ,  b u t  to Tara Beg notil ing was given aIia ne re turned  

a lone  to  I ' iznif .  

Two days l a t e r  a hundrea pony l o a d s  c o n s i s t i n g  

of u n s o u n d  wheat and makki a r r i v e d  ana a l l  t h e  ref 'ugees 

were assembled before  a b i g  Khargah t h a t  was y i  tched a t  

Xara l i  and i s s u e d  w i  t n  food. Tara Beg made a speech 

thanking t h e  Jangdar in  f o r  this good food b u t  I considered 

t h a t  somet'ning ought  to be done about  t h e  u n s o u n d  wheat 

a s  ve had noth ing  to gr ind i t  with,  so I asked h i m  if i t  





had, i t  cont inued,  waged. war on t h e  Government and had 

now s u s t a i n e d  d e f e a t ,  bu t  if tie r e t u r n e d  to Hunza no 

ham would b e f a l l  h i m .  If  he  d i d  n o t  wish t o  r e t u r n  

Moh'd Nazim Khan should be s e n t  back to  assume cont ro l  

o f  t h e  count ry .  T h i s  was t o l d  t o  me by  Jangdar in  who 

summoned me p r i v a t e l y  to  h i s  presence  and read  t h e  l e t t e r  

t o  me, v i  t h o u t  any i n t e r p r e t e r  even, be ing  t n e r e .  I 

wished f o r  conf i rmat ion  of t h e  news be fo re  s t a r t i n g  b a a  
l r / ;A-  4:) J ( /, +. ! .-t , J. 

and t h e  fo l lowing  day a  l e t t e r  came  harka ash asking 

me to  r e t u r n  wi th in  a week and t a k e  up t h e  r e i n s  of 

g o v ~ m e n t *  i i a jo r  Stewart  was tnen a t  Bal t i t  and tnere 

were detachments o f  t roops  under Captain hialone a t  

Khaiber and Captain T r a i l  a t  G i l m i t .  

I asked Jangdar in  t o  l e t  me s e e  t n e  Colonel 's  

l e t t e r  and he showed i t  to me. I a l s o  askea him what 

h e  advised  me to  do about  tine m a t t e r  and what he thought 

would become of safdar  A l i  . His r e a a i n g  of t h e  s i t u a t i o n  

was t h a t  t h e  m i t i s h  Goverment  c e r t a i n l y  d i d  n o t  want 

to  have t h e  bother  o f  running Hunza b u t  t h a t  a s  sa fda r  A l i  

had committed two grave crimes - t h e  murder o f  his Father  

by which he had c u t  away t h e  branch upon which he was 

s i t t i n g  and t h e  f i g h t  a g a i n s t  t h e  Governnent - i t  was 

u n l i k e l y  t h a t  he could be r e - i n s t a t e d ;  I ,  on the  o t h e r  

hand, was i n  favour  wi th  t h e  Government and owilzg to  my 

i n f l u e n c e  wl t h  tne  People a s  a  d i r e c t  descenaant  of the 

l a s t  G i r ,  was i n  a b e t t e r  y o s i  t i o n  t o  a s s m e  t h e  u i r r i  

than anyone e l s e  was. H e  a l s o  t o l d  me q u i t e  f r a n k l y  t h a t  



I could expect  no h e l p  from the  Chinese lxvernaent  who 

did no t  in tend  to  become embroiled w i t h  the B r i t i s h  on 

so t r i v i a l  a  p r e t e x t ,  and advised m e  very s t rong ly  to  

do a s  colonel Durand wished and r e t u r n  to  trle country. 

I decided to  do this bu t  f i rs t  I ask Jangdarin 

to get  r i u  of 'I'ara Beg a s  I f e l t  s u r e  t h a t  ne would cause 

t rouble were ne a l s o  to r e t u r n .  

Af te r  some d i scuss ion  we deciueu t h a t  i t  woula 

be b e s t  if l e  could senG hirn to Kashgar so t h a t  he would 

be unable to i n f l u e n c e  t h e  refugees  a g a i n s t  rue aria triere 

would then be more l i k e l i n o o d  of' t h e i r  r e t u r n i n g  witn me. 

Safdar A l i  was accordingly s e n t  f o r  on the following 

morning and i t  was suggesteu to  him t h a t  he should send. 

h i s  Vazir t o  t h e  Daotao a t  Kashgar and 5oh.d Nafis or  

liohgd Nazim to  Yarkand to he lp  r a i s e  a f o r c e  of Chinese 

s o l d i e r s  w i t h  t h e  he lp  of  whom he copld re-an tsr h i s  

kingdom and expel tile R r i  ti sh. The a - 0  knew 

T u r k i  wel l  a s  he had accepteu lslarn a t  tne time of 

Sadaulat ,  tnough ne uad r e j e c t e d  i t  again a s  soon a s  i t  

was s a f e  to  uo so ,  ana I were t ~ e  o n l y  people $ resen t  

a t  t n i s  i n t e r v i e w  and I i n t e r p r e t e a  f o r  Safaar A l i .  

Sat'dar fii was very much please& w i  t n  tnese 

PI'Oposals and suggestea t h a t  i t  [night be b e t t e r  if I 

Were to go to riashga3. i n s t e a u  of Tara Beg, a s  he tnougnt 

t h a t  I n i g h t  have more i n f l u e n c e  with t n e  autilori t i e s  

t h e r e  than he  could command and he r e 1  t t h a t  once he got  



o u t  of h i s  si gh t  he might be up t o  solne new m i  schief. 

Jangdarin asked me if 1 Were w i l l i n g  go anu 1 r e p l i e u  

t i l a t  I would very  much l i k e  to  do so b u t  t h a t ,  a s  m y  

u o t h e r  was very o l d  and my c n i l d r e n  were very young, I 

could n o t  l e a v e  them. I suggested. ,  however, t h a t  

Mohgd N a f i s  might  go ana he and Gul hiO'Llgd who knew 'l'urki, 

were despatched two days l a t e r .  

Afterb they haa gone J a n & a r i n  c a l l e a  f o r  me 

and urged me t o  r e t u r n  to  Eunza w i t h  a s  li t t l a  uelay as 

l ~ o s s i h l e ,  and we ~ r o c e e a e d  to  concoct  a  s t o r y  t h a t  w o u l d  

prove p leas ing  to  Safdar A l l  and l u l l  t o  r e s t  any 

susp ic ions  he  might have abou t my good f a i  t h -  safdar 

A l i  was, a c c o r i i n g l y ,  c a l l &  b e f o r e  him and told t h a t  

i t  was c o n s i d e r d  a a v i s a b l e  f o r  rae to  r e t u r n  to  HUnZa 

w i t h  a few b lo t t iba r s  so a s  t o  sway  t u e  yeoyle to  h i s  

cause. He was u a l i g n t e d  w'ilen he neard t n i s  b u t  baa0 

me t e l l  Janguar in  on nis berlalf - f o r  I f e l t  t n a t  he 

suspected me - t n a t  ne ( S a f d u  U i )  was trle e l d e r  and 

h e i r  to the  tnrone and he coulh cons ider  me only  a s  nis 

'neir apparent ;  t n i s  I t r a n s l a t e u  to Jangdar in  a s  a  

s t a t e 2 e n t  t h a t  s a f a a r  ui was agreab le  to  my going back 

t o  Hunza, looked on me a s  his successor  d u r i n g  h i s  

absence and would do a l l  i n  n i s  power t o  f u r t h e r  m y  

i n t e r e s t s *  I t  i s  sometimes a u s e f u l  t h i n g  to  be Your 
i n t e r p r e t e r !  

Safdar XLi was very a t t e n t i v e  t o  me a f te r  

t h i s  meeting and allowed F a z i l  and Daulat  Shah v a k i l  $0 



accompany me* Refore  I l e f t  ne impressed u2on lne t h e  

importance of d o i l ~ g  a l l  t h a t  I could  t o  r e c o n c i l e  t h e  

~overnrnen t  and 111s p e o p l e  t o  him and t o l d  me t h a t  if 

he were r e c a l l e a  to  Bunza I could  r u l e  a t  t i  t. fie 

went so f a r  as t o  s u g g e s t  t r l a t  this p r o ~ a i s e  should be 

pu t  i n t o  w r i t i n g  if I would swear i n  r e t u r n  t h a t  1 

would n o t  d e s e r t  his cause*  T h i s  l a s t  I r e f u s e  t o  do 

a s  I p o i n t e a  o u t  h a t  i t  was q u i t e  p r o b a b l e  t h a t  I 

would be impr i soned  by t h e  B r i t i s h  and i f  t h i s  happened 

I would be unab le  t o  keeg my o a t h  to  nirn. 

Summoning a l l  t h e  r e f u g e e s  I t o l d  t n m  t h a t  

I was r e t u r n i n g  t o  Hunza t o  i r e p a r e  t h e  way f o r  Safctar 

A l i  and a d v i s e d  tnem t o  acconJany me. J angda r in  a l s o  

t o l d  them t h a t  i t  would be w i s e r  f o r  them to  go s o  t h a t  

t hey  cou ld  be r eady  t o  acc la im Sa fda r  A l i  when he  

r e t u r n e d  w i t h  Chinese s o l d i e r s  to  reconquer  h i s  country .  

About t h r e e  hundred of  them - all excep t  t h e  gersol la l  

f r i e n d s  of  Sa fda r  A l i  - came w i t n  me. 

Karim Bai Beg, wno was n o t  on very  gooa t e r n s  

w i t n  Sa fda r  Ui, anu all t a a  s a r i k u l i  ~ i o t t i b a r s  gave me 

P r e s e n t s  b e f o r e  1 l e f t  a s  t ney  had a n  i a e a  t n a t  I was 

going back t o  r u l e  Hunza, f o r ,  wnen t n e  i nvad ing  f o r c e  

had r eached  Ja  tork!larl, Solonel  Ro be r t son  and ~ i e u  t 

l~ lanners - ,mi  t n  hau askeC wnere I was anu, on be ing  

i n f o r r ~ e a  t h a t  I had crossed. t h e  bo rae r ,  t o l d  the  deodle  

o f  Yunza t n a t  tney were to  send f o r  a s  he in tenaed  

to  make me i,:ir 



They despatcrled Noor00 to  c a t c h  me u$ and 

b r i n g  me back b u t ,  u n f o r t u n a t e l y ,  t h e r e  were some of 

Safdar  A l i ' s  f o l l o w e r s  behind. me and when they heard 

o f  his miss ion  they b e a t  him a m  so ld  h i m  i n t o  s lavery  

t o  a K i r g h i z .  1 heard t h i s  when I reached Ghujad Bai 

and ob ta ined  h i s  r e l e a s e  by t h r e a t e n i n g  to  r e p o r t  the 

~ i r g h i z  t o  t h e  Shinese f o r  having i n t e r f e r e c .  wi th  one 

o f  .ny x o t t i b a r s .  

F i v e  days be fo re  I s t a r t e d  Uzar ~ h a n ,  who had 

been r e f u s e d  asyluol i n  Cainese t e r r i t o r y ,  hau l e f t  f o r  

Nagir.  I overtooir n i m  wnen ne was encaclgea a t  Lupgaz 

and ne was so t e r r ' i f i  ed when ne saw tr la t  I had an escor t  

o f  Crlinese s o l d i e r s  t h a t  ile came t o  ine ana irnglorea me 

to  i n t e r c e d e  for Irim w i  t n  t u e  B r i t i s h  a u t h o r i t i e s .  I, 

however, t o l a  h i m  t h a t  t h e  t ime f o r  i n t e r c e s s i o n  was 

passec  b u t  I would do what I could .  

Safaar  A l i  r e f u s e d  to  al low h i s  uaughter  who 

had n a r r i e d  Uzar Khang s son go back w i  t n  h e r  husband. 

A t  Lupgaz I was met by Kharkash who had wi th  

hirn a  l e t t e r  f o r  me from Humayun Beg who  had r e t u r n e d  

fron C N t r a l  and had persuaded a l l  t h e  iho t t iba r s  t o  

come over  t o  my s i d e .  He had obtained. t h e  thumb 

impressions of them a l l .  I l a t e r  took the  messenger 

aside and t o l d  him to t ake  the  l e t t e r  on to Jangdar in  

who, a s  soon a s  he had read i t ,  had Safdar  fii bound 

hand and f o o t  ana taken to  Kasngar where he was i n t e r n e d  



in the f o r t  where Were a l s o  Tara Beg and h i s  son 

~ h e i r u l l a  who subsequent ly  d i e d  the re .  

I Proceeded 0x1 m y  way u n t i l  1 reached Khaiber 

where 1 went t o  v i s i t  Captain Malone. m is detachment 

objected to my Chinese e s c o r t  ca r ry ing  arms during the 

interview, they re fused  to give  them up and i t  looked 

a t  one time as  though t h e r e  might be t roub le ;  but  

Captain l lalone s a i d  t h a t  he could see  no reason why 

they should disarm and a f t e r  t h a t  everytning went well .  

Bt Passu I met Xajor Stewart  who advised me 

t o  s l eep  i n  a house and n o t  i n  a t e n t  i n  case someone 

snould t r y  and k i l l  me- I took h i s  advice and shared 

one w i t h  Xurnayun Beg who was awai t ing  rae there .  A t  

G i l r n i t  I met Gaptain T r a i l .  Tram the ra  I went to 

Atmadabad ana tnerlce to  a a l t i  t where 1 was made very 

Welcone, t h e  peogle,  who had been i n f ~ r m e d  by Colonel 

Stewart t h a t  I was r e t u r n i n g ,  l i n i n g  the road all the  

way from A 1  t i t  to  Sa l  t i t  anQ cheering,  weeping and 

crying o u t  t h a t  by t h e  grace of God I had been allowed 

to cone back to  them. I found t h a t  tne troops were 

s t a t i o n e d  i n  the  F o r t  and t h a t  ~ a j o r  Stewart nad taken 

up h i s  aboda i n  Shumal Bagh where safdar  Ali had l i v e d .  

TWO days a f t e r  my a r r i v a l  Uzar Khan was taken 

through Hunaa a s  a p r i soner  and was s e n t  to  ~ a s h m i r ~  

although h i s  ch i ld ren ,  wno were young, were alloweu to 

r e t u r n  to 1:agir wi tn  t n e i r h l o t h e r s .  On tne same 

Huuayan Beg aria t a e  z o t t i b a r s  Came to mf3 and asked 



i f  I was f i l l i n g  t o  remain i n  Hunza a s  M i r  o r  whether 

I wanted to  r e j o i n  Safdar  A l i  and r e t u r n  t o  Chinese 

t e r r i t o r y .  I t o l d  them t h a t  1 had come back to Hunza 

as  Colonel Durand haa s e n t  f o r  me and t h a t  now I was 

t n e r e  1 woulu c e r t a i n 1  y remain . 
On t n e  fo l lowing day 1 was summonea by 

Colonel Durana who askeu me to  g ive  him a  f u l l  account 

o f  wh'at hau happenea over  t h e  Chinese boruer .  Having 

recounted what has  a l r e a d y  been r e l a t e a  I t o l d  h i m  

t h a t  1 had heard t h a t ,  s i n c e  I l e f t ,  Sa fda r  h l i  had 

been bound and taken away to Kashgar ; h i s  f ami ly  had 

been s e n t  to t h e  Yarkand Jagi r  and the  remainder of 

t h e  r e fugees ,  who had not r e tu rned  wi th  me, had been 

c o l l e c t e d  b e f o r e  the  3ent  o f  t h e  Chinese o f f i c i a l  and 

t o l u  by  him t h a t  i t  haa been decided b y  t h e  B r i  t i s h  

Government and the  Xaperor o f  China t h a t  Safdar  A l i  

was u n f i t  t o  cont inue h i s  r u l e  and t h a t  t h e  DCirri of 

Hunza haa been confei- re^ upon me. yney were thereupon 

given r a t i o n s  and s t a r t e d  on t h e i r  r e t u r n  journey to 

Hunza ana s9011 ar'r;erwards we heard that trley had 

reachea hiisgar.  

The whole case mas r e f e r r e c  t o  co lone l  lXlrand 

and a f t e r  about  a week I heard t h a t  he had decided. t h a t  

tne  land  should be r e s t o r e d  to  me. he a l s o  asked me 

if  I could prove t h a t  my f a t h e r  had in tended  me ever 

to  r u l e  and I was a b l e  to  produce a  Sanad s igned by 







h i m  and wi tnes sed  by Hmayun Beg and Sikander  nhan 

i n  which i t  wds s t a t e u  t n a t  ne cons iae reu  me t o  be 

t h e  nex t  h e i r  a f t e r  Safaar A l l .  

'Re p a s s e &  a v e r y  y l e a s a n t  t ime wni le  t h e  

troops were a t  B a l t i t .  A t  f i rst  they  s t a r t e d  c u t t i n g  

down f r u i t  t r e e s  f o r  f i rewood b u t  t hey  were s toyped 

from doing  t h i s  when 1 mentioned t h e  m a t t e r  to  Major 

Stewart .  A f t e r  t h i s  v e r y  f r i e n d l y  r e l a t i o n s  e x i s t e d  

between u s  and I used  t o  p l a y  f o o t b a l l  and o  t h e r  s p o r t s  

wi th them.  M a J o r S t e w a r t w a s r e l i e v e a a n d i n h i s  

p l a c e  came a q a p t a i n  Bradshaw. J u s t  b e r o r e  this a l l  

my f ami ly  a r r i v e d  and I s e n t  o f f  F a z i l  t o  Yarkand to 

watch o v e r  my i n t e r e s t s  t h e r e  and Daula t  Shah to h i s  

hom e  i n  S l i  abad . 
soon a f t e r  my r e t u r n  to Hunza t h e  time of  

t h e  annua l  Jal  sa drew nea r  and 1, accompani ed by ;Qazir 

Humayun Beg and my c h i e f  elder 's ,  l e f t  f o r  G i l g i  t to 

a t t e n d  i t .  ~t was tlelu i n  t n e  Agency Garden anu a l l  

t h e  RaJas  o f  t h e  sur rounuing  s t a t e s ,  i n c l u a i n g  the  

Mehtar o f  Chitral ana nis Wazir ~ a y a t  Shah - f o r  t h e  

Chitral s u b s i d i e s  were paid. from G i l d i t  then - were 

t h e r e .  There was no r e p r e s e n t a t i v e  from Nagir ,  

however, a s  R a j a  Sikander  ~ h a n  and ~ h i s r o  ~ h a n  had 

gone down t o  C a l c u t t a  with 'Slazir Zada hloh'd and Some 

o f  m y  l l o t t i b a r s  w h i l e  I was sti l l  OVel* t h e  border9 

make t h e i r  o b e i s a n c e  to  t h e P r i n c 9 0 f  v a l e s *  had 



an i n t e r v i e w  wl t h  Colonel Durand on t h e  day a f t e r  

my a r r i v a l  i n  which he t o l a  me t h a t  I had done r i g h t  

i n  r e t u r n i n g  t o  Hunza w i  t h  most of  t h e  r e fugees  and 

t h a t  t h e  Government of l n d i a  had dec iaed  t h a t  1 was 

f i t  t o  be t h e  r u l e r  of t h e  country and t h a t  he would 

i n s t a l  me a t  t h e  Durbar .  He then  reminded me of 

t h e  promises  t h a t  had been made a t  t h e  time when 

Captain Younghusband had come through and t o l d  me 

t h a t  I must keep open a  road f o r  t h e  m a i l s  through to 

Kashgar and have no d e a l i n g s  w i  t h  t h e  I iussians.  

A t  t h e  Durbar he read  o u t  a sgeech to  t h e  

e f f e c t  t h a t  t h e  K i r s N p  had been confe r rea  on me and 

1 was lee up t o  his da i s  between two of11cers  wnere a 

k h a l a t  of KNrnkawb worth about  a  thousana rupees  was 

p u t  upon my shou lae r s .  A K h a t l i  pony was a l s o  given 

t o  me w i t h  a  magnif icent  golaen s a a d l e  c l o t h  upon i t ,  

which c l o t h  i s  s t i l l  i n  my possess ion  today. 

During t h a t  year small-pox broke o u t  i n  Hunza 

and Vazir  Humayan Beg was fo rced  h u r r i e d l y  t o  r e t u r n  to 

h i s  home before  t h e  J a l s a  was f i n i s h e d  a s  he  had 

infoxmation t h a t  his wife  was s u f f e r i n g  from t h e  d i sease*  

L a t e r  on i n  t h e  same year Major Stewart  developed. i t  and 

a doctor  had to  be s e n t  f o r  from G i l g i t .  

Colonel Durand accompanied me back to  HUnZa 

and we found on a r r i v a l  t h a t  t h e  F o r t  had been evacuated 

though i t  was i n  too bad a s t a t e  o f  r e p a i r  f o r  me t o  go 



and l i v e  t h e r e  then*  A l l  t h e  People o f  Hunaa were 

surnrnoneu to  appear becore trle F o r t  and &lone1 mrand  

reau ou t  a speech i n  which he s a i d  t h a t  t n e i r  p a s t  

t r ansgress io r~s  rlau been f o r ~ v e n  but  i f ,  i n  the  f u t u r e ,  

they again behaved a s  tiley had r e c e n t l y  aone they 

woulu be very s e v e r e l y  punisheu. 

~ f t e r  a  f i v e  days s t a y  i n  Hunea he Proceeded 

t o  Nagir where Zafar  Khan was then M i r ,  a f t e r  wnich he 

returnea to Gi lg i  t whence he went on l e a v e  the  following 

spring and was succeecied by Colonel Robertson. 

Tour months l a t e r  J angclarin and Yangchidarin, 

two t7hinese o f r i c i a l s ,  came by i n v i t a t i o n  to  Gilgi  t 

where they s tayed f o r  a  montil. Un t h e i r  way back to 

Kashgar they  were accompanied a s  f a r  a s  Bal ti t by Lajor  

Xobertson who, now t n a t  tne   ana ad had a r r i v d ,  was 

v i s i t i n g  B a l t i t  o f f i c i a l l y  to i n s t a l l  lae on my tnrone. 

I ruade arrange;;ients f o r  tile Y.A. alld 'his y a r t y  a t  

Karimabad ana a1 so i n v i  tea  trlern to a i n n e r  

g e a t  Burbar, t h a t  l a s t e a  f o r  two UaYSc was 

nelcl a t  wnich t h e  two Cnir~ese o r f i c i a l s  were p r e s e n t -  

Major Robertson had asked me which of  tlle two Cnirlese 

o f ' f i c i a l s  was t n e  senior  and I hau to ld  hiiil t n a t  a1 though 

Yangchidarii~ was s e n i o r  i n  rank t ~ e  was so b r a i n l e s s  t h a t  

had l i t t l e  in f luence ,  wi th  the consequence tha t  he 

Was given a  p l a c e  below Jangdarin.  During toe Illrbar 

t h e  Sanad was r e a a  o u t  and Major Rober.tson lea me from 



t h e  c h a i r  on which I was s i t t i n g  arid placecl me upon 

t h e  throne .  A cnoga was p laced  on my srloulaers,  guns 

were f i r e d  b y  botn  s i a e s  and 1 was congra tu la teu  by 

everyorle p r e s e n t  on be ing  a t  l a s t  i n s t a l l e u  a s  u i r  of 

Hunza. The Chinese who were t h e r e  had a e s i r e a  to  g i v e  

me p r e s e n t s  which they  had brought  w i t h  them f o r  tha t  

purpose ,  b u t  I was advised  n o t  t o  a c c e p t  them and when, 

d u r i n g  t h e  Durbar, they expressed a  wish to give  them 

t o m e  they were n o t  a l low& to do so .  The fol lowing 

day they  r e t u r n e d  t o  Kasgar b u t  before they went of f  

I t o l d  them t h a t  t h e  ques t ion  of t h e  annual t r i b u t e  

t h a t  was formerly p a i d  i n  go la ,  wobld have t o  be 

r e f e r r e d  t o  t h e  B r i t i s h  Government a f t e r  which I would 

l e t  tnem know what nacl been dec ided .  

Tnese Cninese o f f i c i a l s  were very much 

d i s p l e a s e d  a t  t h e  t r e a h e n t  t'ney haa r e c e i v m  ana 

complairled to  t n e  Dao t a i  t h a t  they  naa been i n s u l t &  

by my n o t  'naving p a i d  a  v i s i t  o f  ceremony to  them; 

t h a t  they had been a i s g r a c e a  a s  Jangdar in  was given a  

h igher  p l a c e  i n  Durbar than Yangchidarin, though I 

knew t h e  l a t t e r  was s e n i o r  and t h a t  i t  was e v i a e n t  

t h a t  Hunza had been conquered b y  t h e  B r i  t i s h  and was 

under t h e i r  sway.  hey a l s o  b e a t  Damesh, a  v a k i l  

I s e n t  w i t h  them. 

TWO Years l a t e r  Colonel Bruce came to G i l g i t  

as temporary B r i t i s ' n  Agent ana he to ld  me t h a t  the  



Government had dec ided  t h a t  I m i g h t  s t i l l  pay my annual 

t r ibu te  to  China. To th is ,  however, 1 dernurrea a s  

I pointed o u t  t o  him t h a t  having r e l a t i o n s  w i  t h  both 

sides was l i k e  s i t t i n g  between two s t o o l s .  ~ e ,  however, 

re tor ted  t h a t  if t h i s  was t h e  case  and one s t o o l  broke 

there was always t h e  o t h e r  to s i t  on and t h a t  no 

suspicion would a t t a c h  to  me a s  long a s  t h e r e  were 

f r i  end1 y r e 1  a t l o n s  between t h e  R r i  ti sh  Government and 

the  %peror  of 7 h n a  H e  d i d  make one s t i p u l a t i o n ,  

though, and t h a t  was t h a t  I saould l e t  the  f b l i  t i c a l  

Agent i n  Gi lg i  t s e e  tile l e t t e r  t h a t  accornpaniea trle 

g o l d ,  be fo re  i t was clesgatcned 

L a t e r  on i a j o r  Stewart  was t ransfer red  ana 

3aptain Younghusband, wlro b u i l t  a F o r t  a t  Uiabac.  and 

a house a t  B a l t i t ,  succeeaecl bin. 



Six months a f t e r  1 had r e c e i v e d  my Sanad, 

news came v i a  the Ch i l lng i  t h a t  there  was t roub le  i n  I 

I 

C h i t r a l .  The Mehtar, Alnanulmulk, had been  i l l  f o r  i 

some time a d  h i s  son Af'zalal Xulk had g radua l ly  \ 
t 

obta ined  con t ro l  of a f f a i r s  and on h i s  d e a t h  succeeded i 
i 
I him. ~ i z a m u l  Fulk ,  the r u l e r  of Yasln,  f l e d  to  Gi lg l t  i 

I n  t e r r o r  of hi s l i f e  an< two months l a t e r  Sher  a f s a l  

marched from Hadakshan w i  t h  a s n a l l  f o r c e  , overthrew 

Afza lu l  Mulk - whom he p u t  to dea th  - and r e i g n e d  In 

h i s  s tead .  H i s  r u l e  was s h o r t - l i v e d ,  however, a s  Civil  

Levis  under Humayan kleg from Hunza, and Zowara from 

Nagir,  joined ug wl th  the P u n i a l i s  and marched i n t o  

Chi t r a l  with Nizamul Mulk. A s h o r t  f i g h t  took p l a c e  

a t  oa rasan ,  Sher Afza l  f l e d  a d  NI zarnul ~ u l k  ascended 

the throne. 

Soon a f t e r  th l  s Captain Younghusband was 

t r a n s f e r r e d  to Chi t r a l  and Captain Gordon took h i  s 

p l a c e  i n  Hunza. The F o r t  a t  Aliabad was completed 

and the t roops  were moved t h e r e  f ram Karimabad. A f t e r  

Captain Gordon came Captain N a l ~ l e r ,  who was  Cell c e t e  

and unable t o  go about much and was very soon replaced  

b y  Captain P o r t  who was a l s o  qu ick ly  r e l l e v e d  b y  Captain 

Cuff (Gough). Re remalned f o r  a  year and was succeeded by 



captain L l i l es*  A t  tlds t ime - 1895 - Major Robertson 

was ?.A. i n  G i l g i t ,  2aptai;l Dew A . P . A .  Chi l a s  anci 

h p t a i n  Goraon A . P . A .  Chi t r a l .  

I t  was a u r i n g  t n i s  year  t h a t  Nizarnul U u l k  was 

murdered by A r n i r u l  M u l k ,  X a s t u j  P o r t  was beseiged by 

Sher Af'zul anc; U m r a  Khan, mi  ti sh  O f f i  c e r s  and l n d i a n  

t roops  had been k i l l e c i  a t  Darasan anc. Koghoosi and 

things looked ve ry  s e r i o u s  t:woughou t Chi t ra l  . 
x a j o r  Rober t son ,  t h e r e f o r e ,  s e t  o u t  w i t h  a 

fo rce  from G i l g i  t ,  which had mi t h  i t  f i f t y  l e v i e s  each 

from Hunza and Nag i r ,  t o  he12 t h e  Chi t r a l  g a r r i s o n ,  

l e av ing  L a j  o r  S t e w a r t  i n  ci large ot' t ~ l i n g s  i n  t a e  Agency. 

',V'tlen he g o t  t r l e re  he ~ ' e a l i s e c l  t h a t  t n i n g s  were very  

mucll more s e r - i ous  tllarl ae rlau L'orrnerl jr trloudnt ana s e n t  

back to G i l d  t t o  s e e  i r '  re ln l 'orcements  could be r a i s e a  

from Hunza and Nagir  a s ,  a t  t h a t  t ime,  no t roops  could 

come from I n d i a  as tile p a s s e s  were blocked w i t r l  snow. 

16ajor S t e w a r t  wro te  t o  u s  and a s k e ~  u s  w h a t  

we could  do and I had. a  conference  w i  t n  Haja Sikander  

Knan of I\iagir aria sug[;estau t o  him t h a t  now was t ne  t h e  

to  show o u r  l o y a l  t y  and g r a t i  tude  to tile m i  ti s h  

mvesnment f o r  r e t u r n i n g  o u r  kindaoms t o  u s ,  by e n l i s t i n g  

one man p e r  house  and sending this f o r c e  t 9  t h e  he lp  of 

t h e  S i r k ~ .  -4s h e  agreed t9  this 1 was a b l e  t 3  m t o  

9ap t a in  l i l e s  on t h e  Pollorring day and t e l l  him t h a t  We 

could r a i s e  a f o r c e  of t r iree thousanu man r i v e  



hundred c o o l i e s  between Xunza aria I Jag i r .  iie h a s t i l y  

r e y l i w i  t h a t  so many men mere n o t  r e q u i r e a  anu, ag 

r a t i o n s  were s h o r t ,  suggesteu t h a t  only  p ickeu rnen 

should be s e n t .  However w:len 1 r e p l i e u  t h a t  we 

w 3 u l d  p rov ide  o u r  own r a t i o n s  and t h e  c o o l i e s  to carry 

them, h e  gave i n  and we were a b l e  to  s t a r t  f o r  G i l g i t  

on t h e  day a f t e r  he l e f t  . A t  Chal t we countea our 

f o r c e  sna found t h a t  i t  nurnberea f i v e  thousand. 

m e n  we reached Nomal we found Captain Xi les '  

Uunshi ivlaulvi Sner hloh'd awa i t ing  u s  wi th  t h e  news that  

the  Government was very mucn p leased  w i t h  our  l o y a l t y  

i n  p rov id ing  so v a s t  an army ano. trlat d i f f e r e n t  r o l e s  

would be a l l o t t e u  t o  i t  a s  sgon a s  we reachea  G i l g i t .  

1 t seemeu improbable t'oat we  would be a b l e  t o  g e t  

enough f i r e w ~ o u  a f t e r  we had l e f t  Nomal so we co l l ec ted  

i t  t n e r e ,  cooked o u t  f i f t e e n  days r a t i o n s  and were 

reauy to  l e a v e  a t  once f o r  wnatever d e s t i n a t i o n  might 

be decided f o r  u s .  

On t h e  fo l lowing day we l e f t  f o r  G i l g i t  anh 

were met a t  t h e  b r idge  by  Captain Miles ,  who had come 

o u t  to  g r e e t  u s .  V i th  so many men i t  was d i f f i c u l t  

to  mQve qu ick ly  and i t  took u s  f i v e  hours  t o  g e t  a c r o s s  

t h e  r o p e  br idge  and r e a c h  t h e  Jawahar Singh Bagh where 

t h e  whole f o r c e  was c o l l e c t e d .  

' rents were s e n t  f o r  u s  a t  t h e  P o l i t i c a l  .Agents 

o r d e r s  and M i r  Sikandar Khan ana 1 shared one o f  them 

whi le  t h e  r e s t  were i s sued  to a s  many IvIo ttibars a s  







possible  

Soon a f t e r  our  a r r i v a l  the re  UUSM Snm 

xo h'd came to IJ s ana tolcl U S  t h a t  t n e  P o l i  ti ca l  Agent 

w i t n  h i s  s t a f f  would come to  i n s p e c t  our  men a t  four  

t i l i r t y  t h a t  a f te rnoon ana baae u s  have everytning 

ready a t  t h a t  hour. 

Llajor S tewar t ,  Captain Dew and a  mlone l  

Kelly, who 'had come w i  t n  a mixed f o r c e  from ttle 

Chilas s i d e ,  a r r i v e d  a t  t h a t  hour,and were de l ighted  

w i  t h  what tney saw. T'ney asked how many c o o l i e s  

we had w i  t i1  u s  and 1 t o l d  them t h a t  a t  the  mo~nent 

there  w e r e  f i v e  hundred but  t h a t  another  hundred 

could be r a i s e d  if they  lNere r e q u i r e d .  T h i s  

Pleased iviajor Stzwart  who to ld  me t h a t  a e  had amyly 

repaid  the  rewaras  t h a t  t h e  ~3ovwnment had snowered 

upon u s  w i  ttl this p r a c t i c a l  denons t ra t ion  of  help anU 

tiiat ne would te legraph to ttle .&veriment of' Ind ia  

t e l l i n g  tlle~q of our lojt'crl t y .  He went on to say t n a t  

ne r e g e t t ~ d  t l la t  t h e r e  was no woou f o r  our men, b u t  

I was a b l e  to  a s s u r e  i r i m  t h a t  we d i d  n o t  r e q u i r e  any 

a s  we had cookeu a l l  our r a t i o n s  f o r  t h e  next  f i f t e e n  

days a t  yoma1 and had p lacec  t h a n  i n  a  godown, wnich 

he tne!~  g1-0~et3ae'i t o  irlspezL . 
Te 1Nere s e n t  f o r  on the  fol10wiW day and 

:lajor Stey,rart t o l d  u s  t a a t  ne v~anteu f i f t y  t o  savefity 

coo l i e s  eacil from Hunza and 'dagil' to car ry  r a t i o n s  up 



:u:)l s where they were running  snor t i  he r - e y u i r e ~  

a huncr~'eu anu tlfiz:ity f i g h t i n g  men t~ :,yo wi tn  I=olo~lel 

K e l l y  to ?upis ,   lare re tLley voula be arrnecl w i t n  sniaers ,  

two hundred narl, t o  ahom s n i d e r s  fro:n G i l g i  t i ~ c ~ u l a  be 

i ssu $d, t o  hold t h e  Kargah and ;ne and Sikanclar Khan 

t 9  remain i n  G i l g i t  w i t h  t h e  remainder to s e e  t h a t  no 

t r o u b l e  a rose  t ! l e reb  

bcd3rlLi:l&lj t a e  v a r i o u s  g a r t i e s  s e t  o u t  on 

tila f 3llowind uay, d,otlmu XaFi s Knan anu Zar'yarast frorn 

Hullea ancL K ~ l i  SI'O K nan aflu Sul  t an  A l i  f r'orn N a z i ~ .  going 

w i t h  %lone1 K e l l y ' s  par t s '  ~ v i  tn f i v e  ilunurea c o o l i e s  

c a r r y i n g  a rnaunh eac t l .  

:Vazir Iiumayan Beg was orderea.  t o  go anead and 

a s s i s t  tha  f ~ r c e o n  t l l e i r  way to  hiastuj .  Up to Langar 

t h e r e  was l i t t l e  t r o u b l e  b u t  f r o n  t n e r e  on a g r e a t  deal 

3 f snow was n e t  w i t h  on tile Snanaur Pass ,  t n e  rnules were 

~ i n a 3 l e  to  haul  up t h e  guns which had t o  be manhandled 

ncross  by Eiunza Coolies. Owing t o  tile d i f f i c u l t y  of 

t n e  road Solonel Ke l ly  took only  men from Hunza, Nagir 

s \ l d  Punia l  wi th  h i m .  

I t  was found t n a t  t h e  men of  Laspur haa a lso  

r i s e n  and t a e  passage  t ~ u - O U L L ~  t r l a t  p l a c e  was ne la  a t  

Or~akawat b y  Sher Afzal . l n e  Hgnea coo l i  e s  succaeded 

i n  g e t t i n g  t n e  guns up on to  tL le  rleights above t n a t  

p l a c e  aria af te l-  sone a r t i l l e r y  f i r e  trle dunza f o r c e  was 

a b l e  t:, d r i v e  Sner Ar'Zal o u t  anu t r l u s  open t h e  - m y  b3 

z a s t u j  wnich was then taken without  much c i i f f i c u l t y .  



News was s h o r t l y  a f t e r w a r d s  r e c e i v e d  t h a t  a  

force  was app roach ing  ?hi t r a l  from Yalakand so Colonel 

~ e l l y  marched o n  t h i  t h e r  and a r r i v e d  t h e r e  s i m u l  tarleousl 

with t h e o t h e r  f o r c e .  'Ilhis f i n i s t l e d o f f  t ; ~ e r e b e l s  

wno f l e d .  A n i r u l  Mulk  was c a t u r e d  and taken away i n t o  

India,  Shujaul Mulk  - t l ler~ a  boy oS seven - was p lace& 

upon the  t n r o n e  arlu t d e  wn3le Force  rnarcir~eci back t o  

Gila t. 

Colonel Rober tson a l s o  r e t u r n e d  and t o l a  me 

tha t  t h e  Government were ex t remely  p l e a s e d  w i t h  a l l  t h a t  

me hau done and had serit him a  telegram to  t h a t  e f f e c t .  

He praser l ted  me with this w i r e  and I have i t  w i t h  me to  

th i  s day. 

.Is a  r e s u l t  o r  t h i  s t n e  1 e v i e s  who had taken 

p a r t  i n  t h e  o p e r a t i o n s  were given f u l l  pay and a  r'ewara, 

the 7 a z i r s  were ;iven a  medal and a  T inches t e r  Rifle 

each and we xirs were p r e s e n t s d ,  a t  t h e  nex t  Durba-, 

wit;? fif t e e 2  nunuI.ed r u p e e s  each,  a  medal ana a  sword 

of uoilour.  I w a s a l s o  p r e s e i l t e d w i t n a a o u b l e - b a r r e l e a  

Silot Sun. 

S i lo r t ly  a f t e r  tilis Zolonel 'liobertsoil went on 

l e a v e  and was succeahed a s  P.B. by J a j o r  Stewart*  who 

had heen a c t i n g  f 'or nim wni l e  he was away i n  C h i t r a l  an&, 

i n  tile c, ,arse o f  a few y e w s ,  tile Fo l i  t i c a l  ~ f ' f ' i c a  in 

Hunza and t h e  ;:unsni t n e r e  Were withclraml- 



\Jot l o n g  before  t h e  even t s  recorded i n  the 

l a s t  c'napt,er took p l a c e ,  when Captain b r a o n  was still  

,;.P . A .  Hunca, Loru Curaoil ( tnen Tile Hon. George Curzon) 

p a i u  u s  a  visit  acconpanied b y  Colonel Chamberlain and 

Chanan L a l ,  So;nnianUer o f  t h e  Jaurnu and Kashnir S ta te  

-tlorces. 

Zaptain a rdor1  anu 1 went to  G a r i l t  to  meet 

him and co~lducted him from t n e r e  t o  Karimabad where a 

carup hail been prepared f o r  h i m ,  a s  in those  days there 

was no bungalow wnere g u e s t s  coula  s t a j .  ~ o r d  Curzon 

t o l d  me - ttwough %lone1 Chamberlain, a s  he  nirnself 

c3uld n o t  speak any TJrdu - t h a t  ne wisned to  go to  

Sar ikul  over t h e  i t ingtaka Pass  and f r o u  t n e r e  to  Shi  Wall 

snd he asked me what the  road was l i k e .  He was most 

d i s t r e s s e d  when I t o l d  hiru t h a t  t h e  road through Shujal 

was very baa indeea  and t n e r e  were o n l y  a  few p l a c e s  

wLler e i t was go s s i b l  e  to  r i a e ,  a s ,  owing t o  ~ l i  s bad leg9 

walking gave nirn a g r e a t u e a l o f  p a i d .  I t a l d h i m ,  

however, t h a t  1 had two yaks t h a t  had been broken in for 

r i d i n g  and t h a t  they coula take him a g r e a t  p a r t  of the 

way. 

1 took then down t o  see  t n e  f o r t  which they 

adai red  very much. Colonel Chamberlain jok ing ly  asked 



m e  i f  i t  was t h e  "Mwankhanam.and I rep l ied .  i n  the  

same ve in  t h a t  i t  w a s  and, thougn un f i  t f o r  lurogeans  

to  live i n ,  was q u i t e  good e n o u ~ h  f o r  those  wnom the 

Sirkar had honoureu w i  trl t n e i r  f a v o u r .  

'l'he fol lowir lg  aay Colonel Ztliunbel-lain 

re tu rned  t o  G i l g i t ,  f o r  ne hau come t n e r e  t o  i r l spec t  

t h e  ~ a s h i r  S t a t e  Eorces  anu I ana Lord Curson s e t  

o f f  I n  tile o p ~ o s i  t e  c i r e c t i o n  t o w e i . ~ ~  t h e  Pamirs. 

I t was i n  t h e  miudle  of  August anc ttle 

s treams were i n  f l o o d ,  ana tnoudh sometimes we were 

ab l e  t o  r i d e  on ou r  Yaks, a t  o t h e r s  were were forced  

to walk, f o r  i n  t n o s e  d a y s  t h e  road  was very  uif 'f 'erent 

from what i t  i s  now. The f i r s t  aay we reacnea  Xtabau 

and from t h e r e  g roceeaea  to  Nazi~uzbaa w i  t n  g r e a t  

d i f f i c u l t y  as  t h e  r i v e r  was nigh ana t h e  f o r d  a i r ' r i c u l  t .  

Prom t h e r e  w i t h o u t  much d i f f i c u l t y  to Z i l m i  t ,  v:riicn we 

reached on t h e  tnird. day ;  G i l r n i  t to Passu;  Passu to  

Gircila rmiciiug o v e r  t h e  wide Ba tora  dl a c i  el* on our  Yade. 

Frorr~ rlere we rlaa t o  c r o s s  trle sust pass a s  trie r i v e l a  

was i n  f l o o a  anct f i n a l l y  rmeacnea t n e  Kllunjerab l i iver  

which was r o a r i n g  a o m .  

Knowi~lg t n a t  t r o u b l e  was t o  be e x y e c t a  on 

t h e  r o a d ,  1 had w i t h  me twenty s t a l w a r t  youths from dunria 

and w'nen I saw t h e  s t a t e  o f  t n e  ~ h u n j e r a b  s e n t  one,  Mazar 

.ai, on tds mare t o  s e e  i f  he  coulcl f i n d  a  f o r d *  

h x i o u ~ l  y we watched a s  he fo rced  t h e  Inare into the  



s t r e a m ;  deepe r  and d a e p e r  t h e y  went  u n t i l  suduenly 

t h e  mare  l o s t  h e r  f o o t i n g  and t h e y  b o t n  began 

s w i r l i n g  downstream. Sometimes t h e  man was on top,  

sometimes t n e  mare, and,  a f t e r  o n e  o f  t h e  o c c a s i o n s  

when t h e  man was down n e  r o s e  a g a i n  wi t11  a b l eeu ing  

gasn  on n i  s i 'oreheaa and we trlought tua t  tie vras aone 

f o r .  Howeva', e v e n t u a l l y  t hey  r e a c n e u  tr!e f a r  bar~k ,  

b u t  . t n a t  rnetnou of c r o s s i n g  was one  t n a t  we were none 

of u s  e ~ ~ e r  t o  t ake .  'Ye nad, however, t o  se  on so 

i = , ~  t a i n  Zor(Lo11 aIlu Hurnayan Beg eacn  w i  t t i  t r l r ee  str'ond 

rnen wno cou ld  swim, venture& i n t o  trle t o r r e n t  and 

succeeaed i n  r e a c h i n g  t n e  f a r  bank wi t t lou t  nlucn 

d i f f i c u l t y .  Lord Zurzon ana I remaineu  arlc ne t o l d  

m e  t h a t  he  c o u l d  n o t  swim. 1 t h e r e f o r e  t o l d  o f f  ten  

s t r o n g  men f o r  eacn s i u e  o f  his h o r s e  - 1 haa g iven  

him my b i g  T3adakshani fo rb  t n e  c r o s s i n g  - and t o l d  him 

to  s h u t  h i s  eyes  and t rust  t o  t h e  h o r s e ;  t n i s  he d i d  

and g o t  a c r o s s  w i t h o u t  much cl i  f ' f ' icul t y .  line s e r v a n t s  

were s e n t  a c r o s s  i n  t h e  same way - I coming l a s t  of a l l  - 
and t h e  luggage  was s e n t  r o u n a  b y  ano t n e r  r o u t e  arid 

was take11 over' t h e  iihuuabau J n u l a .  xhus we r e a c h =  

d i  s g u  arlu fl'oru tner 'e we nau 110 t ~ . o u b l  e on t i le  way 

excep t  t h a t  LON Curzon sb i ' f e reu  a c e r t e i n  anount  of' 

p a i n  from his bad l e g  which had g o t  wet  i n  t h e  cl .ossingm 

'I'hat n i g h t  a t  xu rkush i  Lora  m r z o n  u s  

a @ e a t  f e a s t  a t  wtlicn Zapta in  Goruon a c t e d  a s  



i n t e r p r e t e r  a s  ' K n a i l i  Khoob', trre P e r s i a n  f o r  ' ve ry  

was a l l  Lord '=urzon could  say .  He t o l d  u s  wni le  vre 

were t l i n i n ~  t h a t  h e  was go ing  t o  r e t u r n  t o  Inciia i n  

ttir'ee y e a s  a s  'Tlcel'oy t o  t n e  queen and askeu u s  to 

s tajt w i  t , t l  vrtlerl he  d i a .  -,7e bo t n  ac  cgp t e a  a1 trlou gn 

1 uiu !lot trdiik t h a t  a f t e r  t i l rea  yea;rss allu amorlg so m a y  

str'anger's t r la t  Lie woulu reineuber u s ,  althoud'n Captain 

Gordon tnoudht  t h a t  a s  ne haa askeu u s  ne would c e r t a i n l y  

keep h i  s promi se. 

?ram : , lurkus1ni  we c l i ~ n b e u  up t h e  lower s l o p e s  of 

t h e  I r i l l i k  Pase to  S ! ~ r i n  hiaidan waence I s e n t  a 

meesenger t o  , a s h  Eeg to coroe from 'I'agdurnbaen t o  tlie 

su rn ln i t  9r' t:le ?ass t 3  meet  Lord -Curaon, a s  1 haa t o l u  

him on h i s  a sk inf ;  me, t n a t  a r s e p r e s e n t a t i v e  from t h e  

Famirs waul d rneet o i r n  t ne re .  

'he i'ollov:inz aay vJe reacrled t n e  sunmi t ,  vrhich 

L1!as f r e e  f'rocj enoi,:, arid 1 s a i d  z o ~ a b y e  t o  Lol'cl CUl.zon 

rind E a q t r  ~ s f ' e l  J' i n t . 2  t : ~ e  Llarius o f  . a s h  Beg who 

r e c e i v e &  a nundreci rld$l,?i'es 1'0s dis t ro i ib le .  

. i:le -. s ~ l r l e s , ?  a . a t L j o i . l  ti es i i a ~  . L . € ? ~ u  S ~ L  pel'lfil ss10rl 

f o r  ~ 0 r . u  zur-zon to 60 ts :asrl&uiag;r!l s.3 iie went tili'ob en 

Daf'aar and S a r i l a ~ i  ;'Jaxildn 50 z ~ L i t l ' ~ 1  anu s9 b a c K  to l n u i a *  

5vt:en ne  mas vjittl u s  ne t3lc: U S  t h a t  'rle ;Opeu to be a b l e  

to v i s i t  Kabul,  but 1 LQ riot .nov; v;Lietirer he uid o r  n o t e  

,,fter sa j i n g  goo&bjre 231, t,*i.t? d l ' ~ 0 r l  2nL 1 

re turnecl  to Hunz;i. O u r  t l a O L i b l  cs Wer'e n o t  $st over, 



however, a s  we t r i e d  t o  f o r d  the r i v e r  between lli s g a r  and 

Gircha where t h e r e  i s  now a t c a n t e l e v e r  b r i d g e .  Here the  

r I  ver  r u n s  be tween s t e e p  c l i f ' f s  2nd the water Is deep ane 

f a s t .  me had camels with u s  and so s e n t  on one of them 

with a few of the Hunza youths t o  see I f  t h e  f o r d  was 

safe .  They crbossec! t,Fe f i r s t  p a r t  wi thout  much d l  f f i c u l t y  

b u t  when they got  t o  the  second p a r t  where t h e  water was 

deeyer  the camel was swept away and e v e n t u a l l y  stranded 

on a small i s l a n d  some way downstrean. I t  l a y  there  a s  

though dead and Captain Gdrdon t o l d  nle how s o r r y  he was 

t o  be t h e  cause of  the  dea th  of  one of my animals .  I 

reassurecl him by saying  t h a t  i  t had t o  d l e  some tl me and 

would make a ve ry  p a l a t a b l e  meal f o r  the men w i t h  us. 

After l a y i n g  t h e r e  f o r  some time, i t  g o t  t o  i t s  f e e t  again 

and appeared t o  b e  none too worse f o r  i t s  acc iden t .  

After t h a t  we had no more t roub le  and came t o  

G i l m i t  I n  due course where Captain Gurdon made a h a l t  of 

a week to shoo t  duck while I went on to B a l t i t .  Captain 

Gurdon gave me d inner  a t  Gulmi t and &ring the course of 

the  meal we specula ted  a s  to whether Lord Curzon would 

remember h i s  i n v i t a t i o n  t o  u s  to go and s t a y  wl t h  him i n  

Ind ia .  Captain Gurdon thought t h a t  a s  he Pad d e f i n l  t e l y  

asked u s  he would c e r t a i n l y  keep h i s  promlse;  I thought 

t h a t  when he calce out  again a s  Viceroy and was very busy 

w i  t h  h i s  work and wi th  new fr i ends t h a t  i t was more probable 



that he wou l d  f o r g e  t a l l  abou t 1 t. 

CaPtai  n  Curdon was t r a n s f e r r e d  as A,p ,A .  chi  t r a l  

a f t e r  a year  and two y e a r s  l a t e r  Lord Curzon r e tu rned  t o  

Indi a a s  V i  c e r  oy . 
A y e a r  a f t e r  h i s  a r r i v a l  an lnv i  t a t l o n  came f o r  

me, Waair Humayan Beg, Mir Sikandar  )(ha Haja  Akbar Khan, 

M.J. Shah ~ b d u r  Rahman and Shuj a u l  Mulk of Chi trs 1 t o  pay 
him a  v i s l t  i n  C a l c u t t a .  Ne i ther  the  Res iden t  nor the  

blaharaja of Kashrr~lr were I n  S r i n a g a r  when we go t  t he re  a s  

the Durbar had moved t o  Jammu, b u t  we were met there  by 

Captain Dew who took u s  a s  f a r  a s  Rawal P ind l  where we 

were j o ined  b y  Capta in  Gurdon who had a l s o  r e c e i  ved an 

invl t a t i o n ,  and by Colonel  MacXahon who was P.A. Malakand. 

While we were I n  Rawal P i n d i  we were taken to see  

a Parade o f  Cava l ry  and I n f a n t r y .  This  was our f i r s t  view 

of regular t r o o p s  and we were very  much impressed. by them. 

I had o b t a i n e d  permi ss ion *om t h e  1:esIdent t o  

take w i t h  me Munshi Ahmad Din to he lp  u s  on our way and 

the Mehtar of Chi t r .a l  had wi t h  him Yunshi ~ b d u l  Hakim. 

Then we g o t  t o  Lahore t k e  l a t t e r  made e x c e l l e n t  arrangements 

fo r  hous ing  and f e e d i n g  t h e  l lehtar  anC no arrangements a t  

a l l  f o r  us .  This  annoyed. me so  much t h a t  I s e n t  W a ~ i r  

Numayan ;?eg t o  Cap t a i n  Gurdon t e l l i n g  him what had happened 

and he had the d e h t a r  - who was ther, a  mere c h i l d  - re-  

moved from t h e  house t h a t  had been a l l o t t e d  t o  him snd p u t  

u s  t h e r e  i n  h i  s p l a c e .  From Lahore we went to  Amri  tsar 



where a-e were taken t o  see  the Durbar Sahib wkich j s  t he  

c h i e f  p l a c e  of worship f o r  the  Sikha. 

Before vi si t i n g  i  t Cap'tain Gdrdon to ldus  that 

we were t o  remove our shoes  b e f o r e  e n t e r i n g  and on no 

account t o  s p i t  i n  t h e  h o l y  t ank  o r  laugh a t  anything we 

saw there .  7Je were gar landed when we en te red  the temple 

b u t  the  smell  from the f lowers  caused 4azi r Hunayan Beg, 

who w a s  s u f f e r i n g  from a  c o l d ,  t o  cough and s p i t ,  w i t h  

the r e s u l t  t h a t  he was s e i z e d  by the S ikhs  who were 

showing u s  round. Captain Gordon explained to them, 

however, t h a t  i t was a  cold t h a t  caused him t o  behave 

l i k e  t h l  s and t h a t  noJdi  s r e s p e c t  was meant, whereupon 

they l e t  h im  go. When we came o u t  of the  temple there 

was a  process ion  of S ikhs  o u t s i d e  who were s i n g i n g  and 

c a r r y i n g  Yak t a i l s  jn t h e i r  hands. Thi s proved too much 

f o r  the p a r t y  and al though Capta in  Gurrlon and I remained 

s o l e r n  the  r e s t  of the p a r t y  could n o t  r e f r a i n  from 

laugh ing a t  the si g h t .  

From h r i  t s z r  we went t o  Ambala where me were 

lodged i n  Cantonments a s  the re  was an epidemic i n  the 

bazaar .  ;%ile  we were the re  we saw a musketry d i s p l a y ,  a 

b o a t  r a c e  and some b i  g game shooting. !Te were mounted on 

e lephan t s  f o r  th i  s ,  the one I was on having a  Takht sadd.10 

while our s e r v a n t s  were on packs,  each one l a r g e  enough t o  

take tmrenty men. I t  was while  me were i n  Bmbala t h a t  the 

Identar of Chi t r a l  cane to  me and s a i d  t h a t  he wished to  







apologise  t o  me f o r  t h e  bebav iou r  of h i s  men a t  Lahorn a s  

we were olC f a m i l y  f r i e n d s  and he d i d  no t  want t o  l o s e  a 

f r i endsh ip  t h a t  had s t a r t e d  so l o n g  ago. 

From Ambala we went t o  Agra and thence to 

~ a l c u t t a ,  where we were housed In  a  magnlfl  c e n t  mans1 on. 

'l'wo days  a f t e r  ou r  a r r l  v a l  we were s e n t  f o r  by 

t k e  Viceroy who asked a f t e r  our h e a l t h  and whether we had 

had any cliff1 c u l t y  on We roaC. A s  i t was ' D u r b a r i - m a s '  

we d i d  n o t  r e n ~ a l n  l o n g  and a f t e r  p r e s e n t i n g  t he  g i f t s  we 

had b rough t ,  withdrew. 

Three  d a y s  l a t e r  I and Waair Furnayan Beg were 

given a n  i n t e r v i e w  a t  which Capta ln  Wrdon ac t ed  a s  

I n t e r p r e t e r .  Lord Curzon s t a r t e d  by s a y i n g  t h a t  he could 

never f o r g e t  the  h e l p  1 had gl ven hIrn when he passed 

through Hunza and asked r e  i f  I remembered hi  s nvi t a t 1  on 

a t  Nurkushl and my r e d l y  to the  e f f e c t  t h a t  b e i n g  a  Lord 

he would p r o b a b l y  f o r g e t .  I t o l d  klm t h a t  I remembersed 

1  t a l l  p e r f e c t l y  and was very  much s u r p r i s e d  t h a t  he had 

no t  f o r g o t t e n .  ~e t h e n  enquire8 about  the r e l a t l o n s  of 

Hunza wl t h  China and to ld  me t h a t  I ought t o  see a s  much 

of' the  manurac to r i e s  anC o t h e r  s i  g h t s  of C a l c u t t a  a s  I 

Could and t h a t  every a s s i s t a n c e  would be  p u t  a t  my disposa:  

~ 1 1  the o the r  R a j a s  were a l s o  given in t e rv i ews  I n  

accordance wi t h  t h e i r  rank .  

\qe were jn C a l c u t t a  durl  n g  Chrl stpias week and 

saw r a c e s  ane dl s o r t s  of  o the r  shows* a l s o  vis i  



t he  Chri s t I a n  cemetery and saw the  Nawab o f  Faiderabad 

r i d i n g  i n  a p h a e t o n  a s  c a r s  had n o t  been  invented  i n  

t h o s e  days .  

h'or t h r e e  weeks we remained i n  C a l c u t t a  and 

were t aken  t o  s e e  so many t h i n g s  t h a t  we had no time to 

make any of the  p u r c h a s e s  f o r  which we had b r o u g h t  money 

w i t h  us .  In  o r d e r  to g e t  some time to o u r s e l v e s  I had t o  

p r e t e n d  t o  b e  Ind i sposed  a r d  d u r i n g  the two d a y s  on which 

I s a i d  I was too i 11 t o  go o u t  wi t h  the gu i d e  t h a t  had 

been p r o v i d e d ,  I was able  t o  do some shopping.  Once we 

were t a k e n  on t o  a  s h i p  which s e t  s a i l  a t  e i g h t  one 

morning and d i d  n o t  r e t u r n  u n t l l  t h e  f o l l  owirlg evening. 

' m i l e  we were on board  we saw some shoo t i  ng p r a c t i s e  and 

a l l  thoroughly  en,joyed o u r s e l v e s  e x c e p t  R a j a  Dahadur 

Khan of' Astor  who could n o t  s l e e p  a s  he f e a r e d  a l l i g a t o r s  

mi gF t come up o u t  of t he  wate r  and devour Flm. On ou r  

r e t u r n  we were taken t o  the  r a c e s  to s e e  the  Viceroy ' s  

Cup and we were t h e r e  Lord C u r ~ o n  asked me what I 

t h ~ u g h t  was tke b e s t  t h i n g  i n  I n d i a .  I t o l d  him t h t  I 

l i k e d  e v e r y t h i n g ,  b u t  b e s t  of a l l  the  Cava l ry  pa rade  me 

had s e e n  i n  hawal P i n d i ,  a f t e r  t h a t  t h e  f i r i n g  o f  the  

bi g  guns on the  s h i p  and then  the  s h i p .  I s a i d  t h a t  1 

p r e f e r r e d  Punjab i  s t o  a l l  the r a c e s  I had seen  and 

W-ought the  v a l l e y  of Kashmir the most b e a u t i f u l  countrY 

a1  though the  men t h a t  l i  ved t h e r e  were worse t h a n  any 

o t h e r s .  1 added W a t  d t k o u g h t  the  H indus t an i s  were 



good people  t h e y  had l i t t l e  blood i n  tnem and t h a t  the  

?engalis  were t h e  u g l i e s t  of  t n e  l o t :  That, I n c i a  l d t n o u t  

the s r i t i s h  t n e r e ,  would be l i k e  t:le sky Witnout s t a r s .  

~t t h i s  t h e  V i c e r o j  was lnucrl a1nuseL1 anu nouued towaras a  

~ e l g a l i  W i l O ,  y r a c t i  c a l l y  nakea,  was tden p a s s i n g  b y .  

The Viceroy  gave u s  a l l  nanusorne p r e s e n t s  and 

sent  u s  back v i a  Gwalior wnose h u l e r  was :nost g r ac ious  

anu ho s p i  t ab1  e  to  u s  . 
'.'Thile we were i n  5wal io r  t n e  Hu le r  s e n t  u s  o u t  

s n ~ o t i n g  w i t n  h i s  s e c r e t a r y ,  ~j rovidin , :  u s  w i t n  yon ie s  and 

r i f l e s -  The l u c k ,  hol.vaver, was n o t  mi t h  u s  and I 

succeede(i i n  g e t t i n g  a female  a n t e l o p e  on ly ,  whi le  t h e  

Q a j a ' s  s e c r e t a r y  s h o t  a k i d .  During t u e  shao t L. J e  Abdur 

aLah?lan's h o r s e  g o t  o u t  o f  c o n t r o l  and i t was w i  t h  t he  

u tyos t  d i r f l c u l t y  t h a t  we ware a b l e  t o  g e t  hin s a f e l y  

Sack to canp. 

'I'hat everlirlg we weclt to a c i r c u s  s3e re  tney 

S t a r t e a  j o k i n ~  a g a i n s t  me f o r  sflooting a  feaalem 1, 

nowever, g u i  zk ly  r e t o r  t eu  t n a t  t n e  h a h a r a j a ' s  s e c r e t a r y  

s h o t  a  Ternale k i u  anu re~flarlteu t n a t  111 a  c i t y  o f  ttle 

b l i n 2  one s h o u l a  benave a s  t ; l o u ~ n  one were b l i nd  ana t h a t  

in a c i t y  o f  t n e  l a f i e  one shoulu p re t e :~a  to be lame-  his 

1'etol.t b e i n g  t o  ttle po i  . l t  t n e  j 3ke was dropped and Captain 

l%nLon c o n g a t u l a t e d  me on my ready  w i t -  A Paraae  of 

t h e  s t a t e  Fo rces ,  which the  u a h a r a j a  himself commanc;ed 



and a  v i s i t  t o  the f o r t ,  wN ch seemed to be  a s  old and 

w e l l  b u i l t  a s  my d a l t i  t f o r t ,  terrnlnated our s t a y  and 

we r e t u r n e d  t o  Mwal  Plndl  . 
From there  i t  was arranged t h a t  we should travel 

back  t o  our homes by Chi t r a l .  Ve stopped a  n lgh t  in  

Peshawar where the re  were some more e n t e r t a i  m e n  ts ard 

went from t h e r e .  to  Edalakand a f t e r  which we had to travel 

through snow. A t  l largai  we were agal n  e n t e r  t a ined  a d  

were e s c o r t e d  thence to  Chakdara from which p l a c e  the 

e s c o r t  re turned .  

On a r r i v a l  a t  D i r  , where Capta in  Gurdon 

r e j o i n e d  u s ,  the Haja Moh'd S h e r r i f  Khan showed u s  no 

cour tesy  which so annoyed Captain Gurdon t h a t  he mfused 

t o  go and s e e  him and l e f t  t h e  fo l lowl  ng morning without 

having p a i d  him a v i s i t  a t  all. Homver,  the Arbaba 

showed u s  gre a t  r e s p e c t  and provided us w i  th ponies  f o r  

the journey. Soon, however, the snow became too deep f o r  

the pon ies  t o  t r a v e l  with us and we had t o  c ross the  pass 

on foo t .  The Mehtar o f  Chi t r a l  who got  upon t h e  back of 

one of h i s  s e r v a n t s  ard was c a r r i e d  a c r o s s ,  wanted me t o  

do the same b u t  as Baja Akbar Ichan, uho was extremely 

f a t ,  was al t h  me 1 refused  a s  a l l  my men were needed to 

haw1 him along. ~t the top  of t h e  pass  I l e f t  hlm and 

went On ahead to where Gaptain Mrdon and ano the r  off icer  

bad t e a  prepared f o r  u s ,  and the Nehtar of Chi t r a l  hurried 

on ahead so t h a t  he could rece ive  us when we arklved.  



we t r a v e l l e d  on s lowly ,  s h o o t i n g  by the  r o a d ,  un t i  1 re 

Chi t r a l  where we were met by t h e  Mehtar and 

his son, ~ i y a t  Shah. 

The Mehtar t o l d  me t h a t  he had come o u t  t o  

greet me on ly  and wanted me t o  r i d e  on a h e d  with him 

and leave t h e  r e s t  of t he  p a r t y  behlnd.  I po in t ed  o u t  t o  

him, however, t h a t  such  conduct  on hl s p a r t  would be 

Inexcusable a s ,  a1 though he r? igh t  cons ide r  me h i s  ch i e f  

guest,  the o t h e r s  were n e v e r t h e l e s s  g u e s t s  a s  well and he 

must show them e q u a l  hospi  t a l l  t y .  

Guns were a l l  r e a d y  on the fbrt to  f i r e  a  

s a l u t e ,  b u t  as  i t was snowjng hard  the  powder p t wet and 

t h l  s had t o  be  abandoned. 

'Pa mdaz* was spread  f o r  a hundred paces  and 

t h e  Yeh ta r  hirnself g o t  up t o  r e c e i v e  me andanduc ted  me 

to a room i n s i d e  t h e  f o r t  where he saw me s e t t l e d  and then 

excused h imse l f  a s  he s a i d  t h a t ,  a1  though he had made 

s p e c i a l  ar rangements  far me a s  the  c h i e r  w e s t ,  be m u s t  

go and s e e  t h a t  formal  ar rangements  haC been made f o r  the 

o thers .  'me o t h e r  n a j a s  were g ran ted  an in t e rv i ew  on the 

fo l l owing  morning and 1 was invi  ted t o  h i s  'dewam Khas' 

i n  t h e  even ing  where we had a  long  conversat ion.  

Yajor n;annws-.Sni t h ,  who was then P . A *  G i l g l  t t  

had a r r anged  t h a t  the p r e s e n t s  We asked t o  be sent  to 

Chi tral should a r r i v e  i n  time and So we were a b l e  to 

a s u i t a b l e  r e t u r n  f o r  t h e  gi f t s  t h a t  t h e  hnehtar gave- us 



when we l e f t .  The l e h t a r  gave me a h o r s e  and a haivk, to 

S i  k a n e a r  Khan, a  h o r s e  and t o  t h e  o t h e r  H a J a s ,  K h l l a t s ,  

A t  t h a t  t ime t h e  t e r : r i  t ' j r y  adr?l-ni s t e r e d  b y  t h e  

U e h t a r  extenf led  a s  f a r  a s  H r e n i s ,  a f t e r  which we were i n  

B r i  t i  s h  t e r r i  t o r y  a 1  though i t was e n t r  ustec! t 3 R a j a  Badhadur  

Khan. A l l  a r r a n g e m e n t s  f o r  o u r  j o u r n e y  \Vera nade  w i t h o u t  

any d i r r i c u l t y ,  though Si k a n e a r  Khan, I n  s p l  ts of my advice 

d r a n k  some o f '  t h e  w a t e r  a t  Atvi , which ILa , ior  llanners-Smi t h  

had warned m s  a g a i n s t ,  and g o t  a  ? e v e r  which maCe him very 

weak b y  t h e  t ime we r e a c h e d  Gupis. Here I ,  t o o ,  became 

unwell  b u t  r e c o v e ~ ~ e d  s u f r i c i e n t l y  t o  go o n  u r l t l l  we g o t  t o  

S h e r  Ki l l a  wher-e t h e  l i a j a  o f  Funl  4 ,  Lroh9d Akbar Khan, 

wanted u s  t o  s t a y .  !]ere a g a i n  I began  t o  f 3 e l  i l l  so  

p r e s s e d  on t o  G i l g i  t ,\vhe~-e I was t r e a t e d  by  D o c t o r  Rober ts  

and a f t e r  a  few d a y s  Pad q u i  t? rec,o-.rer?d. 

F?ajor Eanners-3:- i  t h  i n f  orale& me when I a r r i  vet1 

t h a t  Eoh9d f!afi s h a  b e e n  g i v i n g  t r o u b l e  i n  my absence .  

Some t ilne be!.'ore I had i n t e r n e d  h i  rn i n t h e  Shi  n g s h a l  a s  1 

was a f r a i C  t h a t  he m i g h t  SO o v e r  the  b o r d e r  a n d  i n t r i g u e  

wi t h  S a f d a r  All , b u t  a y e a r  b e r o r e  rny j o u r n e y  t o  I n d i  a I 

had 1 9 t  him r e t u r n  t o  t h e  J a g i r  m y  f a t h e r  hati g i v e n  him a t  

Khudabad a s  he  pro:gisec! t o  b e  l o y a l  t 3  me. ,4pparent ly  

w h i l e  I was away he h a d  cor:e i n t o  G i l g i t  and had r e f u s e d  

t o  r s t u r n  t o  Hunza; corlseque n t l y  T?aJor Llanners-3mi t h  hae 

had him t i e d  i n  a  ' pa l l t i  ' and c a r r i e d  b a c k  by  Funsa. men. 

T h i s  d i d  n o t  worry me, howover,  and I t o l d  



Major Mann~s -Sml  t h  t h a t  he could 1 i ve on the  J a g i r  my 

fa ther  had g iven  him and I would n o t  I n t e r f e r e  t h  him 

i n  any way. 

A Year o r  two l a t e r  Lord Curzon he ld  a  Durbar i n  

 elh hi and i n v i t e d  me t o  i t  , Sikandar  Khan of Naglr ,  Raja 

Alidad from Gi lg i  t ,  Raja  Hassan Khan Jag l rOi r  from Astor ,  

S i f a t  Bahadur from P u n l a l ,  Shahidu l  &jam from Ch i l a s ,  and 

a cousin of Pukhtun Wall from Tangir.  Munshi P ida  A11 

Khan accompanied us  from Gilgi  t. 

TRe were a t t a c h e d  t o  the  Maharaja o f  Kashmir's 

camp and took some p o l o  p l a y e r s  and bandsmen w i  t h  u s  who 

were much a p p r e c i a t e d  by  the  crowd who had n o t  seen t h a t  

s o r t  of e n t e r t a i n m e n t  b e f o r e .  Ye were drawn t o  p l a y  

aga ins t  the  Manipur p o l o  team, who glayed i n  b a r e  f e e t ,  

bu t  were fri ghtened a t  o u r  prowess anr? wi thdrew. 

The Durbar was a wonderful s i g h t .  People had 

come f r o m  a l l  over  I n d i a  to  be p r e s e n t  t h e r e  and the  

crowds were s o  immense and made up o f  such dl verse  r a c e s  

t h a t  i t  was a s i g h t  t h a t  I s h a l l  never  f o r g e t .  The Durbar, 

which was h e l d  In a v a s t  horse-shoe shaped enc losu re ,  was 

opened b y  the  B r l  t i  sh  t roops  s i n g i n g  the ~ a t j o n a . 1  

the men i n  the massed bands be1 ng dressed  i n  the old 

unirorms;  a f t e r  t h i s  the  3 u l i n g  c h i e e s  of I n d i a ;  s t a r t i n g  

wi t h  Haiderabad,  Nysore and Baroda  went up t o  where 

Curzon and t h e  Duke of Connaught were si t t i n g  I n  the 

middle and p r e s e n t e d  t h e i r  'na!Z=s' a l l  the R u l e r s  



and i n  due course  I ,  Sikander  Khan of Nagi r ,  The Mehtar 

of Chi t r a l ,  Mohed Sherr i  f Khan of Dl r and the  Haj a  of 

Nawa rJagar pre  sen ted  o u r s  whi ch were touched and remi t t d ,  

The Begum Sahiba of Bhopal was a l s o  p r e s e n t .  

During the Durbar I was t o l d  t h a t  H i s  Highness 

The Agha Khan was there  and remained behind t o  sgeak t o  

him. He was very f r i e n d l y  wl th  me and asked me t o  go 

round and s e e  him on the f o l lowlng day. However, when 

the time came 1 rece ived  a  l e t t e r  from him saying  t h a t  he 

w a s  too busy t o  s e e  me and ask ing  me t o  go ano the r  time, 

saying  t h a t  he would t r y  and pay me a  vi si t d u r i n g  the 

course of the day. I had my camp s p e c j a l l y  decorated f o r  

h i s  vi si t ,  b u t ,  u n f o r t u n a t e l y ,  he was unable  t o  corm and 

s e e  I t .  

A t  t h a t  time Shahzada Les,  t h e  Maulai PI r,  

a r r i v e d  in  Delhi with the t r i b u t e  he had c o l l e c t e d  f r o m  

the men of Hunza Yasi n  and Puni a1  and we went t o  t h e  Agha 

Khan's c m p  t o  p r e s e n t  i t to him i n  person.  He s e n t  a 

message to say t h a t  he was b u s y  and t e l l i n g  us  to send the  

money and to awai t h i s  a r r i  val  I n  Bombay. 

On the fo l lowing day I and Si'mndar Khan went 

round t o  t r y  and see him a g a i n , t h i  s time we were admitted 

i n t o  h i s  presence.  There was a  controversy i n  t h a t  year 

between Uaulais  and Sh las  and he asked me i n  e x c e l l e n t  

P e r s i a n  h a t  i t  was a l l  abS)ut.  I t o l d  him t h a t  we l laulais 

re fused  t o  e a t  meat t h a t  had been k i l l e d  b y  a  Shia and 







that they r e fused  t o  e a t  I t  I f  I t  had been k j l l e d  by a  

Maulaim My i l l u s t r i o u s  Master  s a l  d  t h a t  we should read 

the Koran where I t was l a i d  down tha t  any Mussulrnan should 

eat the meat  t h a t  had been  s l a u g h t e r e d  by  any o ther .  

He r e g r e t t e d  t h a t  he  could n o t  a t t e n d  a  con- 

ference t h a t  was then  b e i n g  he ld  about  the s u b j e c t  a s  he 

had to accompany ;Lord Cureon t o  C a l c u t t a .  gave me a  

photograph o f  h imse l f  and permi t ted me to kl ss  h i s  hand, 

a f t e r  which we were shown o u t .  

Uuring t h e  Durbar week a  c o u r t  was h e l d  i n  the 

Ulwana- Am and  the  Nawab of D i r  and the  Mehtar of Chi t r a l  

were i n v e s t e d  w i t h  the C.I.E. I was p r e s e n t  a t  t he  

i nves t i  t u r e ,  a f t e r  whi ch we a l l  had t e a ,  and I was l n t r o -  

duced b y  Captal n  Dew t o  h i r  A l i  Khan, son  of mlr  Sher 

811 Khan. A Major T u r t l e  a l s o  came up to me and asked me 

if 1 remembered him. 1 a d  n o t ,  b u t  he t o l e  me t h a t  he 

had been  wl t h  Colonel  L o c k l a r t  when he f i r s t  c,me up t o  

Gilgl  t. 

Lord Cureon r e q u e s t e d  me t o  give  a  d l  s p l a y  of 

Popin jay  and Archery which we d l d  one af ternoon.  I t  had 

never b e e n  seen  b e f o r e  and the  crowd was very e n t h u l a s t i  C 

about  i t .  

A f t e r  a  week Lord Curzon and the  Duke of Conrlaught 

l e f t  f o r  C a l c u t t a  and a l l  the c h i e f s  and n o t a b l e s  went to 

the  Delhi  s t a t i o n  to  see  them o f f .  1,Vhlle they were going 



t he  round of t h e  Chiefs  say ing  goodbye, Lord  Curzon 

caught  s i g h t  of me s t a n d i n g  behind t h e  Uaharaja of 

Kashmir anc came up say ing  t h a t  I was an old f r i e n d  and 

t h a t  he would say h i  s l a s t  goodbye t o  me. The Forel gn 

S e c r e t a r y ,  who spoke f l u e n t  P e r s i a n  was w i t h  him and he 

said to me t h a t  Lord Curzon had t o l d  him t h a t  he had met 

me twice a d  would never f o r g e t  a l l  the  a s s i s t a n c e  I had 

given him when he was on hl  s t r i p  to the  Pamirs .  

After  the t r a i n  had l e f t  a l l  the R a j a s ,  except 

the Nawab of Haiderabad, came up to  me t o  see  who I t  was 

t h a t  had been s i n g l e d  o u t  by the Bi ceroy. I saw t h a t  

they had no idea  a s  t o  where Hunza was and thought  t h a t  I 

would somewhat exaggerate  my importance. They asked me 

where my kingdom was and L r e p l i e d  t h a t  i t touched on the 

b o r d e r s  o f  China; they enquired about  my revenue and I 

answered t h a t  I r e a l l y  d i d  n o t  lmow what i t was a s  I had 

c l e r k s  who c o l l e c t e d  I t  and d i d  t h a t  s o r t  of  t h i n g  f o r  me. 

They were much Impressed! 

After t h a t  we r e t u r n e d  t o  our  homes v i a  Malalmnd 

and Chi t r a l .  

Soon a f t e r  we had a r r i v e d  home from Lord Curzon's 

Durbar, Lord K l  tchener ,  who was t h e n  Commnder-in-Chief 

proposed v i  si t i n g  t h e  Ki l l1  k and Mingtaka passes .  

Captain Smith, who was A.P.A. C h i l a s  a t  the time, 

had b e v l  s e n t  on ahead to  see * a t  the  road was l i k e  and 

repor ted  t h a t  l t  was in  a very bad condi ti on when he met 



me a t  the C a r i l t  b r i d g e  where I was awal t i n g  the Commander- 

in-chj  e f .  He t h e n  went on to Askurdass & e r e  the K i r  

of Naglr had gone t o  meet  Lord K i  tchener .  

From t h e r e  Sl kanCar Khan mas s e n t  back a s  the 

commander-in-Chi ef  s a l  d t h a t  I t was n o t  h i s  custom to  

give more t r o u b l e  to p e o p l e  than was necessary ,  while 

he came on w i t h  Cap ta in  Smith anC M a  AmFr All Khan, the 

Native A s s i s t a n t ,  to B a l t i  t. 

I n  t h o s e  d a y s  Were was no s u i  t a b l e  bungalow a t  

my c a p i t a l  and t h e  Commander-in-Chief lodged i n  a build- 

ing c a l l e d  'Low Ni sgan. 

I was invl  ted to  d i n e  wi th  him on t h e  n i g h t  

he a r r i  ved am2 , a s  he  wished t o  d i  s c u s s  h i  s p l a n s  wi t h  

me, he sugges t ed  t h a t  I shoulc! a l s o  come up and have t e a  

wi th hlm s o  t h a t  we could t a l k  undis turbed.  Quoting the 

Proverb that what one s e e s  i s  o f t e n  d i f f e r e n t  from what 

one h e a r s  he  t o l d  me t h a t  i t  was h i s  i n t e n t i  on to t r a v e l  

r i g h t  up t o  t he  b o r d e r  where i t had bezn reyor  ted to h l  m 

t h a t  n o t  even d r i n k l n g  water  was a v a i l a b l e .  Pe in tended,  

he sa l  d ,  s e e i  ng  the  wall s of t h e  garden to  whi ch InC l a  

has been  compared i n s t e a d  of  merely  t r a v e l l i n g  through 

t h a t  garden  as most of h i s  p r edeces so r s  had been content  

to do,  ~ l ,  t h a t  he c a l d  make c e r t a i n  t h a t  no thorns  i n  the 

PrDtec t i  ng f e n c e  mere missi ng where ou t s i  d e r s  could e n t s r  

to s t e a l  the f r u l  t. He s a i d  t h a t  I f  p o s s i b l e  he would 

l i k e  to v i s i t  Kuktruk, ~ a g h a r n a n s u i  and p a i k ,  * lch are 



beyond the F r o n t i e r ,  b u t  t h a t  a s  hehad no permission 

to  do t h i s  I t  would have to be ar ranged qul e  t l y .  

1 t o l d  him t h a t  I could take h imround  to a l l  

these  p l a c e s  i n  one day and g e t  him back agai n  to  

 arku us hi b u t  he d id  n o t  want me to go wi th  him a s  he said 

t h a t  i f  I d i d  t h e  Chinese and Iiussian Governnen t would 

say t h a t  he always went about  w i t h  a  s t r i n g  of l ia jas  i n  

hS s t r a i n .  

I t  was f i n a l l y  decided t h a t  he ,  Colonel 

Ham1 l t o n  and hl. Amir ~ l i  should go acconpanl ed by Sazi r  

Hunayun Beg. 

Before the p a r t y  s e t  o r f  I s e n t  on a  hundred 

men t o  do what they could w i  t h  the  road and gave i n -  

s t r u c t i o n s  t o  Nazar A l i  who was accustc)med t o  take the 

annual gold t r i b u t e  t o  China, t o  go on ahead from 

burkushi wi t h  some horsernen a s  though they were going 

through t o  Tashkurgan. On a r r i v a l  a t  Lupgaz they were 

t o  s e l  ze and bind Moh'd Karawalchi so  t h a t  hecould n o t  

send news of the  y a r t y  t o  the Chinese au tkor i  t i e s .  This 

he d i d  and, a l though they t o l d  Karawalchl t h a t  i t  Ws 

merely a  B r i  t i  sh  Of f i ce r  on a  shoot ing  t r i g ,  he seemed 

very susyi c lous.  

'men a l l  arrangerqents had be23  complsted, Lord 

Yitchener and h i s  p a r t y  s e t  o u t  on t h e i r  journey. 

The f i r s t  s t a g e  to Attabad was cone almost 

e n t i r s l y  on f o o t  and frorn t h e r e  t o  Gulmi t the  lower 

road was Impassable and a  t r a c k  over  the mountai ns had 



to  be t r ave r sed .  The Commander-1 n - ~ h l e f  was, however, 

very a c t i v e  and seemed t o  g e t  a l o n g  a lmos t  a s  well  a s  

my own men, a l t h o u g h  b y  the ti me he reached Mi s g a r  an& 

had crossed innumerab le  roge b r l  dges , he was ge t t j  ng 

rather exhau s ted . 
A t  Markushi t he  kl t was c o l l e c t e d  and some of 

i t  was s e n t  to  Hak I n  case  the p a r t y  should need beddlng 

there and e a r l y  the  f o l l o w i n g  morning, mounted on Yaks 

and accompanied by seven p icked  horsemen, they s e t  o f f  

for Pai k by  t he  Mingtaka P a s s  and re turned s a f e l y  over  

the K l l l l k  t h a t  evening.  

I went as f a r  a s  Attabad t o  meet them when 

they got  b a c k  t h e r e  a n d b r d  K i  t chene r  dismounted when 

he was a b o u t  a  hundred ya rds  away from me and, when we 

met, r e p e a t e d  a a l h a m d o l i l l a h *  ( P r d s e  be t o  ~ o d )  s e v e r a l  

tllnes. He a l s o  thanked= very warrnly f o r  a l l  I haC done 

and t o l d  me t h a t  he would mcommend me t o  the  Government 

3: Indl  a. 

A t  B a l t j  t 1 gave a  d i n n e r  which was, however, 

cooked by the  commander-in-Chief 's  s e r v a n t s  w l  t h  a 

tamasha t o  f o l l o w  and on the nex t  morning he l e f t  me a s  

he had t o  9 and s e e  the u a r k o t  P a s s  i n  Yasine 

\men he  had turned t o  Ind i  3. s e n t  a 

Sword of honour ,  a  chogha o f  Khimkhawb, a double 

gun and var ious  ol&er p resen tswhlch  must have *st 

about  a  thousand rupees .  



I n  1306, when Colonel  Younghusband was Resident 

I n  Yashrriir, t h e  Viceroy,  Lord P i n t o  came or1 a  v i s l t .  

A l l  the  F i r s  anC Xajas  fror:! the  G i lg i  t f~gency 

were i n v i t e d  b y  the  P a h a r a j a  t o  go clown t o  meet hirn and 

t o  b r i n g  w i  t h  them t h e i r  l!o t t i b a r s ,  Ba.ndsmen and Polo 

t e r n s .  I t  was a t  the  beginning of Sep teniber when we 

l e f t  G i lg i  t w i t h  Punshi Arrlir Ali  Khan i n  charge  of the  

p a r t y ,  and I n  due cou r se  we reached 13andIpor-e whence we 

t r a v e l l e d  I n t o  S r i n a g a r  i n  houseboa ts .  Tklile p u n t i n g  up 

t he  r i v e r  the  p l a y i n g  o f  o u r  bands  a t t r a c t e c !  l a r g e  crouds 

which l i n e d  the banks  and fol lowed u s  a s  we went a long  to 

t h e  houseboa ts  where we were accommodated. 

On t h e  day a f t e r '  we rsa ched S r i n a g a r  we went 

t o  pay o u r  r e s d e c t s  t o  t h e  Nahara ja  a t  She r  @,rhS and 

t o  t h e  3 e s i  d e n t ,  whom we had known i n  G i lg i  t ,  and a week 

l a t e r  the  Viceroy a r r i v e d .  

The Resi d e n t  ment t o  Kohala t o  u e e t  t h e  Viceroy 

and we remained. i n  S r i n a g a r  and forned.  a  p r o c e s s i o n ,  

headed b y  t he  E a h a r a j a ,  t o  g r e e t  him z t  the  Hesi dency 

w3en he d i  serrbarked f rom t h e  s t e m  launch  i n  whick he 

had t r a v e l l e d  f o r  the  l a s t  p a r t  of the  journey.  Lord 

Mint0 was acconpani ed by Lady Nin to ,  h e r  two d a u g h t e r s  

and Lady Fagon and they a l l  used t o  rqake a  g r e a t  f u s s  



Over my son Ghazan Khan t o  wh0nl they p r e s e n t e d  f lowers  

d d l l r  and s a i d  t h a t  he was so f a i r  t h a t  he looked more 

like a  European than  a Hunza-I t e .  

I n  a d d i t 1  on t o  t he  Chie fs  f r o p  t h e  C i lg i  t Agency, 

Rajas f r o m  Skardu, Khaplo, S h i g a r  and the  r e s t  of B a l t i s t a n  

had a l s o  been l n v i  ted .  

On t h e  t h i r d  day  a f t e r  h i s  a r r i v a l  a  b i g  

burbar was he ld  b y  t h e  Rahara ja  Sahib a t  Sherghar l  

which we a l l  a t t e n d e d .  Yls  Highness proposed t h a t  the 

chlef's from B a l t i  s t an  should s l  t above those from the 

G i l g i  t Agency, b u t  to t h i  s Colonel  Younghusband objected 

and consequent ly  we were given precedence.  

The Viceroy a r r i v e d  i n  S t a t e  accompanled b y  

S i r  Dean, t h e  Fore ign  S e c r e t a r y ,  and Colonel  Dunlop Smith 

the P r i v a t e  Secl-e t a r y  and e s c o r t e d  by  a  mounted body 

guard. A f t e r  the speech we were a l l  p r e sen t ed  t o  H i s  

Excel lency s t a r t i n g  wi t h  R a j a  Baldev Singh of Poonch, 

a f t e r  whom I went up and then S i k v l d a r  Khan. We c a r r i e d  

gold c o j n s  j n  o u r  hands which were touched and renll t t e d  

and i n  addi t i o n  to  t h i s  I p r e s e n t e d  a s  N a z ~  one ~ a d a k -  

shan5 pony,  a choga, t h r e e  p a i r s  of  Chlnese cups and some 

s i l k ;  S ikanda r  Khan Cid Ii kewl se and the  remaining Rajas  

from the Agency gave a choga and a  c a r p e t  each. *e ta l -  

l e a f  Ivas a l s o  p r e s e n t e d  t o  tke Viceroy b u t  he d i d  

chew i t .  



The n e x t  day  we saw p o l o  p l ayed  on the  ground 

I n  f r o n t  o f  t h e  Hesidency t h e  ground hav ing  w a l l s  on 

each  s i d e  s o  t h a t  G l l g i t  P o l o  could b e  p l ayed .  The 

Maharaja t r i e d  t o  s t a g e  a  game between u s  and the  13alti stanis 

b u t ,  t hey  were f r i g h t e n e d  o f u s  and r e f u s e d  t o  p l a y .  

Dur ing  the's d l  s p l a y  S u l t a n  Uohydin was h j  t on t h e  head and 

s tunned.  He was taken to h o s p i t a l  where he  d i d  n o t  

r e c o v e r  conscl  ousnes s  u n t i l  midnigh t .  

Tha t  n i  gh t  t h e r e  was a 'mulki ' tonrasha i n  the 

Residency Gardens. The Hunza and Nadi r  b a n e s  p layed  and 

t h e r e  was dancing,  b o t h  b y  o u r  p e o p l e  and t h e  Ladakhis 

who dznced on  the  p o i n t s  o f  two swords. The Eaha ra j  a  

was unable  t o  b e  p r e s e n t  and was r e p r e s e n t e d  b y  Raja  Amar 

S ingh ,  who m u l e  t a l k  i n g l i  sh  and who l n v i  t ed  u s  t o  go 

andsee him In h i s  p a l a c e  on  the  f o l l o w i n g  day. 

On a n o t h e r  day we accorcpanied t h e  Viceroy t o  

t he  Sha l imar  Bagh where we were d e l i  gkted wl t h  t he  p l ay -  

i n g  of  the f o u n t a i n s ,  and on the n e x t  d a y  we went t o  see  

Chashma-1-Shahi where we were e n t e r t a i n e d  a t  t e a  by the  

Mahar a j  a. 

I v i s i t e d  my r e fugee  u n c l e  Raihan Ali Shah dur-  

i n g  my s t a y  i n  S r l n a g a r  and p r e s e n t e d  him wi th an A r a b  

pony I had bought from Delhi .  H i s  s o n  Zu l f l  k a r ,  who was 

on very bad terms wl t h  him, asked me i f  I would take  him 

back  t o  Hunza w-i t h  me: I consu l t ed  h i s  f a t h e r  who s a i d  



that he knew t h e  c o n d i t i o n s  p r e v a i l i n g  i n  Hunxa and 

thought t h a t  i t  would be dangerous  to t ake  him back a s  

he was c e r t a i n  a t  sometime o r  arlotner to  i n t r i g u e  a g a i n s t  

me. I a l s o  went t o  s e e  Uzar Khan 's  wi fe  wno, as   ma^ be 

reme~nbereu, was my b r o t h e r  Safuar  , U i t s  s i s t e r .  She 

followed him down t o  Kashui r  a f t e r  a e  was e x i l e o  ttlere 

i n  1893. 

I thoroughly  enjoyed t n i  s v i s i t  to Sr inagar  

and when i t  was t ime f o r  u s  to go back was presenteci by 

tne Res iden t  w i t h  a  pony t h a t  haa been s e n t  t o  h i a  by a 

f r iend  i n  China, and by t h e  r ~ a h a r a j a  w i t h  a  handsome 

Khi la t .  Te r a t h e r  f e a r e d  t h a t  we n i g h t  nave t roub le  on 

the P u r z i l  P a s s  on t h e  way back, b u t  when we go t  t he re  

found t h a t  t n e r e  was no snow a t  a l l  upon i t  anc. so had a  

ve1.Y p l e a s a n t  r e t u r n  journey.  

Major 3 r u c e  l.vcis then P . A .  i n  G i l g i t  and had 

made a l l  t h e  n e c e s s u j r  arrangements f o r  t r a n s g o r t  and 

supd l i e s .  ,i 'neyurlsifi :L,~ir 'Ui, who ilau beeil w i t n u s ,  

was g l u e a t l y  a a u i c t e u  to trle b o t t l e  anu arank so aucn 

wine aul'i:lg t ~ l e  t r i j  t h a t  he  f e l l  ill soon a f t e r  he got  

back to G i l g i  t an& d i e u  s h o r t l y  af t e rwarus*  

I n  1911, wnen King George c u e  o u t  to I n u i a ,  

W e  Were a g a i n  invites t o  a t t e n d  tne  d e l n i  ~ u r b a r  snu l e f t  

G i l g i t  towards  t h e  end of' Dece~nber. 'l'llis time I toor  

w i th  me S h u k r u l l a  Beg t n e  e l d e s t  Son of Hurrrawn Beg' 



S i k a n d a r  Khan went from Magir ,  3a ja  A l i  Dad f r o &  

G i l g i  t ,  S i f a t  Bahadur from P u n i a l ,  Shah S u l t a n  from 

A s t o r  and Shah idu l  Ajam frorr! Chi  las .  Abdur Rahrnsn  fro^ 

Yasin  had beon  deposed and so  d i d  n o t  accompany u s .  

On a r r i v a l  j n  S r i n a g a r  we were met b y  btajor 

O l i v e r  and mmained t h e r e  f o r  twenty days .  I t  had been 

hoped t h a t  we should be  a b l e  t o  go down b y  the  8 a n I h a l  

P a s s  b u t  t h e r e  was t ~ o  much snow on t h e  road and wehad t o  

go v i a  Rawal P i n d i  whence 1140 went s t r a i  g h t  to Lahore 

where we jo ined  t h e  : l aha ra j a ' s  camp. From t h e r e  we pro- 

ceeded t o  Delh i  and a f t e r  a  week t h e  King Emperor a r r ived  . 
A 1 1  the  R u l i n g  Chiefs  I n  I n d i a ,  i n  t h e i r  b e s t  

r o b e s ,  went to the  s t a t i o n  to g r e e t  him. The King rode 

t o  h i  s camp on a  h o r s e  c a l l e d  Akbar p rececded  by the  Nawab 

of Ha 1  derabad and the  lvlahar a j  a of Kashni r and surrounded 

b y  the o t h e r  Chiefs .  A t  t h e  s t a t i o n  were some motor ca r s  

b e l o n g i n g  t o  some o f  t h e  r u l i n g  f a m i l j e s  and a s  I had 

n e v e r  seen one before  I was much impressed.  

The day  b e f o r e  tb Durbar the 'Ji c e roy  came 

round and v i s i t e d  a l l  the v a r i o u s  camps o f  whi ch t h a t  of 

t h e  Uaha ra j a  was f o u r t h  on  t h e  l i s  t. we were in t roduced  

t o  the  Viceroy who gave u s  Salaams on b e h a l f  o f  the  King 

Emperor and ta lked  w i t h  us  f o r  f i f t e e n  minutes .  A f t e r  

t h i s  we were taken t o  t h e  Durbar p l a c e  - i t  was an immense 

Sham1 ana t e n t  c o n s t r u c t e d  t o  hold  twelve thousand people  

an3 small  gauge r a i lway  l i n e s  had been  run  t o  i t  from the 

va r ious  Camps - and shown ou r  p l a c e s  and t o l d  what we must 
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ye were advi  3ed t o  b e  i n  p o s l  ti on some ti me before the 
~ u r b a r  began as t h e r e  was su re  t o  b e  a  c r o d  t h e r e  and i t  

might take u s  l o n g e r  than we thought  t o  a r r i v e  a t  our  

places . 
The Durbar  s t a r t e d  a t  8 .0  p.m. and a t  t h a t  hour  

the King Emperor, accompanied b y  the  Queen, a r r i v e d  on f o o t  

and mounted t h e  roofed  i n  Dais .  811 t h e  c h i e f s ,  who were 

dressed i n  t h e i r  wonder fu l  r o b e s  and Jewel led  tu rbans  stood 

up as  he a r r i v e d .  

The V i  c e roy ,  Lord Hard1 nge, f i r  s t  k l  ssed the 

Royal hand and- he was fol lowed by the  Nawab of Halderabad 

and o t h e r  c h i e f s  i n  o r d e r  o f  s e n i o r 1  ty.  The Maharaja was 

four th  on t h e  l i s t  and a s  he had consumed more than h i s  

usual Quo ta  o f  opium t h a t  d a y  we were all very much a f r a i d  

that  he would n o t  b e  a b l e  t o  go through the ceremony 

Properly.  However, when h i s  t u rn  came he g o t  up and went 

t o  t h e  d a i s  w i t h  g r e a t  d i g n l  ty.  On h i s  r e t u r n  he asked 

us i f  he had done i t  a l l  r1 gh t  and was very  r e l i e v e d  when 

we t o l d  him t h a t  he  had. Ye a l s o  went up and presented 

our Nazar whi ch was touched and r emi t t ed .  The ri *gal was 

t h a t  each ch i e f  had t o  bow t h r e e  t imes i n  going up and 

t h r e e  t imes  on back ing  away and a l l  with one 

Performed thi s; the  Gaekwar of Baroda d j d  no t .  

Owing t o  the f u s i n g  of an e l e c t r i c  wire the 

roof of  t h e  t e n t  caught  f i r e  and t h e r e  were s l g n s  of pan ic  

we were a s su red  t h a t  t h e  f i r e  had been g o t  under A 



c o n t r o l  by  t h e  Y i l i  t a r y  a u t h o r i t i e s  and the f e a r  was 

q u i c k l y  a l l a y e d .  

ATter t h e  d u r b a r  we went o u t s i d e  t o  l o o k  f o r  

t h e  c a r  t h a t  was t o  t ake  u s  back t o  camp, b u t  we could 

s e e  no s i g n  o f  i t  i n  the mob and so a f t e r  s h o u t i n g  f o r  

i t  a s  l o u d l y  as we c o u l d ,  we dec ided  t o  walk back  to my 

camp whi ch we r e a c h e d ,  hav ing  b e e n  d i  re c t e d  by v a r l  ous 

p o l l  cemen, a t  s i x  t h e  f o l l o w i n g  morning. 

The E e h t a r  of Chi t r a l  a r r i  ved l a t e  a t  t h e  Durbar 

and was n o t  admi t ted. 

While i n  3 e l h i  I v i s i t e d  t h e  Memorial t h a t  had 

b e e n  e r e c t e d  t o  the memory o f  Queen V i c t o r i a  wb.ich s tands  

i n  the Chandi Chawk. 1 found .tt! e  c a v a l r y  drawn up the re  

when 1 a r r i v e d  a s  i t  formed p a r t  of t h e  r o u t e  t h a t  the  

~ i n g - E m p e r o r  was t o  t ake  on h i s  way t o  t h e  s t a t i o n .  I 

a l s o  v i s i t e d  a l l  the c m p s  o f  the r u l i n g  c h i e f s  of  I n d i a  

and thought  t h a t  o r  them a l l  t h e  E a h a r a j a  of Kashmir's 

d t h  i t s  wonder fu l ly  carved s c r e e n s ,  was t h e  b e s t .  Mir 

S ikandz r  Khan d i d  n o t  go v i s i  t i  ng w l  t h  me a s  he p r e f e r r e d  

s h o y ~ l n g .  

Une day  t h e r e  was a m a g n i f i c e n t  d l  s p l a y  o f  

na t l v e  sword d a n c i n g  on t h e  Jamna p l a i n  a n d  d u r i n g  i t  

Colonel  Younghusband, Colonel  MacMahon and Doc to r  Rober ts  

w i t h  d i f f i c u l t y  found me i n  t he  crowd a s  I was wearing a  

turban.  They t o l e  me t o  s t l  ck t o  my Hunza h a t  s o  t h a t  

they could e a s i l y  p i c k  me ou t .  



un t h e  1 1 t h .  January  we l e f t  D e l h i ,  v i a  

Ferozegore 9 f o r  home and I hoped t h a t  we might  be al lowed 

to 50 back t h rough  Malakand and Chi t r a l ,  The p,,4,, how- 

ever,  o b j e c t e d  to t h l  s and so i t  was decided t h a t  we 

should go by t h e  Z a U j  i  l a  and t r a v e l  throu gh Ladakh. 

I t  was a  ve ry  d i f f i c u l t  journey  i n  the  dep th  of  

winter  and f o r  many s t a g e s  we had t o  t r a v e l  on f o o t .  

H3wever, t h e  rdaharaja had p r o v l  ded u s  ~ v i  t h  s u f f i  cl  e n t  

food and money and had had a l l  the  S t a t e  Bungalows 

predared f o r  o u r  r e c e p t i o n .  The road  up to Ka rg i l  was 

worse t han  t h e  Gu j h a l  road  beyond Ba l  t i  t an2 we had to  

walk most o f  t h e  way. The R a i a  o f  Skardu carne o u t  a  m i  le 

to meet u s  and beggeci 11s t o  go t o  h i s  house. The gu ides  

with u s  however,  t o l d  u s  t h a t  the Laha ra j a  had made a l l  

a r rangements  i n  t h e  S t a t e  H e s t  House and i t  was t h e r e  me 

s t ayed  f o r  the  t h r e e  d a y s  we h a l t e d .  A S h i a  Raja ha8 

l e n t  Si  kander Khan a  pony t o  r i d e  on and Taz l  r Hashmatrllla, 

, JVaz i r - i - "~azara t  s e n t  a  coup le  f o r  me. 

From Skardu we t u rned  r igh t -handed  t o  Kowardoo; 

thence  on f o o t  t o  Shangooz; from the garden of Samad Khan 

m o t a n b a r  where t h e r e  a r e  h o t  s p r i n g s  and where we 

Sho t  l la rkhor .  From Khotanbar t o  ~ a r a n g o s l l i  - t h i  s p a r t  

of t h e  road was more d i f f i c u l t  than  the  Shimshal - and 

thence  th rz~ugh  Chamugarh t o  Gf l g i  

The j ourlley r r o n  Su rbu l ,  where C ~ ~ t a j n  

O l i v e r  l e f t  u s ,  u n t i l  we reached G i l d  t took us th i r t y  

days .  



The B a l t i  c o o l i e s  we had w i t h  u s  were wonderful  

on t::e d i f f i c u l t  r o a d s ,  b u t  t he  p e o p l e  t h e r e  seemed 

v e r y  p o o r  and oppressed .  

C H A P T 3 3  VIII 

Uy t o  t h i s  t ime C i v i l  and F i g h t i n g  L e v i e s  had 

been  r a i s e d  i n  each  i l a q a  b u t  t h e r e  was no r e g u l a r  t r a i n -  

l n g  f o r  them. I n  t h e  autumn of 1912 ELa,'or Uacpherson 

P.h.,  who was on t o u r  i n  Hunza broached a  new p r o s 2 e c t  

t3  me. 

His  i d e a  was t h a t  the  l e v i e s  s h m l d  b e  d i sbane -  

ed and i n  t h e i r  p l a c e  a  Cor7s zjf S c ~ u t s  should  b e  e n l i s t e d  

who would go i n t o  O i l g i  t . f o r  a month e v e r y  y e a r  t o  b e  

p r o p e r l y  t r a i n e d  so  t h a t ,  i f  o c c a s l o n  a r o s e ,  t h e r e  would 

b e  t r a i n e d  men t o  d e a l  r ~ i  t h  any menace to t h e  Agency. He 



told me t h a t  so f a r  he had t o l d  no one ab3ut  t h i s  

scheme and asked me 60 t h i n k  i t  ove r  and l e t  him know on 

the fo l l owing  day  whether  I thought  the i d e a  a good one 

and whether t h e  p e o p l e  of' the count ry  would be w i l l i n g  to 

enli s t .  

Having though t  t h e  m a t t e r  over  I went t o  see  

h i m  a t  Al iabad t h e  n e x t  morning and t o l d  him t h a t  I 

thought t h e  plan was sound. I added t h a t  i f  the o t h e r  

Rajas, when they  were asked ,  were no t  p repared  to welcome 

the scheme 1 would g ive  my s o n s  a s  o f f i c e r s  and those of 

!Vazir Humayun Beg and would r a i s e  f o u r  comganies o f  

Scouts each  e i g h t y  s t r o n g .  Only one s t i p u l a t i o n  did  I 

make and t h a t  was t h a t  i f  I iuss ia  o r  China a t t acked  my 

country t he  Government would come to my a s s i s t a n c e .  I 

added t h a t  i f  t h e  Scouts  were t o  go t o  Ind i  a  fo r  t h e i r  

t r a i n i n g  I thought  t h a t  they,  b e i n g  men from a  cold  

country,  might  f i n d  the  h e a t  very  t ry ing .  

Malor Kacpherson no ted  a l l  my points sp id  

t h a t  he w u l d  p u t  them up t o  t h e  ~ o v e r m e n t  of l nd i  a  

when he wrote  t o  them about  the  proposed change i n  

wranger?ents  i n  ~ i  l g i  t. 

He t h e n  went to  Nagir where he asked Eqr 

Si kander Khan t h e  sane ques t i on .  Si bander Khan played 

d e l a y  s a y i n g  t h a t  he d i d  n o t  know whether the  Idea 

WDuld be a c c e p t a b l e  t o  h i s  people  anC immediately Ce- 

spa tched  a  s e c r e t  messenger t o  me t o  ask my acvfce .  



I s e n t  hirn b a c k  word t h a t  t k e  scheme was a gooC one and 

was an  e x c e l l e n t  o p p o r t u n i t y  f o r  t h e  Inen o r  t h e  country 

b e l n g  t r a i n e d  i n  musketry  and r l g h t l n g ,  and so  he told 

tl!e P . A .  t h a t  h i s  nen too ag reed  t o  t h e  i d e a .  

MaJor l!acyFerson saw me on h i s  r e t u r n  ,journe?r 

and. t o l e  me t h a t h e  was ,:oj 11g t o  p u t  the whole m a t t e r  up 

t o  t h e  Government of I n d i a  and hoped t o  g e t  a  r e p l y  about 

i t  by  the t ime  t h a t  J a l s a  came round.  Ye t o l d  me t h a t  

t h e  n l a t t e r  s?ould  s t i l l  be  k e p t  c o n f i d e n t i a l  b u t  t h a t  I 

mi gh t d i  s c u s s  i t w i  th T a z i r  Rumayun Ueg. 

I asked him about  the  o ld  l e v i e s  and my persona l  

bodyguard and he In fors r~ed  me t h a t  t h o s e  who diC n o t  wl sh 

t o  e n l i s t  i n  tFe S c o u t s  wollld be p e n s j  oned o f f ,  b u t  t h a t  

he  f e  ,wed t h a t  m y  bodyguard would be red uced from i t s  

number o f  twelve.  To t h i s  I derrurred and he  promi see  me 

t h a t  he w u l C  d o  a s  much a s  he cou ld  f o r  r e .  

The scheme was f o r m a l l y  s a n c t i o n e d  a f t e r '  f i ve 

montks a s  fo l l ows : -  

Two Companies shoulr! b e  r a i s e 6  rror? uun7a each. 

cons1 st1 ng of e i  g h t y  rnen B I ~ O  would r e c e i v e  twelve rupees  

a  ~ o n t h  wFi1.l t bey  were under  t r a i n i n g  f o r  one ~ o n t h  of 

tF.e y e a r  i n  Gi l g l  t and one rupee  a  month when they  were i n  

t h e i r  hones. I n  charge of  t h e s e  sbould be  my e l C e s t  son 

tihazan Yhan through whom, i  f t hey  had a n y  g o u s e ,  t he  

compla in t  must be rrade. rJe mu12  have the  r s n k  of SubeCar 

1% j o r  and ivrrolllc! l r r ~ e e i  a t e l y  b e  jun l  or t o  the B r  i t i  sh Of'fi C P r s  



jn the corps .  Only men of good f a m i l y  and c h a r a c t e r  

~ o u l d  be e n l j  s t e d  anC i f  I wanted t o  d l  scharge  o r  en11 s t  

anyone 1 s h o u l d  p u t  up m y  p r o p 9 s a l s  to  t h e  Comrpandmt of 

s c o u t s  who would a s k  t h e  P.A. a b o u t  them. Traj o r  ltacpherson 

and E a j o r  B r i d g e s ,  t h e  Ni l1  t a r y  A s s 1  s t a n t ,  were s h o r t l y  

corning t o  Hunza and when t h e y  a r r i v e d  *ere, they would 

en l i s t  t h e  n e c e s s a r y  number o f  men f o r  t h e  Corps. 

I c o l l e c t e d  a l l  the youths  of Hunza a t  Bal t i  t 

and made t h e  announcement ,  t e l l i n g  then1 t h a t  by the 

kjndness o f  t h e  S i r k a r  a  c o r p s  of S c o u t s  was going to be 

raised.  They were  wi t h o u t  excep t i  on very  keen on the  

i d e a  anfi o u t  of t h e  t h r e e  thousand t h a t  had c o l l e c t e d  I 

mace a  s e l e c t i o n  o f  a b o u t  f i v e  hundred f o r  the  P.A. t o  

choose from. ~ l l  the  l d o t t i b a r s  who bad corre i n  s p i d  t h a t  

as 1 had  o f f e r e d  my son they too  were w i l l l n g  to o f f e r  

t h e i r s  and t h a t  as one  h a d  t o  d i e  once i t  mas b e t t e r  to  

d ie  f i g h t i n g  Tor t h e  S i r k a r  an? so  atld l u s t r e  of t h e  n m e  

of Hunza, t h a n  t o  d i e  i n  t b e l r  houses.  

The p . ~ .  a r r j  vet! a t  Al i  abae on t h e  foil 0 ~ 1 %  day 

and a f t e r  o u r  f ~ r n a l  e n q u i r i e s  abou t  each o t h e r ' s  h e a l t h  

to ld  me t h a t  I shou ld  have t h e  men ready  f o r  e n l l s t ~ e n t  

paraded b e f o r e  h i r ~  a t  noon t h e  n e x t  (jay* They calne e e r e p  

f j v e  hundred of the  p i  ck  of Hunza's you ths ,  i n  t>e*r 'lean 

c l o t h e s  and w i t h  f l o w e r s  i n  t h e j r  caps.  The o f r i c e r s  

were b e w i l d e r e d  a t  tpe s i g h t  of '0 many f i n e  and 



knew how t o  s t a r t  choosirlg them. 

I f i r s t  p r e s e n t e d  them w i t h  my e l d e s t  son Ghazan 

Khan a s  Subedar ,  Major; l a z i r  Humayun B ~ G  then  o f f e r e d  h i s  

e l d e s t  son  S h u k f u l l a  Beg a s  Subedar  of one Company and 

h i s  nephew J!ohlbatul la  Beg son of Poh'd Raza Beg as 

Subedar of t h e  o t h e r .  Noh'd 3 a f i  a d  a n o t h e r  marl were 

ap.pointed a s  Jemadars and t h e n  I l e f t  t h e  o r f l c e r s  t o  

choose  the  hundred and s i x t y  men t h a t  were n e c e s s a r y  f o r  

the  r a n k  and f i l e ,  t e l l i n g  them t h a t  I was l e a v i n g  them 

i n  a  f l o w e r  garden  to  s e l e c t  the  b l o s ~ o m s  they  m q u i r e d  t o  

make a  bouque t .  

The f i r s t  few they  chose were  pen  of' low c a s t e ,  

f o r  they d i d  n o t  t hen  r e a l i s e  t h a t  a l l  the  men of  Hunza 

frorr. wha tever  c a s t e ,  t ake  a p r i d e  i n  l o o k i n g  c lean .  These 

were r e j e c t e d  when I t o l d  them anC o t h e r s  were t aken  on i n  

t h e i r  s t e a d ,  u n t i l  a l l  v a c a n c i e s  were f i l l e d .  

1 had asked Major Xacpherson if we might  observe 

t h e  012 customs and he had agreed  so t h e  f o l l o w i n g  cerenony 

took  p l a c e ,  an o l d  ri t u a l  t h a t  haC always b e e n  gone 

thr3ugh when t h e  men of  Hunza marched o u t  t o  war. 

E i g h t  s t a n z a s  of an  o l d ,  o ld  song  were sung,  a  

male g o a t  was s l a u g h t e r e d  on t h e  drum and the  head c a r r j  ed 

round the  c i r c l e  formed by the  newly e n l i s t e d  men s o  t h a t  

a l l  could s e e  t h e  blood.  l!y bodyguard and t h e  l o c a l s  

t h e r e  t hen  f i r e d  a  s a l u t e  and the  f l a g  o f  Runza and the 

Uni on J a c k  were waved over  t h e  heads  o f  t h e  men t o  r e v i v e  







their m a r t j a l  a r d o u r .  F i n a l l y  t h r e e  rl ngjng  cheera  r e r e  

gjven and t h e  P o l l  t i c a l  Agent made a speech to the 

r ~ l l o w l n g  e f f e c t .  

"UP t o  t h i s  t ime t h e r e  were l e v i e s  who have done 

v e r y  good s e m i  c e  f o r  the  S t a t e  bu t you, oh scou ts now 

take the  1  r p l a c e  aid the  honour  o f  the Si r k a r  and e e  

good name of  y o u r  c o u n t r y  a r e  hencef'orward I n  your  hands. 

If i n  t h e  f u t u r e  you have any  c o m p l a i n t s  t o r a k e ,  they  

should b e  nade  t o  t h e  Subedar  Uajor  who w l l l  brl ng them 

to  the n o t i c e  of t k e  Commandant of S c o u t s  f o r  h i s  

dec l s lons .  Uo n o t  t h l n k  t h a t  because  you now s e r v e  t h e  

S i r k a r  t h a t  you can behave  wl t h  i n s o l e n c e  t o  your E i r .  

I t  i s  i n  h i s  h a n d s  a s  t o  whom i s  e n l i s t e d  o r  d i scharged  

from the  S c o u t s  and t o  him you must now and always pay 

the same r e s p e c t  t h a t  you have i n ' t h e  p a s t . "  

A f t e r  making t h l  s speech  the P.A. c o n g r a t u l a t d  

them a l l  and  l e f t  f o r  Nagir  t o  r a i s e  the  S c o u t s  t h e r e .  

In N a g j r  t h i n g s  d i d  n o t  go SO s ~ o o t h l y  a s  they 

had I n  Punaa. m z i r  muds Aman d e s l r e d  one of h i s  sons  t o  

be  made S u b e d a r  i n s t e a d  o.f S u l t a n  All  who had been Pro-  

Posed b y  t h e  M i r .  A g e a t  d e a l  of  argument took  p l a c e  and 

f i n a l l y  t h e  q u e s t i o n  was l e f t  open dnd the  P.A. me 

t o  meet  him a t  ]!innapin t o  d i s c u s s  t h e l r  r e s p e c t i v e  r jgh t se  

I t o l d  him t h a t  S u l t a n  A l i O s  f a t h e r  had been  governor a t  

Chaprot  and t h a t  he had done g r e a t  s e r v i c e  the 

of S j k a n d e r  m a n .  Accordingly  he was @pointed  a 



Gauthar  man  mas made ano the r  and the  l q i r - ' s  e l d e s t  son 

Moh'd All  Khan t aken  on a s  Subeciar hQJor. 

None o f  t h e  f'amily of '7a7,j r mucia Aman \were 

e n l i  s t e d .  

q u i t e  soon d t e r  the  S c o u t s  were r a i s e r !  t h e  

G r e a t  '.Tar b roke  ou t and sho r ' t l y  a f t e r  i  ts cor?mencement an 

e x p r e s s  w i r e  cm.e from Simla  t o  Major James, l ~ h o  was ac t ing  

P . A .  a s k i n g  him t o  t r y  and i n t e r c e p t  two Cernan O f r i  c e r s  

who hacl l e f t  China w i th  t h e  i d e a  of e n t e r i n g  Af'ghanlstan 

and winning the  m i r  over  t o  t h e  s i d e  o f  t h e  C e n t r a l  

Powkrs. He t o l d  me to Co what I could.  

There were two ways a long  which t he se  o f r i c e r s  

could  come; e i t h e r  th rough  3 a s k m  and o v e r  t h e  Aphrang or  

e l s e  b y  f l i k s o o .  I s e n t  Faiz,oo a  l ambarda r  w i t h  twenty 

s h i m s h a l l e s  to Iiaskam and Subedar Poh'd 3 a f f i  to t h e  

K i l l i k  t o  keep a  l o o k  o u t  on t h a t  r o u t e .  

'Nhen Fa i  zoo g o t  t o  Raskam he found t h a t  t he  

Germans had gone towards t h e  Aphrang and f o l l o w i n g  the  

t r a c k  of t h e i r  two p o n i e s  and one a n k e y  , came upon them 

wander ing a i ~ l e s s l y  about  a s  t hey  had l o s t  t h e i r  way and 

d i d  n o t  know how to  g e t  t o  the P a s s .  

I had warned Fa i  zoo t h a t  he must p r e t e n d  to be 

f r i e n d l y  i f  he  came a c r o s s  them s o  h e  of.Cered to show them 

t h e  way and l e d  ther! b a c k  by  a  devi  ous r o u t e  t o  Haskam 

where they were a r r e s t e d .  Here t hey  d l  scovered t h e i r  n j  s- 

t ake  from t h e i r  maps, b u t  i t  was t hen  t oo  l a t e  and i n  s p i t e  



of t h e i r  p r o t e s t a t i o n s  t h a t  they were Swiss, they were 

taken t o  Hunza. On t h e  way t h e r e  t h e i r  e f f e c t s  were 

~earched and a r e v o l v e r  was found in the possess1 on of each 

of them. The s e n l o r  o f f i c e r  was a  Major and the  o t h e r  a 

Lieutenant. The f o r m e r ' s  t o e s  g o t  bad ly  f r o s t  b i t t e n  

going over  t h e  P a s s  and I had to  send a  doc to r  to Passu 

to a t t e n d  t o  them. 

On arrl v a l  a t  n a l  t i  t they were separa.ted , the  

biajor be j  ng p u t  i n  the  Karlmabad garden whi le  f o r  the 

Lieutenant  a t e n t  was p i t c h e d  down below my house. Kajor 

James and 1 f i r s t  went t o  the  s e n i o r  of the  two and abked 

hin t o  g ive  an account  of h i m s e l f ,  p o i n t i n g  o u t  to  him th8 

his  o n l y  hope o f  l e n i e n c y  l a y  i n  t e l l l n g  u s  the  t r u t h .  He, 

bwever ,  s t u c k  t o  t h e  t a l e  t h a t  he was a  Swiss t r a v e l l e r  

who had l o s t  h i s  way coming o v e r  t h e m u n t a j n s  andhad been 

captured and b r o u g h t  t o  Hunza. ~ f t e r  l e av ing  him l f a jo r  

James asked n e  what 1 c o n s i t e r e d  we ought to do nex t  and I 

suggested t h a t  pe rhaps  t h e  L ieu tenan t ,  be ing  younger, would 

be l e s s  d i s c r e e t .  Accordingly we proceeded t o  the  p l ace  

where he was kep t  armed wi th  a  b o t t l e  o f  bee r .  This proved 

a most e f f e c t i v e  weapon with t h e  younger man alW-ough the 

Major had r e f u s e d  I  t and he knocked o f f  the top and drank 

the c o n t e n t s  a t  one draught .  He could speak a  l i t t l e  

Turk1 s o  1 a c t e d  as i n t e r p r e t e r  and he admitted a f t e r  

Some c l o s e  q u e s t i o n i n g  t h a t  they were German officers and 

were on m e i r  way t o  Afghanistan when they  were captured* 



The Major had l e f t  h i s  wife i n  China and they had come 

by Kokand and  arka and, taM ng unfrequented roads  whenever 

p o s s i b l e  so  a s  to  avoid obse rva t ion  and Zaylng guides 

they  found on t h e i r  way l a r g e  sums of money t o  remain 

s i l e n t .  ~t Raskam, he s a l e ,  they had been unable to obtain 

a guide t o  show them the  way over t h e  Aphrang and had, In 

consequence, gone a s t r a y .  

A f t e r  t h i s  we searched t h e j r  k i t  andfound a  

r i f l e ,  two r e v o l v e r s  some c a r t r i  dges ,  about  seven thousand 

gold Chinese c o l n s  and one German coin.  This  l a t t e r  I 

took and showed t o  the  Eajor  who seemed very  much ashamed 

t h a t  hi s young comrade had confessed. 

Un the fo l lowing day they s e t  o u t  under  Ghazan 

Khan's e s c o r t  t o  Gi 1gj  t having been provided w l  t h  new 

c l o t h i n g  and ponl e s  b y  me. Before they l e f t  t h e i r  photo- 

graphs were taken and t h e  Major thanked me warmly f o r  the 

kindness  1 had shown t o  them say ing  t h a t  i n  spi t e  of the 

f a c t  of t h 2 i r  zagture t h s y  had t r a v e l l e d  i n  the utmost 

colnfort through rrly t e r r i  t o r y ,  and t h a t  a1 though he had 

v i s i t e d  most c o u n t r i e s  i n  the  world hehad never met such 

f i n e  men a s  those of Hunza who, he added " t r a v e l  l i k e  mules 

over  the h i l l s  and swim l l k e  f i s h  3n t h e  water. 

I n  r e p l y  I t o l d  hlm t h a t  haO i t  n o t  been f o r  the  

in f luence  of the  benlgn B r l  t i s h  Government my men would 

probably have k i l l e d  them and taken a l l  t h e i r  possess ions  ! 



S h o r t l y  a f t e r  t h l  S the Government of I n d i a  ratd 

another man a r r e s t e d  who was golng to  Bighanls tan  to  t r y  

and s t l r  up t r o u b l e .  I t h e r e f o r e ,  s e n t  a p a r t y  of t h l r t y  

scouts under Subedar Moh'd Raffi and Jernadar Ynan Yar 

~ e g  to the  t o p  of t h e  K i l l i k  to  watch the  road t o  

YabI j roo i  and t r y  and i n t e r c e p t  Ra ja  llohindra Pa r t ab .  

h e y  b u i l t  a small cupola  nea r  the  summit I n  which they 

rernalned concea led  d u r i n g  t h a t  clay. A f t e r  they  had been 

there f o r  Some d a y s  1 spoke t o  Major James on the telephone 

and sugges t ed  t3 him t h a t  a s  they could no t  do much good 

where they were ,  t h e y  should  go on t o  Pa l  k and keep a 

look o u t  from t h e r e .  He r e p l l e d  t h a t  he could give no 

orders  on t h e  subJ e c t  as i t was i n  Chinese t e r r l  to ry ,  b u t  

that ,  i f  I would t ake  t he  r e s p o n s i b i l i t y  of answering any 

0b:ections t he  Chlnese a u t h o r i  t i e s  might make, I could 

send them t h e r e .  

I t o l d  t h e  p a r t y  to go on t o P a l k ,  with two 

weeks r a t i o n s  from Gircha,  and to t e l l  t he  Chinese a u t h o r i t  

i e s ,  i f  they  asked any q u e s t i o n s  t h a t  they were there  to 

P r o t e c t  t h e  ma1 1. Thi s they t o l d  to  tb bban, who was 

sa t !  sf i  sd wi t h  t h e i r  exp lana t l  on. 

I also wrote to S i r  James Macartney who was 

C O n s u l - ~ e n a r a l  a t  Kashgar and askeO hlm i f  they could be 

s u i L l i  ad w i t h  r a t i o n s  from Tashkurgan, which was done. 

The ~ O S  t was found so usef 'ul  t h a t  i t remained there  f o r  

the r e s t  of the  and f o r  a s h o r t  time af t e r ~ a d s t  the 



men b e i n g  r e l i e v e d  a t  c e r t a i n  i n t e r v a l s .  

The Amban who was there  then was a very good 

man and f r i e n d l y  t o  B r i  t l  s h  1 n t e r e s t s ;  he was afterwards 

murdered by the  (;hlnese. 

I n  1931 I had to  go down to  S r i n a g a r  to  see a 

d e n t i s t  a s  1 had l a t t e r l y  been having t m u b l e  wi th  my 

t e e t h  and thought t h a t  I w ~ u l d  pay a  vi si t to  t h e  Uaharaja.  

a s  well .  

We l e f t  Hunza I n  August anc! were met a t B a n d i -  

pore  by a  motor c a r  and a  l o r r y  t h a t  had bezn s e n t  there  

b y  H i s  HI ghness whose gues ts  we were t o  be a t  Chashma Shah1 

for t e n  days. Three days l a t e r  the Yir of  ?Jagir and t h e  

RaJa of Puni a1 a r r i v e d  anC a  day o r  so a f t e r  them came the 

'Eiaja of ~ i l g i .  t. 

When we h a t  a l l  a r r l v e d  we were summoned to  attend 



on the Mahara ja  and  found when we g o t  t h e r e  t h a t  a l l  h i s  

~ i n l s t e r s  were  c o l l e c t e d .  On his e n t r a n c e  we a l l  stood 

up and sa l aamed  a n d  t h e n  resumed o u r  s e a t s .  

1 was f i r s t  c a l l e d  u p  and Ki s Highness  asked me 

if  1 had had a n y  t r o u b l e  on  the  r o a d  and on  ny r e p l y i n g  

tha t  I had none  h e  s a l e  t h a t  he had a  g r e a t  a d m l r a t i o n  f o r  

my p e o p l e  and  was d e l i g h t e d  t h a t  we had come t o  s e e  him 

a f t e r  n o t  v i s l t t n g  him f o r  s o  many y e a r s .  

1 answered  " T h a t  I s  a l l  r l  g h t ,  b u t  why d l d  you 

not  a s k  u s  ? You s e n t  f o r  t h e  F e h t a r  of Chi t r a l  anC I f  

You wanted u s  t o  come you s h o u l d  have a s k e d  u s  a s  we a r e  

Your fri ends .  " 
"I s e n t  you l e  t t e r s  he r e t o r t e d  

RThey were n e v e r  r e c e i v e d n  I r e p l i e d .  

'Did I n o t  send   letter^?^ he  a s k e d ,  t u r n i n g  t o  

Janak Singk.. 

"Yes,  y e s  Zlaharaj " 

H P e r h a p s  t h e y  wers e a t e n  b y  r a t s  i n  your  o f f i c e  "  

I S u g g e s t e d  *as t h e y  neve r  r e a c h e d  me. l f  they  hae I would 

c e r t a i n l y  have answered them." 

~j s pi g h n e s s  t h e n  s t a r t e d  ask l  ng everyone whet3er  

he h a d n ' t  w r i t t e n  me l e t t e r s  and w h i l e  tl!ey were s t i l l  

w g u l n g  1 r e p e a t e d  t h a t  anyhow they  ha6 n e v e r  a r r i v e d *  

F i n a l l y  t h e  u a h a r a j a  s a i d  .perhaps i t  i s  t k e  f a u l t  

of t h e  o f f  1 ce anfi t h e y  g o t  l e f t  t h e r e .  Anyholv I kad 

v i s i t i n g  G i l g l  t b u t  a t  t h a t  time the  H l l r z l l  c l o s e n * "  



"If you had s e n t  u s  a n  l nv l  t a t i o n n  I r e p l i  ed 

"and the  B u r z l l  had been  c l o s e d  we could have cone by 

3hi t r a l  a s  t h e  cho ice  of r o u t e  was ou r s .  " 

" I  wanted t o  go t o  G l l g l t  t o  s e e  t he  coun t ry . "  

" I t  haC been  your  count ry  f o r  sone t ime"  I 

answered "and j t i  s a  good t h i n g  t o  s e e  your  geoy le .  

" I t  Is vzry f a r  2nd tP.e r o a e  i s  n o t  good, 

"What a r e  P r i n c e s w  I r e t o r t e d  " I f  t hey  do n o t  

so and s e e  e v e r y  p a r t  o r  t h e i r  domain ? The Commancier-In- 

:hl e f  came, Lord Curzan cane and Lord Kl t c h e n e r  came. Of 

:ourse mo to r s  canno t  g e t  t h e r e ,  b u t  s t i l l t h e r e  a r e  ho r se s . "  

H i  s Hi ghness  t hen  showed me hi s f o o t  where he had 

) roken  h i s  ank le  s k y i n g  I n  Gulrnarg and s a i d  tihat he  coulcl 

l o t  walk. 

i s  no nee2 to  walkn I s a j  d .  "You can r l d e  

;he whole way 2nd a f t e r  a l l  yo11 go t o  Srlgland f r e q u e n t l y  ane 

; i l g l t  i s  n o t  a s  f a r  a s  t h a t . "  

We con t inued  t a l k i n g  l i k e  t b l s  f o r  a n  hou r  and 

' I n a l l y  he s a i d  t h a t  he woulrlame b u t  t h a t  I must be 

* e s p m s i b l ~ ,  t h a t  he g o t  a markhor and an  I b e x ,  I t o l d  

l i m  t h a t  1 caul(l. n o t  gua ran t ee  t h i s  a s  t h s r e  were no good 

leads I n  Hunza p r o 2 e r  b u t  t h a t ,  he Should make the Vaza ra t  

)f r i c e r s  r e s y o n s i b l e  a s  t h e r a  were s e v e r a l  good hsaCs 

-ound A s t o r .  I could ensure  h l  s g e t t i n g  a  P o l l  and a 

;ood l b e x  i f  he went up t o  t h e  I c l l l l k  b u t  *.en I ln fo rned  

ilm t h a t  t h i s  meant a  t e n  days  Journey  from B a l  t i  t ,  n o s t l y  







on f o o t ,  he s a i d  t h a t  I t  was too f a r  and t h a t  he d id  not  

think t h a t  he could g e t  beyond Hunza and Nagir. The Prime 

~ i n i s t e r  agreed  t h a t  I t  would be  a  good th ing  i f  he did 

come up to v i  s l  t us.  

He t h e n  asked me if we played p o l o  and i f  so 

how and I r e p l i e d  t h a t  he had b e t t e r  a s k  Janak Singh who 

had been t h e r e .  Janak  Singh sa id  t h a t t h e  po lo  was wonder- 

ful i n  Hunza and cont inued  t h a t  i n  a competi t i  on the  

loosing team were s t r12ped  and thrown i n t o  the v i l l a g e  

pond; he r e p e a t e d  many o t h e r  t h ings  that  His HI ghness 

found v e r y  amusing. He s a i d  t h a t  the country  was very 

b e a u t i f u l  and. the  peoyle  were so f r i e n d l y  t h a t  they 

salaamed everyone.  He then mentioned my two f o r t s  a t  

A l t i t  and B a l t i t  and t o l d  H i s  Highness t h a t  B a l t i s  haC 

made the  l a t t e r .  

"How d i d  the B a l t i  s come the re?  lnau i  red the 

Maharaja. 1 r e p l i e d  t h a t  f i v e  hundred B a l t i s  haC been 

s e n t  i n t o  t he  coun t ry  a s  a wedding g i f t  when h i s  daughter 

marr ied Ayesho one of my a n c e s t o r s ,  i n  the  days  when 

Abdar Khan was King of B a l t i  s t an .  She thought t h a t  the 

f o r t  at A l t i t  and the  p o l o  ground t h e r e ,  t ! i c h  was formerly 

c a l l e d  Shah s h l ~ a r r a n  were f a r  too small  and s o  had tham 

en la rged .  

He then asked how many y e a r s  we had been in 

Hunza and asked where we came from anC! I t o l d  him t h a t  

about  s i x  hundred y e a r s  ago we h d  Come f r o m  Skarnu 

Gi  l g i  t and from the  r e  had s e t t l e d  i  n XUnza. He seemed X- 



s u r p r i s e d  when 1 t o l d  him t h a t  my f o r t s  were s t i l l  

s t a n d i n g .  

After a c e r t a i n  arnount of converusation w i t h  

h i s  m i n i s t e r s  he turnea  to me and sa id  t h a t  he would 

c e r t a i n l y  come. 

The p r e s e n t s  we had b r o u g l ~ t  f o r  him, were 

i i s p l a y e u ,  [nine and t h e  Y i r  of N a g i r e s  s e p a r a t e l y .  x y  

g i r t s  compriseu two ponies ,  vases ,  cnogas,  a small sworsa 

m u  some m u r b l  e m u  d i s  iiii;r~riess seerrlcc very  p leazed  

w i t n  them. 

'fie tile11 r e t u r n e u  to Ciiasnma Stlani anu a t  r i v e  

o 'c lock  went t o  M r .  Rara?ales house where we were t o  have 

t e a .  I was l a t e  g e t t i n g  t h e r e  a s  I tlau had to have m y  

t e e t h  seen to  b e f o r e  and soon a f t e r '  I alxmivea an A.D.C, 

came from t h e  Yaharaja  asking  cle to  go over t h e r e .  

Although I h a ~  n o t  had my t e a  I thougtlt i t  b e t t e r  t o  go 

3nd, t e l l i n g  t h e  i f i r  of  Nagir t h a t  1 could n o t  e a t  t e a  

prepared by a  Eindu, I accorr~yanied t h e  h.D.7. i n  a  19311s 

Rbyce to t h e  t e n n i s  c o u r t s  below tile pa lace  where X i s  

Highness mas p laying .  

Re soon f i n i s h e d  h i s  s e t  and then came and s a t  

lowrl i v i  t h  me. 'Ihe 4Ff endi , 701 one1 I( hu s r u  Jung , Er. Chop r a  

met some o t h e r s  were hlso t h e r e .  

1 was si t t i i l g  next  to  t h e  Ei'L'enui to  wiloril the  

Xaiurhja lntrociucea Ine, t e l l i n g  me t h a t  ue was trle son 

3f .\shim Khan l~hom 1 had met on n j  way to Ca lcu t t a  wrlen 



I went t o  v l s l  t Lord Curzon m e r e .  P l s  Hlghness  asked 

me i f  I p l a y e d  t e n n i s  and I t o l d  him t h a t  f d i d  n o t  

a l t h ' ~ ~ g h  I ha& s e e n  the Sahlbs p l a y i n g  i n  Gl lg l  t. He 

said t h a t  h e  round  i  t was e x c e l l e n t  exercise. He then  

asked me I f  I st! 11. played p o l o  and I s a j d  t h a t  I had 

given I t  up y e a r s  b e f o r e .  

He t h e n  t o l d  me t h a t  he 11 ked 19. Todd, the  

Poli  t i  c a l  Agent  i n  Gi l g l  t and a 1  s o  Colonel  Ogj l v l e ,  the 

Hes ident  b u t  t h a t ,  h e  d l d  n o t  l i k e  YaJor  Loch. To t h i s  

I s a i d  t h a t  a11 S a h i b s  were good b u t  h e  shook h i s  head 

and murr~ured  t h a . t  solne were and some wgre n o t .  Fe askeC! 

r!!e 1 f 1 1,voulC obey h i s  o r C e r s  i f  he rule(!  i n  my count ry  

So I r e t o r t e d  b y  a s k i n g  hirn i f  he w 3 1 l d  l i k e  my o r t e r s  

i n  h i s :  h e  s a i d  t h a t  1 was f a r  t o o  s h a r p  and asked me 

where my f r o n t i e r  was. I o v e r h e a r d  him say1 ng i  n qng l i  sh 

ta h i  s P r i m e  !:i n i  s t e r  t h a t  I was v e r y  a l e r  t ant! c l  sver .  

l-!e t h e n  gave me a d r i n k  and s a i d  t h a t  he r n u s t ~ o  as  he 

was d i n i n g  a t  t h e  iqesidency t h a t  n i g h t  b u t  t h a t  he  expec t -  

ed t o  See me a t y o l o  on t h e  f o l l o w i n g  day. 

. T h r ~ u g h  some overs1  g k t  he had om1 tteci t o  a s k  

the  Mir o f  ITagir t o  t h e  p o l o  anr? when I t o l d  k i n ,  he 

s a i d  t h a t  i t  was t h e n  too l a t e  to do so. Ye asked r e  t o  

g o l o  b u t  1 tol,! him t h a t  I was t o o  o l d .  

On the  f o l l o w i n g  day  Colonel  Fhusru J u n g  

a p o l o g i  s c d  to  t h e  ):ir of I lag i r  f o r  n o t  a s k i n g  h i m  to  

P o l 0  an(! sl i r?  t h , n t  t h e  Miha ra ja  hoped t h a t  he collld come 



h a t  a f te rnoon .  He a s ~ e d  h l n  b e f o r e  a s k i n g  me and t h a t  

s t i  s f i  ed him. 

On a n o t h e r  day  the  Sf fendl  asked me to d i n n e r .  

too!c my band w i t h  rr.e and he enjoyed i t  very 1r.uch a s  he 

a i d  t h a t  i t rernjnded him of t h e  o ld  clays i n  Kabul. He 

a s  ve ry  u p s e t  &en 1 a r r i v e d  a s  he had j u s t  opened a  

a r c e l  that had come rrorr. t h e  Laha ra j a  anc! had rounC a  

i v e  r a t  i n s l d e  l  t. H e  t o l d  ne t h a t  H i  s Highness knew 

e was t e r r i f i e d  of  them and f r e q u e n t l y  s e n t  them to  him. 

t o l d  him t h a t  the  b e s t  t h i n g  to  Co was to  r e t a l i a t e  

y sending  - H i  s Fi ghness sorne t h i n g  t h a t  he was r r i  ghtened 

f ,  b u t  the  Ef fendi  t 3 l d  me t h a t  he was o n l y  a f r a i d  of' 

nakes and tha  he ,  h imse l f  d i d  n o t  l l k e  them e i t h e r .  

Soon a f t e r  d i n n e r  t he  te lephone  b e l l  rang  and 

1s Highness asked the  Sfferirii t o  t ake  me up t o  Q.e 

i l a c e .  7e a r r i v e d  t h e r e  i n  a  c a r  and found the 1,laharaja 

i t h  a  few l n t i m a t e  f r i e n d s  whoa. he was e n t e r t a i n j n g  

i t h  a  danci  ng gi rl. A f t e r  g - e e  t i n g  u s  he handed pe an  

nmense whlsky and soda. I asked hlri t o  excuse me, s ay ing ,  

? a t  so b i g  a  d r i n k  was t m  much f o r  a man of  my y e a r s  t o  

? a 1  wi t k  and e v e n t u a l l y  he poured me ou t a n o t h e r  and 

c a l l e r  one. Re asked me wkat I thought  of t h e  g i r l ' s  

Inging anc? I saic! t k a t  I found i t  v e r y  p l e a s a n t .  Te 

trnainec t?!ere u n t i l  ?!elf pa . s t  one a d  i t  was a f t e r  two 

' c l o c k  i n  the  morning, when I reached  the  Chashna Shahi .  

t o l d  the  P,esi d e n t  where I had been  b u t  n o t  the  o t h e r s  



as I f e l t  t h a t  t h e y  m l g h t  be J e a l o u s  I f  they h a w  t h a t  

I had b e e n  a s k e d  t o  t h e  P a l a c e  when t h e y  h d  n o t  . 
On t h e  following rnornlng we r e c e i v e d  v i s l  t s  

from ~ o l o n e l  Khusru Jung  and t h e  Prime E l n l s t e r  Yrfshen 

Paul. They were  v e r y  C O U ~ ~ ~ O U S  t o  u s  an6  Ins1  s t e d  t h a t  

we should  s t a y  o n  as g u e s t s  of the  l ' a h a r a j a  f o r  a n o t h e r  

f l  ve days. J a n a k  Si ngh diC n o t  come and v l  s l  t us .  

D u r i n g  t h i s  t i m e  we n ~ e t  1.P. Latirner  the  new 

R e s i d e n t  a d  had  d i n n e r  w i t h  hirn one n i a t .  

H i s  H ighness  s a i d  t h a t  he must  s e e  sopa G i l g l t  

polo and a s k e d  me t o  f i x  I t  up f o r  h im  . I t  was v e r y  

d i f r i c u l t  as we hac? no d e c e n t  y o n l ~ s  o r  b a n C s ~ e n  wi th  u s  

b u t  I d i d  what  I c o u l d  an6  eventual ly  some men were found 

i n  t h e  Regiment  w!:o coulC! p l a y  t h e  S a r a n a i  and they  

were h a s t i l y  t a u g h t  t h e  p o l o  t u n e s  t h a t  a r e  used UP he re .  

polo was t o  b e  p l a y e d  t h a t  a f t e r n o o n  a  g r e a t  cl,owd c o l l e c t -  

ed and t h e  ground was surrounded.  b y  parked c a r s .  Colonel  

S u t b e r l a n d  an2 H i s  Highness  were t h e r e  and wanted to  go 

n e a r e r  t o  s e e  more o f  the  gane b u t  I d  i ssuadeC them as I t 

was too  d a n g e r o u s .  Nahbub was i l l  a t  t he  time ant2 SO 

could  n o t  p l a y  b u t  we were l e p r e s e n t e d  b y  Jarcal Khan and 

BaPp0. The f o r m e r  was a b l e  to c a t c h  the  b a l l  d u r i n g  

the  p lay  and, arvld g r e ~ t  c h e e r s  f rom the c r o d ,  succeeOed 

i n  r i d i n g  th raugh  t i e  g o a l  wi th  i t .  

A f t e r  t b i  s we moved to  ~e  Resi dency e G  we 



s t a y e d  a s  Gr. L a t i m e r ' s  g u e s t s  Tor tell u a y s .  

'The idaharaj a '  s Sro t n e r - i n - l a w  carne t o  u s  ; ~ a ~  

s a i d  t h a t  t h e  Prirrle ; . ' I i2 is ter  wanteu !:le, i i ag i r  allI: F ~ r i i a l  

to  go t o  h i s  nouse a s  t i ~ e i ' e  was so!ne bus i r l ess  ii. *:Id!itea 

to t r a n s a c t  ~ i t i l  u s .  .7neri we 60 t t h e r e  ~ K A C  - :,. . t o l a  

:ne t h a t  h e  tlau a r r anged  t!lat L a t a n u a s s  was to  be !nine 

ana t h a t  t h e  ;;aharaj a was g i v i n g  u s  J i r g a s  o f  about  

b.1700/-, lb00/- and. 900/- r e s g e c t i v e l y  i n  llonour 0;" 

o u r  mee t ing .  The o t n e r  two were cieligrlteci a t  trle i a e a  

bu t I poi!?tei  o u t  to t n e  Prirne i i i n i s t e r  t h a t  Kasainir was 

a l o n g  way f'rom " , i lg i  t and t n a t  i t would be inuch more 

s a t i s f a c t o r y  f o r  u s  i f  we could  b s  g iven l a n u  n e a r e r  our  

h~mes.  Ye s a i d  t h a t  he  q u i t e  r ' e a l i s e u  t r l a t  b u t ,  a s  i t  

was a  f r o n t i e r  countcy ,  a  g r e a t  d e a l  o f  corresponuence 

would have to t a k s  p l a c e  -ui t h  t n e  Government o f  I n a i a  

b e f o r e  w e  cou l a  be  allowec; to  'nave lai lu t h e r e  and he  

t h o u ~ h t  t h a t  i t  vould be i n p o s s i b l e .  I r e p l i e u  t n a t  1 

woulu t n ink  i t  over  b u t  s t i l l  c o n s i ~ e r e d  t h a t  i t  woula 

be r~luchrnore s u i t a b l e  i r  we coula  have i t  t n e r e .  B u t  

he s t i l l  s a i d  " i m p o s s i b l e n .  

As soon a s  I cou la  ~ e t  away I went t o  t n e  

Resiael lcy anL found t h a t  Mi.. Toua was having a  bat:l. 

3omever he dressac:  a s  l u i c k l y  a s  he  cou lc~  anu we 

discusseci  tt'le rnatter  and i t  was f i n a l l y  a r r a n g e d  t n a t  

I should  go anc: s e e  Tolone1 Khusru Jung on t h e  fo l l owing  



morning and t r y  and g e t  t h e  J a g i r  a l t e r e d  to land in 

G i l g i  t 

Colonel F.huwu Jung s a i d  t n a t  ne would do what 

he  could b u t  cLici n o t  f e e l  very  hogeful  about  it. ~e 
tnen t o l a  me t h a t  t h e r e  woula be a Durbar on t he  morrow 

when we coulcl p r e s e n t  our  I'iazrs to H.H. and r e c e i v e  the  

p a p e r s  g r a n t i n g  u s  our  l a n u .  H e w e n t  on to lnformrne 

o f  the  p r o c e e a u r e  a t  a Durbar b u t  1 c u t  -nim s h o r t  and 

said t h a t  I was w e l l  aware of t n e  p roceecu re  as  I had 

attended many i n  ny t ime i n c l u d i n g  t h a t  o f  tile King 

Zmperor. 

I ,  Nag i r ,  P u n i a l ,  Astor  and , S i l g i t  a t tended 

the Durbar on t h e  f o l l o w i n g  a a y  and t ~ a g i r  and I presented 

o u r  f i v e  pound !iazr anc! were given the  papers  r e l a t i n g  

to o u r  g i f t  o f  l and  amid t h e   ong gratulations of  a l l  

p resen t .  I however s a i d  t h a t  1 would l i k e  to see  the 

land t h a t  had been given 30 me be fo re  formal ly  accept ing 

Janak  S n g a  a s k s ~  :ne wrly ailu I t o l a  niln t h a t  m j  

Beogle i n  Hunza would exgec t  ms t o  have seen what belonged 

Ine. He s t i l l  objecteo.  ( f o r  ne knew t h a t  t he  l a n d  

t h a t  nad been a l l o t t a u  w a s  wor th l e s s )  b u t  Colonel K h u s n  

Jung came to my r e s c u e  and ~ r o m i s e d  tmat a car  snould be 

p laced  a t  my d i s p o s a l  on trle fo l lowing morning* 

NO c a r  a r r i v a u  so I s e t  o u t  i n  one I hir'ea at 

my own expense.  Ve drove o u t  to beyond Sumbul and tila 



I walked about  t h r e e  m i l e s  on Foot. I t  was very not  

anu I askea t h e  Tehs i lda r ,  who was w i t h  me, f o r  some 

water ,  b u t  he s a i d  t h e r e  was none. He then asked me 

f o r  :ny papers  and I t o l d  t l i r n  t h a t  1 ha& decided n o t  t o  

accep t  t h e  l and  a s  i t  was wor th less  and askecl him t o  

show me o t h e r  l and  i n  t h e  neighboul-hood which was b e t t e r .  

This he d id .  1 d i d n o t  g e t  back u n t i l  e i g h t  a t  n i g h t .  

On t h e  fo l lowing morning Nagir,  ~ a h b u b  and 

3appo came round and asked me what I thought of t h e  l and  

t h a t  had been given to  m e  and 1 t o l d  tnem t h a t  1 d i d  n o t  

l i k e i t  a a d i n t e n d e d r e t u r n i n g  i t  t o  tr le:vlaharaja.  'They 

s a i d  t n a t  they would ao t h e  sa;na b u t  tile Raja of Punia l  

seemed s a t i s f i e d  with t h e  ground t i la t  h a U  been apportioned 

to  him and decilieu to keep i t .  

Ae went, accnra ing l  y ,  to Jarlak Singhg s house. 

He asked me what we trlought of  t n e  l and  and 1 t o l d  him 

t h a t  t h e r s  was no water on i t  ana trlat  i t  was thoroughly 

bad. He seemed suryrisecr. Ke askedm'e i f  I 1-ad signed 

the  papers  and I rep l l eG t h a t  I had n o t  and reques ted  

him t o  thank the  l taharaja  very much indeed f o r  his p r e s e n t  

wNch I beggea l e a v e  to  r e t u r n  to him. He was much 

u p s e t  by t h i s  and s a i d  t h a t  w e  could n o t  poss ib ly  r e t u r n  

t h e  l a n d  a s  i t  had been given to u s  i n  t h e  Durbar and i t  

was a g a i n s t  the  custom of t h e  country.  @yo t h i s  1 r e t o r t e a  

t h a t  he m u s t  remember t h a t  we were s t r a n g e r s  *om a  country 







where o t h e r  c ~ s t o r n s  P r e v a i l e a  anu a f t e r  a  g r e a t  dea l  

o f  t a l k  d u r i n g  which h e  t r i e d  t o  pursuade  u s  to go ana 

see Colonel K h u s r u  Jung about  i t, we took our  depa r tu re  

leaving t h e  Jagir p a p e r s  w i t h  him. 

That  evening Colonel Khusru Jung came rouna to 

see u s  and asked u s  what l a n d  we would l i k e .  H.H. haa, 

agpa ran t l  y, t o l d  Janak Singh t h a t  we were to  have any 

place we wanted and w e  were to  go rouna and f i x  i t up 

mi t h  'nin o u r s e l v e s  n e x t  morning 

imen we went t h e r e  Janak Singh sa id  to u s  

t h a t  we were  h a r a  men b u t  I t o l a  U r n  t h a t  I had mel'ely 

been h o n e s t  and s a i a  what I thougnt ,  anu,  t h a t  if he 

wanteu to have  fx ' ienuly  r e l a t i o n s  mi ti1 our- count l - i es  he 

shoulcl s e e  t h a t  we were g iven  goou l a n a .  

I s e l e c t e d  Pa i l i pu r ' a  f o r  my s i t e  and the  A i r  

of Nagi r  cnose  Z a r i b u l ,  where t h e r e  a r e  rnany s i l iahs ,  f o r  

his. lie then l e f t  f o r  Bandigore l e a v i n g  dahbub to Eee 

t h e  l a n d .  I remained f o r  t h e n i g h t  o n m i n e ,  w h i c h i s  

nea r  Bandipore ,  and af'ter' a  thorough i n s p e c t i o n  to see  

t h a t  e v e r y t h i n g  was a l l  r i g h t  and a g r e a t  dea l  of f e a s t i n g  

ant! danc ing ,  s igned  t h e  p a p e r s  ~vtlicil made me master  of a 

block o f  l a n d  c o n t a i n i n g  n ine ty -  seven houses. 

I appointee L u l f i k a '  my cousin  who . *.. r e s i d e d  

in SIa ina ra r  f o r  many y e a r s ,  a s  ove r see r  aria trlen left 

fol' Eal  ti t .  



S i n c e  my aggo i r l t r n~n t  on FlIir of lI1uiza I havc virollged 

110 O'IP I2 m y  s t e t s .  S e v e r s 1  t i m e s  duri.i ,r  my r u l c  t h e  

f r i e l l d s  o f  rj:ifan? A l i  have t - i e d  30  r e v o l t  2t ;cinst  r x  bu t  

I hcve e lways  t r e a t ~ d  thcrrr I'sirly a m  w i t h  j u s t i c e .  

The f o l l o w i n g  p l c c e s  have b e e : ~  b rough t  under 

c u l t i v a t i o n  b:- me:- FAetamdsss, Hasse.lebaii,  Jrhanabaa, 

X teba ' i ,  uzzi1mba.2 ( i v i  t h  g r e a t  L i f f i c u l t y )  , I:h::ircbad, 

Kirrnen !:he1 a.ld Sa2ail j  3oloka::hiil;; B u r d a : ~ .  A t  R ~ s h t  

t h e r e  we?? fou -  a:l.i :low t , h ~ r e  n r e  tJwent:r, i;l:rcl, accord i l lg  

t o  t h e  cers? la  f ' l e r ?  '18s ?1ee:1 rn  c t i d i t l o : l  oL" two hu:lireli 

s Fve l t y  ho?iscls i l l  my t h i r t ; ~  ; l i n ~  years. 

F o r m e ~ l y  t h c r ?  've?? MehC,a?i l m d s  i : ~  ~ a c h  v i l l n g e  

a . l i  f o u r  mp:l we?? ~ ~ e s . , o : l s i b l e  f o r  t l ~ f  i r  c u l t i v a t i o n .  

T h i s  c aused  t h n  ? e o l ~ l e  r:o:1s i d e r ~ ~ b  l e  h a r  l l shi?  &:id !?any 

q e t i t i o : ? ~  werl? -3uf u--, t o  my f a t h e r  a:lt b r o t h c r  s b o ~ i t  i t .  

I have ,;iven t h ~  lk - id  t o  t h f  qeo71e a t  a f i x e d  3x3 

f q u i t a b l e  r e n t .  

lihen I a s c e r d e d  t r ,  t i le t ~ r o n e  I d i s c u s s e d  rnat tero  

w i th ,  r c ~ r e s e i l t , a t i v ? s  o 3 h c  x o n l c -  an : l  r ~ q u c e d  p . 1 1  t h e  

t a x e s  I r e m i t t e d  t h e  t a x  o f  ni:lc l o o i s  o f  rnznure i n  t h e  

s w i n g  a!ld f o u r  i n  t i l c  autum~ vihich t h e  l o a d  

c o r r l e r s  hall forrner1;l ? a i d  t o  t h f  14ir an& t h c  t a x  



of t h r ee  ' g h u r b a l '  of g r a i n  whI ch was pa id  from each 

holding:  I reduced  the  c o n t r i b u t i o n  of four  goats  

from each  new colony t h a t  was founded,  t o  t h r ee ;  t h e  

tax o f  f i f t e e n  cups of vege t ab l e  011 from each holdlng 

to one a y e a r ,  t h e  tax of twenty s e e r s  of  g r e l n  f o r  my 

pon ie s  t o  f i v e .  f o rmer ly  r i s h k a  and bhoosa were r e -  

covered a t  the r a t e  of two and t h r e e  maunds r e s p e c t j v e l y  

from each  h o l e i n g ;  now i t h a s  been  reduced to t en  s e e r s  

of r i s h k a  anC two n~aunds o f  bhoosa annual ly .  From Gujhal 

to Ckapursan two goa t s  ant! twelve 'ghurba l s '  of wheat 

were p r e s e n t e d  annua l ly  by the Zernlndars who had been 

given l and  by t h e  Mir; I have halved t h i s  mount .  Two 

maunds o f  wood d a i l y  used a l s o  t o  be suppl ied b u t  I have 

now one only .  

During my t h i r t g z n i n e  y e a r s  a s  l s i r  t he re  have 

been  two murders  on ly  i n  my coun t ry  and a l l  the  people  

have been  happy and prosperous .  The Governrent o f  I n d i a  

had never  i n t e r f e r e C  w l  t h  the i n t e r n a l  a d m i n i s t r a t i  on of 

the  coun t ry  and a s  my people  s e e  more of tPe world they 

have added c l eve rnes s  t o  t h e i r  p r ev ious  simpll ci t y .  

There i s  n o t  enough land  f o r  tbe  grovdng 

p o p u l a t i o n  and so I encaurage my peogle  t o  go o u t  i n t o  

t ke  world and g e t  worh I n  o t h e r  p l a c e s .  

I have b u i l t  houses a t  G i l g i t ,  Xarimabad, Passu ,  

Khaiber ,  ~j s g a r  and purkushi  which have been of' g r e a t  



s r v i c e  t o  O f f i c e r s  t r a v e l l i n g  on t n e  road  and have 

nyroveu t h e  cornmuni c a t i o n s  through my coun t ry .  

I n  t h e  o l d  d a y s  t h e  p e o p l e  had to guara  trle 

3un t r y  from xayun and t t le Chagursan and Shimshal a g a i n s t  

l emies  and ,  a s  soon a s  t h e  war drum was hea ra  b e a t i n g  i n  

31 t i t ,  t h e  men used  t o  assemble  - t h e  upper  c l a s s e s  t o  

Lght and t h e  lower  to bear  burdens  - round the  f o r t  wni le  

s n a l l  band went up  t h e  mountains  behind R a l t i t  and l i t  

l e  f i r e  i f  t h e  enemy were from IJagir and two i f  t h e r e  were 

? y  Kasbni r  t r o o p s  upon t h e  way. I n  a d d i t i o n  t o  t h i s  

v e r y  year  r a i d e r s  s e t  o u t  ove r  t h e  gami r s  to g e t  what 

l ~ t  they  cou ld  fr'ora t h e  Y i r g h i z  01- a n j  o t n e r  peod le  

l e y  ? l i ; h t  nappen upo:l. C;n t h e s e  e x p e a i t i o n s  r a t i o n s  

e r e  t aken  frola Siastlkam arm aunpeu a t  v a r i o u s  s t a g e s  on 

l e  laoau;  i f  no v i c t i ~ u s  were u i s c o v e r e u  t u e  f o r c e  useu 

2 r e t u r n  a s  soon a s  t h e i r  food r a n  o u t  l i v i : ~ &  on t n e  

I!n?s t ~ ~ e y  hau made. Very f r e q u e n t l y  p e a r l s ,  r u b i e s ,  

Jpa'r, aria o t h e r  p r e c i o u s  s t o n e s  were captclreu i n  t n e s e  

a i d s ,  o f  w h i 2 h  t h e  uir a  t h i r d  s h a r e .  

I n  t h o s e  days  i t  x a s  t h e  custorn to  s e l l  i n t o  

Lavery a n y  men who had bee11 cap tu red  frorn Nagi r  and 

Lse l~he re ,  a1  though t h e  men of  t h e  coun t ry  were neve r  

31d a s  was cus to~na ry  i n  t h e  S l ~ t r a l  and Sadakshan.  If 

ny  man r e b e l l e d  a g a i n s t  t n e  !fir and f l e d  t n e  country  a l l  

i s  g r ~ p e r t y  !vas c o n f i s c d t e d  t n ~ u z ' n ,  if t h e  r u l e r  was 

3ns i . l e ra te  t h e  c o n f i s c a t e d  l a n a s  were g iven  to a n e a r  



r e l a t i v e  of t h e  Offender.  

There are f o u r  clans I n  Hunza and In  each 

v i l l a g e  t h e r e  a r e  appoin ted  f o u r  'MakadBamse (men of 

good f a m i l y )  who s e t t l e  any l i t t l e  d i s p u t e s  t h a t  nay 

a r i s e .  If they  c o n s j d e r  a crime i s  too s e r i o u s  f o r  them 

to s e t t l e  t hey  r e f e r  I  t t o  t h e  Trangfas  and they,  i n t u r n  

to the Mires c o u r t  which i s  e v e r  open and from sentence 

of  whi ch t h e r e  i s  no agpeal .  

If 1  t i s  cons1 der-ed t h a t  a death  sentence I s 

c a l l e d  f o r  the peop le  a r e  c o l l e c t e d  and i f  any one n d l l  

speak up f o r  the  c u l p r i  t h i  s sentence i  s reml t t e d  o the r -  

wise he i s  execu ted  In  t he  p resence  o f  tPe people .  

I n  tk:e former times ir anyone co~cml t t e d  adul tery  

h i s  house  could  be  des t royed ,  h i s  anilnals s laughtersC and 

h i s  t r e e s  F e l l e d  w i thou t  any t roub le  f a l l i n g  on the 

o f f ende r s  and though t h a t  custom has  f a l l e n  i n t o  desuetude 

i t  i s  s t i l l  consiCerec! r i g b t  for a man t o  k i l l  h i s  w i f e ' s  

l o v e r  i f  he can c a t c h  them ' f l a g a n t e  d e l i c t o '  ! 

Marriage 1s n o t  allowed between nea r  r e l a t j  ons 

and whenever p o s s i b l e ,  people  m a r r y  i n t o  a c lan  d i f f e r e n t  

f r ~ m  t h e i r  own. C h i l e  marrlage is discouraged and t r i b a l  

customs have been ~ o u l 8 e d  t o  conform to  modern jdeas s ince  

1 became !!ire 

The people  of H u n ~ a  were o r i g i n a l l y  I d o l a t o r s  

and they b e c m e  shl  a s  when i n t e r - a a r r l  age wi t h  the r u l l  ng 

f ami ly  of H a l t i s t a n  was arranged anC l a t e r ,  when m y  



r e a t  g r a n d f a t h e r  Shah Salam Khan was on tb e  t h rone ,  

o s  t of t h e  m u n t r y  became hlaulai.  I n  Ganesh and Hinni , 
b e r e  a r e  s t i l l  a  few S h i a s  and two Sunnis .  lrlhen I be-  

m e  Yir I d e c l a r e d  t o  t h e  peop le  t h a t  t h e y  could  adop t  

l t a t  r e l i  gi on they w ~ l d  which annoyeC my a d v i s e r s  who 

a i d  t h a t  a coun t ry  d t h  many r e l i g i  ons  was bounO t o  f a l l .  

s a i d  t h a t  r e l i g i o n  had now1 ing  t o  do w i  t h  r u l i n g  and 

ave proved myself  r i  g h t  i n  t h a t  t h e r e  h a s  been no 

e l l g i o u s  s t r i f e  i n  the coun t ry  s i n c e  t h a t  t ime.  

n o m  t i  me t o  time we have t r i e d  t o  have r e l a t i o n s  

i t h  Nagi r  t h a t  were frl e n d l y  b u t  they have never  l a s t e d ,  

l t h o u g h  t h e r e  have b e e n  mar r i ages  between m e  r u l i n g  

a m i l i e s  o f  b o t h  c o u n t r i e s  . My f a t p e r  and Za fa r  Khan 

i r  of m g i r  used o c c a s i o n a l l y  to meet and I remember 

e l l  the  f ormali  t y  of t h e s e  occasions. Each ivould cope 

i  t,h a  l a r g e  nurribel- o f  f o l l o w e r s  and woult  h a l t  on e i  t h e r  

i Ce of t h e  r i v e r .  On one occas ion  Uzar Khan cmle over  

o  Hunza and W e r e  was a  g r e a t  f e a s t i n g ;  on a n o t h e r  t h e  

i r  came and I and. some o t h e r  i ~ e o p l e  from Hunza h a C  t o  go 

v e r  t o  the Nagi r  bank of t h e  r i v e r  and r ema in  t h e r e  a s  

o s t a g e s  u n t i l  the Plir r e t u r n e d .  

Every y e a r  I go duck s h o o t i n g  a t  Gi lmi t .  The 

ake was sounded i n  the  t ime  of  my f a t h e r  andwas 

'ound t o  be  f i f t y  one f e e t  deep b u t  s l n c e  t h a t  t i ~ v e  the  

ra te r  h a s  f a l l e n .  The d e p t h  of the  l ake  seems t o  depend 



on the Gulkln  g l a c i e r  f o r  when t h a t  advances t h e  lake 

r i s e s ,  &.en i  t r e t r e a t s  the wate r  f a l l s .  A g r e a t  quan t i ty  
af geese  a r r i v e  t h e r e  between the  12 th .  and 15th.  of 

oc tober  a d  one y e a r  - the yea r  t h a t  i n f l u e n z a  f i r s t  

came t o  t h e  A.gency - I s h o t  two hundred a.nd f o r t y  f l  ve 

geese i n  the  few Cays I was up there .  

I n  former  y e a r s  Shimskal was used a s  a  p l ace  

to  which p e o p l e  were e x i l e d  and a s  o f f i c e r s  were con- 

t i n u a l l y  a s k i n g  me what s o r t  of p l a c e  I t  was, I determined 

to  go t h e r e  and see  f o r  myself .  The t r a c k  t he re  was very 

bad indeeC! and i n  two p l a c e s  t h e r e  were goa t  h a l r  b r i d g e s  

whi ch  were very  unp lea san t  to c m s s .  A ri ng of wood was 

used and t h e  t r a v e l l e r  was drawn from one bank to the 

o t h e r  a d  i f  he  wore a  beard  most cX t k  hairs were 

dragged o u t  on t he  way. A t  tke j u n c t i o n  of  t h e  Shlrnshal 

an& Mustagh n u l l a s  s a l t  i s  mined. 

Uembers of my f a m i l y  have marr ied i n t o  tke r u l -  

i n g  f a n l i l i e s  o f  a l l  c o u n t r i e s  round. One a u n t  married 

i n  Wacha (Chinese  ~ u r k e s t a n )  and her chi lCren s t i l l  l i v e  

t h e r e ;  a  s i s t e r  marr ied i n t o  Chi t r a l  and 1 s s t i l l  a l i v e ;  

Nir Si kander Khan o r  Nagi r had an aun t  3f' mine f o r  mother 

a s  h a s  t he  Raja  o f  ;&stor. Another auntafmine married the 

I.f.ir o f  Badakskan and t h e r e  have been seve ra l  o the r  marriages 

i n t o  the country .  

Yy f a t h e r  had s i x  wives, three  of which were of 

the r u l i n g  c l a s s e s  and t h r ee  from the  Zercindari s. A l l  

however, were married to him according the l aw u l d  s o  he 



l e f t  behlnC no b a s t a r d s .  

I remember the n a m e s ~ f  my r a t h e r ' s  h o r s e s  whlch 

were : - 
U a u l a t  T o r i ,  I t was p i e b a l d  and was frorn Katghan. 

Hazar Pasandl  , was a  f'i ne horse .  

Khing, J a u l a n ,  Hahri , Shata rogh ,  B a r t a ,  Taoos, Badar 

Gul,  i l u l l a ,  Yabutar,  Damboo s ,  Faraham, a  Icalmakl 

pony whi ch Yaqut 3 e g  had s e n t  a s  a  p r e s e n t  t o  my 

f a t h e r ,  Zardah, Bakhta ,  P a r i n d a h ,  A s f a r ,  Dl wana Jang,  

Dev Yura, Yuz, Yarman Lok, Hawapar, T a z i ,  Shakar ,  

Ablaq Boz whl ch was b r o u g h t  when Hunza people  con- 

quered Sar  l  k u l ,  JTawa Par whi ch xas s e n t  b y  F i r  Hassan 

Beg. (Liz1 1 S u l t a n  s e n t  b y  Furad RIan Xatghani ,  anC 

Ic i l l ik - i -Sayah  the  l a s t  of  a l l  r i d d e n  by my f a t h e r .  

T h e r e a f t e r ,  he used to  r i d e  a Yak. The a f o r e -  

named h o r s e s  were t h e  f'avourl t e  ones  ofrny f a t h e r  and on 

the  New Years day ( P e r s i  a n )  they wer3 saddled  wl t h  s a d d l e s  

anC e q u i ~ r n e n t  deco ra t ed  wi th  gold and a  race was r u n ,  and 

W-ereaf t e r ,  shoo t ing  wlth  bow and a r rows ,  t e n t  p e g s i n g ,  

and p o l o  was p l ayed  on them. 

I remember a l l  t h e  Mot t iba r s  of  Hunza from t h e  

time of Shah Ghazan man to W. a t  o f  my f a t h e r  Ghazan Khan. 

Their  names were:- 

l a z d r  Asadul lah Beg, Vurad Beg, Trangfa Ghulam Shah, 

Yarfa  Murato , I J i rza  Hassan, 7amiro , Vuhammad Zamir , 
Daula t  Beg from G a r a l t ,  Nas i ro ,  Tah i r  Shah, Nuhammad 



A l l ,  Dado09 I s k a n d a r , A H ,  Cauhar &da r  ~ u l ,  Khan, 

Khurram Shah,  Abdul lah  and Yehram Shah,  from mnesh ,  

Karlm, and  Daulatmand from Dorkhan, Nuhabat, TJad jr, 

~ h u l a m  Muhammad, Tur rab ,  Mubarak Shah, Faza l  and 

Hasano from All  abad,  Yusuf '  Reg, Barnall Shah, Asgharo, 

Hassan ~ l i  , Muhammad Yar, and U a u l a t  A"and. from Fassan 

 bad, H a b i b u l l a h ,  Tolwi , KhawaJa Khan and Haider Reg 

frcnn TTlnni, N o ~ r  and  Gulshe r Yhan from tlayun. I n  

Chapro t  when i t wasunder Yunza the  m o t t i b a r s  were 

Wazir S u l t a n o  whose son S u l t a n  A l l  (Subeda r )  i s ,  M r z a  

son  of  Hadur ,  and 3 a j a  Beg. I know them a l l  p e r s o n a l l y  

as  I q u i t e  rernerrrber when my f a t h e r  went t o  Chaprot.  

Mo t t i b a r s  !lashim, T a i f o o r ,  Irub, Kadi r o ,  Tula ,  Daula t  

Beg, and Ghulam Shah were o f  A l t i t ,  Faza l  and Ata,  

o f  &madabad. The l a s t  narned i s  s t i l l  a l i v e .  The 

M o t t l b a r s  o f  G i m l  t were D5 wana Shah, Sahdan Shah, 

Ghulan! D in ,  Ghubui, S u l t a n  Reg, and Darvesh. The 

M o t t i b a r s  of' Ghulkln were ;7abal Shah, A11 Gauhar,  

Al i  J a u h a r ,  Khurram Shah, Yahadur Shah, snc! Namar 

Beg. A t  Sosani the m o t t i b a r s  were Nabi , S a i d  Z!uhammad, 

Muhammad ~ z i  z ,  Sarwar an& J'aJawar. A t  Paasu the 

E o t t i b a r s  were N~uharnmaC Sakhi , Sarang l~u?!mrnad, Gonk,  

Yahmood, P a r a s t i ,  I skanOar ,  Jus l  Pashim arld 1:uhmmad 

claim. A t  m a i b a r  the  E r o t t i b a r s  were Ghu l run  Shah, 

H a t t i ,  l i  s h  and i:uhammd. Tt!e 1'0 t t i b a r a  of Yorkhun 

aej .2  upam am mad, 1' 'irza Hassan, I1uhammad Yare %i@-oon 



Shah ,  N iaz  Beg and q u a z i .  The ) d o t t i b a r s  o f  Gircha 

were Beg Muhammad, Maraz Shah,  IJarsz Xl i  and Yarim. 

A l l  t h e  a f  are-named 1:ot t i b a r s  were l e a d i n g  

~ t l ; i b a r s ,  t h e r e  lvere mzny o t h e r s  of' lower  s t a t u s ,  whose 

me, a r e  o m i t t e d  f o r  f e a r  o runneces sa ry  d e t a l l s .  I n  my 

irne 7 a z i r  Hurqayun Beg,  Uuhammad I s a  and Z a r p a r a s t  were 

zading mernbers i n  add1 t l o n  t o  the  o l d e r  ones  who a r e  

)w dead.  

1 Pave p e r s o n a l  Irrlowlsdge a b o u t  the f 3 l l o w i n g  

K y  f a t h e r  Ghazan Khan and Ra ikan  A l i  
a re  fugee .  

R a j a  73?;2r Khan, VuhammaC Khan Uzar 
=an, A l i f  Khan, Ghauri Than Khan, Yar- 
khan,  Ueng I:allh, i n  a d d i t i o n  A l i f  Khan, 
Karnal Khan and ,411 Dad who were the 
cousi  h s  c~f  t h e  J ' i  r o r  Hunza (my f a t h e r ) .  

~ n i  a l .  Akbar Kha.n and A f i a t  Khan. 

1s1 n. Ki r An~an b r o  t5.sr of Gauhar Am an. 

~ d a k h s h a n .  Ghulam Naqshband. 

i l g i  t Notab les .  Ghularn JTaiCer, I-Iallo, E."asehno ( ? )  Eukhtar  
D ina r ,  Han i fa  and  Shah E?irza. 

3mal T ? o t t i b a r s .  Lwrtaza Shah, I s a a t  Sh*.. 

s s l n  l ! o t t i b a r s .  Z u l f i k a r  S h e r ,  Shah ldu l  Aim ( d e a d  now) . 
He was r e l a t e d  t o  me on my mo the r ' s  s i d e .  

a r i  kul .  

K i r  Al ivarCan Shah. I had n o t  s e e n  
F a t e h  Al i  Shah f a t h e r  o f  l r i r  Al l  Kardan 
Shah,  b u t  I r p , ~ n e ~ ~ b e r  when he d i e d .  The 
? l o t t i b a r s  of  Vakhan I knew were ,  Quaei 
Sa rwa r ,  Aka Shi  gl r ,  Khan Abni Turab,  
S i f a t  ane Lhushkadm.  

Abul Hassan -!eg * t h e r  o f  karirn Beg,  
h f i r z a  G u l  Beg, Bing Beg, A f z a l  Shahn Beg, 







As t o r .  

M i r  Baba Yakub Snah, Yuhabb a t  ~ h h  
Sulaiman Khawaja, and Sayiu Shah ~ a l i b .  
l 'ula B a i  belongs to t n e  younger 
genera  ti on. 

B a t a s t a b u s i  . 
~ i a u d d i n  ,Urn. Ziauddin had shown 
some t r i c k s  a t  Passu i n  t h e  time o f  
my f a t h e r ,  and I was p r e s e n t  t he re .  

3ahadur Khan. He was r e l a t e d  to Hunza 
on h i s  mo the r ' s  s i d e .  Of t n e  mot tabars  
I know of ' l az i r  Muzaffar N i ,  Wazir 
Rozi Khan and Yi ro  o f  Donyan. 

r iaharaj  a Pa r  t a b  Singh, Maharaja o f  Jammu 
ana Kashinir . Baldev Singh t h e  Huler  
of Punch, Haja APlar SLngh, Mwan Amar 
Nath, Hakim La la  Khush Muhammad. 

I have seen  t h e  fo l lowing  Ind i an  Chiefs a t  the  

Del h i  Durbar: - 

Bal ti s t a n .  

Nizam .i .Hyderabad, and h i s  Vazir K i  shan 
Far shad.  Liaharaj a of Baroda, Maharaja 
o f  i iysors ,  t n e  Kanaraja of' B ikan i r ,  
t h e  o l a  Haja of Nabah, t he  C.hiefs o f  
Sikam, Inaore ,  Gwalior, B a s a t  Pur, 
P a t i a l b ,  Gaikawar., Nepal,. Burma, aria 
tile Regufn o f  Bilogal I a l s o  saw 
C'nanaar Sher Jang tile Vazir or^ Nepal. 

Uuhammad Khan Raja of S a k s d o o ,  t h e  
Raja o f  Sh igar ,  Raja  oz" Knaplo, Haja 
-4lirnarclzn oi' Khamang, B b j a  fli Sher 
Khan of Rindoo. The Taz i r  o f  
B a l t i s t a n .  A l l  theee  I met when I 
went to Kasb l i r  i n  connection ~i th  
t h e  v i s i t  of Lord Idinto. 

O f  t h e  R r i  t i s h  O f f i c e r s  and Lords I know the  

Lord Curzon, 1:ajor Lockbear t ,  Xajor 
E i  d u l l  f , Younghu sband,  Lord Nin t o ,  
Dean t h e  Poreign Secre ta ry ,  Tlord 
Rar'ciing, t h e  Duke of  Ccnnaught 
t he  K i n g  3mperor and .?uee11 Larye 



e s i d e n t s  i n  Kashrnir. 

Col Ram s a y ,  t h e  l i o n o u ~ ~ a b l  e Ur.. ? rhsC~.  
S i r  John ~ o o d ' ,  itr. Howel l ,  Col. Ogilvi. ;?.  

o l i  t i c z l  Agen t s ,  G i l g i  t. c L  mas. 
12alonel Durmd, N a j o r  S t e w p r t ,  Ho b e r t s o n ,  
::anners m i  ttl, a l o n e 1  T r u c e ,  L a j o r  
'3ruce,  the  l a t t e r  d i e c  a t  G i l g i  t ,  ::oraon, 
new, %mi t h ,  ~l!acyhersori ,  Lor imer ,  ~ o c h ,  
' ? o C ~ .  \x+*, e(.r.B. 4- &LW) 

s s l i s t a n t  P o l i  t i c a l  ~ g e n t s ,  Hunza. 9;. 8- KcZx f a .  

S t e w a r t ,  =Toraon, Youngrlusband, Guf'f , 
IL i l e s ,  N a p i e r  and L a r s n a l .  

s z i r  .i .:;Tazarats, G i l g i  t .  

Baksni  Loo1 haj , L a l a  Ram K i s l k r ~ ,  L a l a  
Ganpat Baa, La1 a Gangti a n g n ,  Aut~am'mau 
Akbar Kllan, Durga P a r s h a u ,  Ran  R a t t a n ,  
T n a t t u  Sing11 a n a  Janak  Sirlgh. 

ldi a n  A s  si s t a n  t s . 
x a j o r  Hassan Shall, kbccul Hakirn, A m i r  A l i ,  
I f t i k r l a r  Ailmad, Bahadur Al i  Shah, 
Azi Z u ~ a i  n , Sner  iv: u harnrn au , G h u l  am X u  hamm aa , 
Muhamrnac Masi h P a l .  

I know a numbera o f  s u b o r d i n a t e  Munshies b u t  t h e  

? t a i l s  o f  t h e i r  narnes would b e  t i r i n g .  

~ m m a ~ d a n t  o f  S c o u t s .  

U a j o r  = i d g e s ,  Assi s t a n t  Commandant Capt. 
Shea, x a j o r  I n g l i s  f o r  a s n o r t  w h i l e ,  
1.C. Long-S ta f f ,  L i e u t .  H a l l e t ,  Capt.  
Longbo t b m ,  S a p t a i n  Edwardes,  Cap ta in  
"Jhite, S a p t a i n  E e r k e l e y ,  A.C.  L i e u t . F r i e r .  

I have  accompanieu many o f  t h e  P o l i t i c a l  Agents  

the K i l l i k  on  t o u r  and go a s  f a r  a s  Shayursan a n n u a l l y ,  

u on  e a c h  o f  ny v i s i t s  ilave somethirlg a o n e  t h a t  w i l l  be 

y e r ~ n a n e n t  v a l u e  t o  t h e  p e o p l e .  



D u r i n g  one t o u r  I had t h e  'maqbara'  of Rabag- 

hand l ,  which was o r i g i n a l l y  c o n s t r u c t e d  o f  sun baked 

b r i c k s ,  b u i l t  o f  s t o n e  w i t h  a  dome o f  wood; on a n o t h e r  

a mernori a 1  was made t o  Lord Kl t c h e n e r .  I n  1925,  I haC 

a house b u i l t  f o r  my son Shah Baz Khan who l i v e s  a t  

Gi lmi t and ano t h e r  one b u l l  t t h e r e  f o r  a n o t h e r  son Moh'd 
(2' 

Anin Khan. 

I n  forrner t i m e s  the  t i t h e s  t h a t  were c o l l e c t e C  

fr3m p e o p l e  were t aken  by t h e  P i r s  the r l se lves  t o  Bombay 

and t h e r e  p r e s e n t e d  t o  t h e  Agha Khan; now I c 3 l l e c t  

them m y s e l f  - they  arnount t o  a b m t  s i x  o r  seven thousanc! 

r u p e e s  a y e a r  - and send them o f f  b y  money o r d e r .  

E?y son Shah Baz Khan once \.vent t o  Zanzibar  t o  

p a y  h i s  r e s p e c t s  t o  t h e  Agha Khan andmy e l d e s t  son ,  Sube- 

dar l f a j o r  Ghazan Khan, ha s  twice s e e n  h l r .  On h i  s r e  t u r n  

from one o f  t1:ese v i s i t s  h e  toured  i n  Land! Kotal  wl t h  

R a j o r  Erslci ne anC went t o  Jamrnu a t  t h e  r e q u e s t  o f  l!aharaja 

Har i  S i n g h  of  Kashlnlr who ):ad j u s t  then ascended the  tkrone .  



There a r e  v a r i o u s  l e g e n d s  i n  the  coun t ry  which 

a r e  b e l i e v e d  by  the  people .  

I t  i s  s a i d  t h a t  i n  o l d ,  old t lmes an arnly from 

3 a k h t a r  e n t e r e d  tbe  Hunza v a l l e y  and s e t t l e d  t h e r e  b u t  

t he  f rst  r u l e r s  seen! to  have been  Shah Tharn and Shah 

l u l i  who came from Shi gnarl over t h e  I r s k a d  Pas s .  From 

the  K i l l i  k t o  Chayursan the  coun t ry  l,vas popula ted  b y  

Fir&-I z, Tughuli c s  1 1  ved i n  t h e  Shimshal anr! Funza p rope r  

was very  s ~ a r s e l y  inhabi  ted a t  A l t i  t ,  B a l t i  t end Ganesh. 

These two p r i n c e s  came over  wi t h  twenty men 8nC a s  t h e r e  

were no r u l e r s  a t  t h a t  time they  were e l e c t e d  c h i e f  and 

r u l e d  t h e  c ount ry  f'rom A l t i  t f o r  twelve years .  

Then a g i a n t  and i d o l a t o r  n m e d  K i s a r  a r r i v e d  

frorn B a l t j s t a n  and conver ted  tile people  t o  h i s  way of 

t k i n k l n g ,  t e l l i n g  the  r u l e r s  t h a t  u n l e s s  they acknowledged 

>I s s o v e r e l n t y  he would kill them. K i sa r  had a  f a i r y  

wife narred Bobul igus  b u t  was i n  l ove  w i t h  a  B a l t i  wonlan 

c a l l e d  Langi Bongu. 

One day  a f a i r y  t o l d  him t h a t  Langi Bongu had 

been l i v i n g  wi th  ano the r  man and the  g i a n t  was s o  enraged 

t h a t  he  turned h i s  f a l r y  w1fe I n t o  a  hen wki ch he p l aced  

on t h e  top o f  t h e  H a l t i  t n ~ o u n t a i n s  a n d l e f t  t h e  country .  

The mountain i  s s t i l l  c a l l e d  Bubulimonting.  



Some t l m e  a f t e r  t h i  s Kisar want d o m  t o  3 i l g i  t 

b u t  an  a c c o u n t  of  h i s  d o i n g s  t i l e r e  would take too l o n g  

to t e l l  dnu n e  was e v e n t u a l l y  k i l l &  by Sne r inbaua t  who 

took t n e  r e i n s  o f  ~ o v e r r l r n e n t  i n t o  n i s  hanas .  

He was an  u n p l e a s a n t  y e r s o n  w i t h  c a n n i b a l i s t i c  

t e r i u e n c i e s  wno o 2 y r e s s e a  trle e o d l e  frorn iiunaa to  Yasin 

anu was k i l l e a  i n  his t u r n  by  H a z i r  Jamshed, o u r  f i r s t  

a n c e s t o r .  

~ a z i r *  Jar1 s n i a  ;narri eci h i s  a a u g i l t e r  Noorbakht 

and La1  Tham - o n e  o f  t h e i r  s o n s  - came to  iiunza. ~e 

ha& two s o n s  ? i r k h i  s ancl iJUgh10 t arld a f t e r  h i s  d e a t h  h i s  

b r o t h e r  "rakhan a i v i d e c  t h e  l a m s  of  i-lunza anu 1Jahir 

be tween them. 'fhe d i v i s i o n  was n a a e  a t  Sournaya where 

t h e  > r i d g e  i s  s t i l l  c a l l e d  TiY'a Khan, Hunza b e i n g  given 

t o  ' ? i r k i s  and T.lagir t o  Mughlot.  I n  t n o s e  days  iIo?r;r, 

Surnayar, Xlmi t and N i l  t were  t h e  2 r i n c i p l e  v i l l a g e s .  

A f t e r  some between trle 

two br9tiler-s anu xile peop le ,  

l lovever ,  woula  n o t  a c c e p t  tile r u l e  of  IdU&[llot anu 

aPpo i~ l  t e a .  Noor B i  b i  t de  uau t e l b  o f  G i r k h i  s to r e i g n  

i n  his s t e a a .  

Dur ing  ne r  r e i g n  t h e  l a n u  became p r o s p a r o u s  anu 

no  i r lvaaer -s  flborn o u t j i ~ d  L:z:. e $0 G ~ S ~ U I ' ~  t h e  ; )ehce.  In 

t h e  d a y s  o f  5nahbaz K&c ;nu { , ' L L ~  K i ~ l ~ n ,  h~r?~ever ' ,  an &my 

O f  T a r n a s ,  IKvghal  and V r a h  u i u  t r y  to i r lvaae 3unea b u t  

mere b e a t e n  back and d e f e a t e d .  



The B r i  t i s k  a r e  the  on ly  p e o p l e  who have con- 

q u e r e d  t h e  c o u n t r y .  

Noor B i b i  m a r r i e d  a  s o n  of LX~ghlot  and had a 

s o n  m l a s h a h  f rom whom t h e  r u l e r  of N a g i r  a r e  descended.  

T h e i r  n a r e s  were  A l i  Don, A l i d a d ,  Kamal, Rahim,  13abur, 

Uzar ,  ~ l l f  Khan, Z a f a r  Yhan and Si kandar  Khan, t h e  p r e s e n t  

The r u l e r s  of Hunza a r e  descended  f rom Ayesho, 

s o n  o f m y u r  who f l e d  t o  &was when G i r k h i s  was p u t  t o  

d s a t h  b y  Mughlot.  The names o f  t h e  r u l e r s  a r e  Salam, 

K a l i  k,  Ayash Khan ( 2 ) ,  Shah S u l t a n ,  Shahbaz ,  Shah Beg ,  

Khi s r o ,  Shah Salam Fhan, Shah Ghazanfar  O a r , ,  Eis Ghazan 

Xhan and. Xir S i r  Moh'd Nazim K . C . I . S .  t h e  p r e s e n t  

r u l e r .  

I t  I s  s a i d  t h a t  a t  one t ime T a h i r  Shah r u l e d  i n  

Nag i r .  !?e was the  r u l e r  of G i  l g i  t and invaCed I ~ B g l r  and 

k i l l e l ?  Rahirn and r u l e d  b o t h  i l a k a s .  A l s o  t h a t  one 

Har i  tham went  f rom EIunza and r u l e d  In Nagir f o r  twelve  

y e a r s .  

Mirza t h e  s o n  o f  Salam Shah S u l t a n  and S a f d a r  

811 have  a l s o  r u l d i n  Hunea f o r  a v e r y  s h o r t  t ime a s  d l d  

t h e  o t h e r  s o n s  o f  Ayesho, R a i d e r  Khan, E i r z a ,  Shah Khant 
Row%- 

Nalgk,  S & l r n ,  Hari  t h a n  and S h a m  b u t  t h e  r u l e  3f t h e s e  

l a t t e r  was s o  b r i  ef  - eacl: was murdereO b y  h i  s b r o t h e r  - 
t h a t  t h e y  have  n o t  b e e n  i n c l u d e d  I n  t h e  l i s t  o f  r u l e r s .  



I n  t h e  t ime o f  Ayesho t h e r e  were two famous 

soo thsaye r s ,  Shangookor, who was l e f t -handed ,  anC hl  s 

nephew Hokay Mamo whose descenden t s  a r e  s t i l l  a l i v e .  

Un one occas ion  t h e r e  was a  cow I n  c a l f  grazlng 

i n  the  garden a t  A l t l  t and Ayesho riade each p r e d i c t  what 

the c o l o u r  o f  t h e  c a l f  would be .  Shangookor f o r e t o l d  a 

male c a l f  w i  t h  a  whi t e  s p o t  on tl!e ?ore  head,  !]okay Kame 

a female  wi th  a  whi te  t i p  t o  i t s  t a i l .  The former was 

c o r r e c t .  

On a n o t h e r  occas ion  they were nade t o  dance 

benea th  a Chenar t r e e  which was b u r n t  down w1t:lin lqy 

remembrance, and d r e d l c t s d  t h a t  the !!ires wife ,  ~ f i o  was 

i n  l a b o u r ,  woulC b e a r  a  son who would be b w n  with b a r l e y  

In  one hand and wool i n  the o t h e r :  t h i s  hapgened a s  they 

had s a i e .  The boy was c a l l e d  F a r i  TPam ( b a r l e y  icing) In 

Consequence. 

Yet aga in  they were pads to  dance and Yarn0 f o r e -  

tole t h a t  a t ime would come wben people  would walk over  

p l a c e s  where even the  b i r d s  dic? n o t  ca r8  to f l y ,  t h a t  one 

k ing  w i th  a  b l u e  eye iqoulC r u l e  Gilgi t ,  Hunza and l!agIr 

and t h a t  i r o n  b r i d g e s  would span tFe ri v e r s  & e r e  onl:l 

rope bric? ges exi  stec! then. 3 u r i n g  t h i  s dance Srlangookor 

d l s apdea red  i n t o  t he  mountains and was n o t  seen u n t i l  

the  f o l l o w i n g  year  when he r e a y p e u e d  i n  ~ecernber  ca r ry ing  

green  e a r s  of b a r l e y  w i  tli him. Pe s a i d  t h a t  he had been 

taken  by the f a i r j ? s ,  ~ 1 2 0  had t r e a t e d  him very well  and 



lad agreed  t o  h i s  r e t u r n i n g .  On hi  s way horce he had 

) a s s e d  through a  j ung le  and had beccme one eyed. 

I n  o lden  t imes  C h a p u r S ~ n  mas a very  popu la t ed  

. i  s t r i c t  and t h e  v l l l a g e  con ta ined  t b e e  hunwed houses.  

:n t hose  days  i t was much warmer than  i  t I s  now and wheat 

ras grown t h e r e .  

A s a i n t  naned Baba Ghundi came from Sokhara  

;bxough Ghund t o  Chapursan  om some p s 3 p l e  b e l i e v e  to 

lave been  the  f i f t h  I m a m  Voh'd B a q u i r ;  b u t  the  people  were 

r r e l i g i o u s  and nocked bin?  and threw s t o n e s  a t  h i p  when h e  

t r i ed  t o  t e l l  them o f  a  b e t t e r  l i f e .  So he l e f t  the  

r i l l a g e  o f  l i esh t  an2 went to  Spang - abou t  two m i l e s  up 

i t r e a m  - where a  poor  o l d  woman gave birn s k , p l t e r  ?or  the  

l i g h t  i n  h e r  h u t  and r e d  him wi th  m i l k  and b reed  which was 

1 1 1  she  had. Be fo re  Leaving the S a i n t  warned h e r  t d  t ake  

i l l  h e r  posses s1  ons  i n t o  h i g h e r  g r m n d  b u t  she  t o 1 2  him 

 at she had n o t h i n g  e x c e p t  a  s i e v e  and even t h a t  kad 

,een borrowed b y  a  nei  ghbour and n o t  r e t u r n e d .  E a r l y  

)n t h e  f ollovring Cay g r e a t  c louds  ga the red ,  thunder  

loomed i n  the  h l l l s  and t h e  n u l l a s  began t o  f i l l  wi t h  the  

- e s u l t  t h a t  t h e r e  was a  g r e a t  f l ood  I n  the  v a l l e y  of which 

t r a c e s  s t i l l  remain.  Only the  o l d  woman's h u t  escaped 

l e s t r u c t i o n  - the  s i t e  I s s t i l l  known a s  Kampir Dayar 



( t h e  h u t  of t h e  o l d  woman) - and she  saw t ~ ,  i a i n t  i n  a 

green gown wa lk ing  upon t h e  wa te r s .  She a l s o  saw her  

s i e v e  come f l o a t i r ~ g  a l o n g  and asked t h e  Saj to  g e t  I t  

f o r  h e r  which he  d i d .  

A f t e r  t h i s  the S a i n t  went t o  Ishkok,  a v i l l a g e  

o f  a hundrec  house s  on ttie b o r d e r s  of a  l a k e  which was 

inhab l  t ed  by a n  enormous s e r p e n t  t h a t  was supp l ied  d a i l y  

wi th  a  you th  from t h e  v i l l a g e  f o r  a meal. The S a l n t  

a r r i v e d  J u s t  a s  t he  v i c t i m  was s i t t i n g  d i s c o n s o l z t e l y  

by t h e  w a t e r  w a i t i n g  f o r  t k e  appearance  of t h e  monster.  

S O  t h e  S a i n t  wai t ed  wi th  him and a s  soon a s  i t r o s e  from 

t h e  w a t e r  k i l l e d  I t .  I t s  bones  can s t i l l  be  seen  i n  the 

l o c a l 1  t y .  

From t h e r e  the  S a i n t  JournegeC t o  Resha t  Jurab 

where h i s  kand p r i n t  can s t i l l  be  seen  on a s tone  a l s o  

t he  marks o f h i s  pony ' s  Jhoo l  mC shoe p r i n t s .  A t  Shahr- 

1-Sabz there. i s  a  prayer '  s t one  t h a t  Ileused and t was 

t h e r e  t h a t  he  saiC h i s  s epu l ch re  was to be  and t h a t  i t  

was t o  be  a p l a c e  o f  p i lg r l r~ !zge .  I n  the time of  Shah 

Sal im Khan &he whole p o p u l a t i o n  o f  C h a ~ u r s a n  was Cestroyed 

by a n o t h e r  ? loo&,  b u t  tiie tomb of the  S a i n t  was undanaged. 

Many y e a s  a f t e rwa rds  ano the r  S a i n t  c a l l e d  Sayid 

Shah T a l i n ,  ~ihoa  sorie b e l l  eve t o  be  Imm J a f r a r  S a d i ~ ,  

cape i n t o  the v a l l e y  w i t h  h i s  son Ses0oni ant 1s b u r i e e  

t h e r e .  

I n  the time o f  Shah Beg a  Sayed nar;eC Shah 



a l i  c a n s  o? a i ; i ls l- irna&e ~ X ' O I ~ I  3auiiks.lbri t o  v i s i t  tile 

0rnb o r  92ba 7'3rl-i, ~ r ! ! ;  I,.r.orn t n e r e  t 3  t:is$ o!' Sillih Talim . 
u t  t':ie l a t t e r  :!ioul;i n o t  l e t  hi:n yroceeii  ( ? )  snc; so  he 

3-19 t3 Fil.inza ?!i t-1 a nur[~.bei- oi' ael-iri s h e s  t r a v e l l i n g  o v e r  

he  ~ n o ~ l n  t a i  n t o p s  . 
He s h y e x  i n  Yunm f o r  so:,le tiine, :vhere he 

t s r t e i  a spr ixf i ;  i n  t h e  h i l l s i l l s  b;; ; ; i e r c i n s  i t  ;vi t n  rlis 

? e a r ,  b u t  !le Secarne angry  w i t . 1  t;le ~ J e o g l e  anu vreylt t o  

a;??- .!r'nere h e  ~i ed and -vzs b u r i  ec: i n  ';'i?ol. 3u rS ing  o n e  

3 r l i  n i  :;n t, tile n e ~ ; ~ l .  e of '  3n:;lmi t s t o l  ,3 !ii. s bocy f r o g  

t z  s : l r i ne  :tnd ;:.=rri es i t  3c) t - ~ o i r  v l l .1 .~ :  ;e. do:vol~ei' ,  .lis 

3tnb sti.11 e x i s 3 s  ;it i ' im1  ~ I I L  : 1 ~  s t i l l  c u e -  ;'or by t n e  

esce!lueilts o i '  t:le u e i - v i s ~ i e s  WLAO o r i s i l l a l l  j vc.;o:!iAo~nieu 

..it one  ti:ne S:laki Kac~al,  a :;ir o f  i i a g i r ,  had 

een d e ~ o s ? a  by a meaSer 01' t h e  c l a n  o f  Dengmalik anG 

5:: f l e c  ove r  tht? Fiispar Pass t o  S21iga whel'e he  p e t i t i o n e d  

Sairl t narl ec %ah 13d-i y n  +a ;?el;', ' i l irn t o  r e g a i n  h i s  

inzAon. 

':'he S a i n t  t o l d  n i r l  t o  : 'aturn to  rlis countrUy 

la s a i d  t h a t  he  rvou1.a he1 i, 'ni-n . 
TIe s e t  o u t ,  a c c o r i i n l ; l y ,  - ~ i  t i 1  two l '3lloivers 

it; .van  sq de-r~resse . :  57  t h e  h o s t i l e  ~ - e c e ~ ) t i o n  t 'nat was 







given to  him by t h e  ~ e o p l e  a t  Hopar t n a t  he  continued 

in to  ~ a g i r  w i  t h  one  lame man on ly .  He a r r i v e d  a t  the  
c a p i t a l  J u s t  a f t e r  n i g h t f a l l  and found t h e  gate-keeper  

o f  t'ne f o r t  a s l e e p  and t h e  g a t e  o?en. He xas  thus  a b l e  

to e n t e r  the f o r t  Ungdrceivec anu s l a y  t h e  usurger  aria 

so r e g a i n e a  his kingdom. 

A Year a f t e r  trlis Silall B a r i y a  c u e  over- ti.le ,JJSS 

i n  t h e  de i j th  o f  win+,er to day 1u'agir a  v i s i t .  ~t was 

b i t t e r l y  cold on tile g l a c i e r  arlG one of  his uervisrles 

asked him to kincile a f i r e  t h a t  tney m i & t  v a n  tnernselvss. 

'L'his he  m i r a c u l o u s l y  a i d .  1 l i t t l e  l a t e r  one of  tnea 

f e l l  I n t o  a c r e v a s s e  ancl d i s a2pea red .  

'l'he S a i n t  threw h i s  s t a f f  a f t e r  t h e  man who was 

found f i t  and wel l  when ti12 > a r t y  cave  to t he  snout  o f  

t h e  g l a c i e r .  

Here a l s o  tney I'ounu a srnootil s l a b e  of' s tone  t h a t  

%he Saint ,  t b u g h t  vnuld  :flake a good p a y e r  s t one .  I t  was 

a c c o r a i n s l  y c a r i  ed -mi t h  $he p a r t y  and i s  s t i l l  $reserved 

a t  Gilarr~ali n g  i 11 ',Ta;iia. 

Shah Kamal, r e  i ,  sliosveL tna  S a i n t  evc.rajr 

C 0 u r t i . s j r .  YLle sairltr i l l  r'etuimrl, /=~uss;i oile of' r d . 5  u t ! r ~ i  s l l ?S  

to c l imb g a  a >ear. t r e e  - t;loug[l i t  was i l l  tiio u e d t ~ i  01' 

-~,j- zlter - dllL s:-,ake i t ,  wriereugon r i l le  itea1.s f e l l  t o  t:le 

grouncL wllicn were sal t  to Sub Kanal. 'rie was so ~ u c n  

i m ~ r e s s e d  tr iat  he  asks& t i le Sa11lt to tuc id t l  hlf-1 llow to 

9erf'orrn t n i s  m i r a c l e  b u t  ne r e f u s e & -  C;:1 t ~ i s  d re s s ing  A 



h i s  r e q u e s t  Shah B a r i y a  s p a t  i n t o  h i s  hand and a  f r o g  

aggeared.  Thi s the  1:ir wrapyed i n  hi  s handkerchl  e f  anC 

r e t u r n e d  horne. Hefore  e n t e r i n g  h i s  house he threw the  

f r o g  away and gave t h e  handkerch ie f  t o  h i s  d a u g h t e r  who, 

hav ing  wiped h e r  f a c e  wi t h  i t ,  was a b l e  t o  see  e v e r y t h i n g  

where e v e r  i t  was h ieden .  

E v e n t u a l l y  t h e  S a i n t  t r a v e l l e d  on to G i lg i  t 

where t h e  l i a ja  s e n t  a  dead c a t  t o  meet him. Shah B a r i y a  

l a i c  h i s  hands on the  c a t  which g o t  up and f a n  away 

c a u s i n g  t h e  l i a j a  of  Gi lgi  t t o  f e e l  much embarrasment. 

He begged t h e  S a i n t  to f o r g l v e  him which e v e n t u a l l y  he 

d i d .  

F i n a l l y  Shah B a r i y a  went t o  Chi t r a l  and asked 

t h e  Haja  o f  G i l g i  t t o  accompany him t h i  t h e r  t h a t  he  

mi g h t  ten2 to h i  s tomb f o r  a  y e a r ,  b u t  t h e  HaJa was l o a t h  

t o  g ive  up h j s  t h rone  and r e f u s e d  and t h e  S a i n t  l e f t  f o r  

Chi t r a l  accompanied by one S a n g a l l ,  Thi s man was v e r y  

f a i  t h f u l  and tended the tomb f o r  many yea r s .  A s  a  r e s u l t  

of t h i  s f a1 t h f u l n e s s  the  Ueh t a r  o f  Chl t r a l  gave him a  

house and mace much of him and appoin ted  h l m  h i s  succes so r  

when he  d i e d  c h i l d l e s s .  

From him a r e  descended a l l  t h e  Mehtars of 

Chi t r a l  and t h e r e  i s  to t h i s  day a  p rove rb  i n  Hunza, 

Nag1 r and Chi t r a l  t h a t  "Sangall  a n s  become kl  ngs. " 

m e n  the  Shingani  s inhab i  ted Shimshal t he  X i  ng 



of Darwaz r u l e d  o v e r  them. A S a i n t  Shamsuddln Tabrlz 

v l s l  t ed  t h e  c o u n t r y  and dl  sappeared I n t o  tihe h i l l s .  No 

one knows where he was b u r i e d  and no one can f i n d  o u t  a s  

anyone who s t a r t s  o f f  t o  d o  so  d  1 e s  b e f o r e  he can d j  scover 

1 t*  

* * Y * 

I n  o lden  t imes  t h e  people  were much troubled 

by g h o s t s  who used t o  appear I n  the  vi l l a g e s  wi t h  the1 r 

f e e t  t u rned  b a c k  and one eye i n  the n l d d l e  of t h e l r  

f o r ehe  ads.  

I n  the  t ime  of gyesho tPe SeconC, t h e r e  was a  

par ti c u l a r l y  troublesome one ,  named Di ng La t a s  from 

Shanokoshal  who mould consume one o u t  o f  every two persons 

l e f t  o u t  of t h e  f o r t  a t  n i g h t .  I t  was i n  t h e  days when 

Shugookor and h i s  nephew were sti  11 l i v i n g .  They were 

w e l l  ve r sed  i n  the  b l a c k  a r t  and succeeded In  d r i v i n g  

t h e  ghos t  up i n t o  a n a p r i c o t  t r e e .  Then they forced jt 

t o  descend from t h e r e  i  t turned i n t o  a  donkey and r a s e d  

t o  move u n t i l  i t was slung on to  tt? e  backs  of two men 

c a l l e d  c;halwa&ngo a d  dargosh  wko c a r r l e d  i t  as f a r  a s  

a  b i g  rock .  Here i t  changed i n t o  a mouse and hld under 

t he  r o c k  where i t  was secured by the Soothsayers  who drove 

and i r o n  peg  i n t o  the  ground and s a i d  t h a t  i  t ~ u l d  remain 

there, u n t i l  t h e i r  bones had become dus t .  



Once a long  t ime ago Bagar than appeared t o  

t h e  p e o p l e  who were c e l e b r a t i n g  the  s p r l n g  f e s t i v a l ,  

r i d i n g  upon a  t i g e r .  He was wearing oopper socks  on 

h i s  f e e t  and t h e s e  t h e  peop le  h id .  He was unable  t o  

f i nd  them f o r  some t ime,  b u t  e v e n t u a l l y  d i d  so and was 

n o t  s e e n  aga in .  

A g i a n t  who was f o r t y  f e e t  t a l l  used t o  l i v e  

a t  Hahayul n e a r  Khaiber where hi  s s t o r e h o u s e  was In a 

cave on t h e  top of a  h i l l .  He was kl l l e d  b y  Hafi Zho 

from n a l t i s t a n .  The cave s t i l l  e x i s t s .  

Or1 gi n a l l y  G i l g i  t was c a l l e d  Dodeval, Hunza 

Hahayul and Yarkand Horyole. When t h e  r u l e r s  of  Shi gnam 

came to  Hunza they  named t h e  v a l l e y  KanJud whi ch name 

remained. u n t i  1 t h e  time o f  Girki  s when h e  c a l l e d  t h e  

coun t ry  Hunza because a l l  t h e  yeop le  were u n i t e d  l i k e  

arrows I n  a  q u i v e r ,  'Hunza' means arrow In  t h e  

burushusk1 language.  

* * 



B e  Kasger Disturbance and the  annual t r i bu t e .  .............................................. 
According t o  the  ancient  custom the  annual t r i bu t e  t o  the Chinese 
GovernaenU which was s e n t  every year t o  Kashger was nitheld 
owing t o  the  outbreak of r e n l a t i o n  i n  Turkistan. This year by the 
command of the  P o l i t i c a l  Agent Sahib i n  Gi lg i t  ,and Br i t i sh  Consul 
General a t  Kashger the  annual t r i b u t e  was sent  t o  the new Chine- 
Governor a t  Kashger. According t o  the  old custom a l l  presents 
were s en t  i n  re turn.  

During Disturbance the  B r i t i s h  Consulate. .......................................... 
n During revolut ion the  B r i t i s h  Consulate was attacked . The Tunga 

broke the  shor gate  and entered the  premiesies of the  Consulate 
a t  t h a t  time the  Hunza peons ( scouts)  did t h e i r  bes t  t o  f i gh t  
and t u r n  the  tungans out. The courage and loyal ty  of these Scouts 
has not  only been recognized but has a l s o  been praised by the 
Consul General and the  P o l i t i c a l  Agent Sahib Gi lgi t .  
During the  c lash  one peon and two other servents werr k i l l ed .  
The wife og the  Consul General was ser iously  injured and a f e ~  
other including the  Surgeon received minor i n ju r i e s  but a f t e r  
some time the  surgeon developed pheumonia and died.During t h i s  
period when the  lam was i n  the  hands of the revoluationries and 
even the  foreign subjects  were not being spared Liet. ,  Colonel 
Thomson Glover the  then Br i t i sh  Consul General protected the 
Consulate and a l l  His Majes ty ,~  Subjects by h i s  bravery and 
wisdom. A l l  along the  Colonel was helped by h i s  wife who insp i te  
of se r ious  i n j u r i e s  worked shoulder t o  shoulder with her husband. 

Disturbsnce on our c a t t l e .  -------------------------- 
Our c a t t l e  and sheep a re  sent  f o r  grazing t o  the Pamirs i n  s a r ik  
-ol.The annual revenuecould not be received. No interference was 
caused withn our c a t t l e  except i n  one case when a few Sarekolies 
who were l i v i n g  a s  refuges i n  the  Russian Pamirs pluendered &o 
few of our sheep. On our repor t  t o  Chinese Government by k%Wxb% 
Pol ik ica l  Agent and Consul General the  Chinese au thor i t i es  
have promised t o  r e tu rn  a l l  t h a t  was plundered by the refugees. 
Throughout the  disturbance the  revoluationaries did not in ter-  
f e r e  with our Yarkand' Jagir .  



a t h  of Raja Abdur Rehaman of Yasen. ----------------------------------- 
1933 Khan Bahador Abdur Rehman Khan of Yasen a f a s t  f r i end  

d near r e l a t i v e  of ours went on a t r i p  To Kashmir. In  h i s  
sence h i s  e lde r  son f e l l  ill and died.This s e c r e t  was kept 
n fedent ia l .  On h i s  r e t u r n  the  ma Se.hib died suddenly i n  
a r t  f a i l i e r  on the  r ece ip t  of the  sad news. 

h i s  place Khan Sahib RaJa MIr BEZ Khan of Ishkoman was 
pointed Governor of Yasin ,and the  vacency caused by him 
n Ishkoman was given t o  Raja Husain A l l  Khan S/O K .S.RaJa 
rad Khan Of G i l g i t  the  l a t e  Governor of Ghizar. 

r r i a g e  with the  ru l ing  fami l ies  of Nager. ......................................... 
rice the  re ighn of MIr Safdar A l l  Khan a peried of F i f t y  years 

marriage was contracted between the  ru l ing  fami l ies  of Hunza 
d Nager But i n  1934 i n  Ju ly  the  old r e l a t i o n  were renewned 

the  marriage of h i n c e  MOhammad Jamal Khan with a daughter 
Mir of Nager-_and a daughter of Mir of-- Hunza t o  the 

n of Mir of Noger .named Muzafar Ud Din Shah, and daught-er of 
bd , QJor Mohd. GQazan Khan t o  Babar Khan another som of M I R  

Nager . 
e b i r t h  of a son. ----------------- 

t he  year of 1934 the  Almighty GGd blessed me with a son who 
s been named sahhb Khan. 

undry of Partab Sing poora and Jag lo t .  ....................................... 
tween Partab Sing Poora and Jag lo t  the  old boundry l i n e  was 
urkh ~ a r i ) .  On repeesentat ion of J a g l o t i e s  regarding the  
v i s ion  of boundrieg the  t ahs i lda r  Mehta Dun1 Chand v i s i t e d  
e spot  and confirmed the  old boundry l i n e  . but  the  dharop 
ng the  Vdazir of G i l g i t  was bribed by the  J a g l o t i e s  ,he 
erefore  cancled the  d iv i s ion  of the  Tahsildar and f ind anothe 
boundry. WL a r e  Thank f u l  t o  the  present Wazir Ram Ratta n M.A. 

o v i s i t e d  the  spot  and confirmed the  old boundry (surkh par i )  

e i r  M a j e s t y , ~  S i lve r  Jubi lee .  ............................. 
1s Year I-e-1935 .on May 6th  t h e i r  Ma jes ty ,~  S i lve r  Jublee was 
lebra ted  a t  G i l i t . I t  was at tended by a l l  the  ru l ing  Chiefs of 
e Agency f r o n t i e r  . One Jublee Medal was awsrded t o  me 
well .  



Death of our late Beloving King. ............................... 
m e  day of the Tuesday 2l$k.~anuar~ 1936 was a very sad day 
to hear that o w  most beloved King George The Fifth was died to 
day. 

Transfer of Gilgit to British 6 Government. ____---.------------------------------------- 
This year i-em 1935. the cevil and milatry admenlstratlon of the 
Gilgit territory to the norh of the Indus river has been entr- 
-usted to the British Government.The Kashmir forces and all Civel 
Officers being called back. The Military has been replaced by 
th Gilgit Corps of ScouCs.Ma,jor G. Kirk Bride has taken over 
the charge of civel and militery. 

Appointment of new Wazir. .------------------------ 
This year i-e 1936 , my old Wazir Shokorollah Beg was unable to 
his services by his illness so we dissmissed him and given 
his vacency to the Zar Parast the new Wazir. 

Mohd. Jamal 
Karirnabad.27/4/36- 
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